UNIVERSITY of York

This is a repository copy of *Literature Review Report: Services to Support Carers of People with Mental Health Problems*.

White Rose Research Online URL for this paper: <u>https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/73297/</u>

Version: Published Version

Monograph:

Arksey, H, O'Malley, L orcid.org/0000-0002-5340-4549, Baldwin, S et al. (3 more authors) (2002) Literature Review Report: Services to Support Carers of People with Mental Health Problems. Research Report. London: National Co-ordinating Centre for NHS Service Delivery and Organisation , London.

Reuse

Items deposited in White Rose Research Online are protected by copyright, with all rights reserved unless indicated otherwise. They may be downloaded and/or printed for private study, or other acts as permitted by national copyright laws. The publisher or other rights holders may allow further reproduction and re-use of the full text version. This is indicated by the licence information on the White Rose Research Online record for the item.

Takedown

If you consider content in White Rose Research Online to be in breach of UK law, please notify us by emailing eprints@whiterose.ac.uk including the URL of the record and the reason for the withdrawal request.



eprints@whiterose.ac.uk https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/

Literature Review Report for the National Co-ordinating Centre for NHS Service Delivery and Organisation R & D (NCCSDO)

Summer 2002

prepared by

Hilary Arksey, Lisa O'Malley, Sally Baldwin and Jennifer Harris Social Policy Research Unit, University of York

Anne Mason Centre for Health Economics, University of York

Searches:

Su Golder

NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination, University of York

Address for correspondence:

Dr Hilary Arksey, Research Fellow Social Policy Research Unit University of York Heslington York YO10 5DD

Email: ha4@york.ac.uk Telephone: 01904 432626 Fax: 01904 433618

Contents

Acknowledgements	6
Executive Summary	
Background	7
Objectives	7
Methods	7
Data sources	7
Study selection	8
Data extraction and synthesis	8
Results	9
Mapping the results	9
Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness	10
Gaps in the research	11
Recommendations for research	12

The Report

Sectior	n 1 Introduction	13
1.1	Mental health and caring in the UK	13
1.2	Policy context	13
1.3	Background to the scoping study	15
Section	n 2 Methods	18
2.1	Introduction	18
2.2	Identifying relevant studies	18
2.3	Inclusion and exclusion criteria	22
2.4	Results of the literature search	23
2.5	Data extraction/classifying relevant studies	25
Sectior	n 3 Scoping the field: initial mapping	26
of in	Geographical distribution of studies of evaluation terventions for carers of people with mental th problems	s 26
	Care recipient group	27
	Geographical distribution of studies of evaluations rding to care recipient group	: 28
3.4	Categorising the interventions and services	29
3.5	Evaluation studies of interventions set in the UK	30
inter	Type of research methods used to evaluate ventions for carers of people with mental th problems	31
3.7	Measures of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness	32
3.8	Summary of characteristics of available research	32

Section 4 Review of interventions and services	
for carers	34
4.1 Breaks from caring $(N = 36)$	36
4.2 Educational interventions (N = 73)	43
4.3 Family interventions (N = 20)	50
4.4 Mutual support and social activity groups ($N = 18$	3)53
4.5 Counselling $(N = 9)$	57
4.6 Telephone and computer-based services ($N = 16$,) 57
4.7 Domiciliary care services (N = 4)	60
4.8 Physical environment (N = 3)	61
4.9 Supporting carers through memory clinics (N = 2)	62
4.10 Multidimensional approaches to caring interventions (N = 15)	64
4.11 Miscellaneous (N = 8)	66
Section 5 Economic aspects of interventions to support carers	ort 69
5.1 Inclusion criteria for economic evaluations	69
5.2 Studies with an economic component ($N = 13$)	69
Section 6 Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness – issues for future research commissioning	75
6.1 The concept of effectiveness	75
6.2 The concept of cost-effectiveness	80
6.3 Conclusion	87
Section 7 Discussion of the review results	88
7.1 Mapping the results	88
7.2 Methodological issues and ideas for improvement	89
7.3 Evidence on effectiveness of interventions	<i>92</i>
7.4 Key messages and recommendations	<i>92</i>
Bibliography	94

Appendix 1

Distribution of references by electronic bibliographic source	112
Appendix 2	
Search strategy for literature review	113
Appendix 3	
References not retrieved	115
Appendix 4	
Summary tables of studies included in the review	122
Appendix 5	
Interventions to support carers of patients with mental health problems: summary of findings from the economic literature	176

Acknowledgements

The research was funded by the NHS Service Delivery & Organisation (SDO) Research and Development Programme (Project reference SDO/15/2001).

We would like to thank members of the Reference Group for their contribution to the study.

Colleagues have provided helpful advice and support in the course of the work, in particular Karen Croucher, Deborah Quilgars, Alison Wallace and Julie Williams. We are grateful to librarians in the JB Morrel Library at the University of York and also at the York District Hospital Library for all their assistance. Sally Pulleyn provided valuable secretarial support throughout the study.

Executive Summary

Background

Mental ill health is very common in the UK; at any one time, around one in six people of working age suffer from one or other form of mental illness. As far as older people are concerned, around 10–15 per cent of the population (65 and over) will have depression, and around 600,000 will have dementia. Family and friends support up to half of those with severe mental illness. Up to 1,500,000 people may be involved in caring for a relative or friend with a mental illness or some form of dementia. The needs of those caring for people with mental illness or dementia are high, and recent government policy has recognised the key role that carers play. For example, the National Service Frameworks for Mental Health and Older People put a high priority on meeting the practical, health and emotional needs of this particular group of carers.

Objectives

The aim of this report is to provide a scoping review of evaluation studies of interventions and services to support carers of people with mental health problems, to discuss issues relating to the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of interventions, and to provide insights into areas where there are gaps in knowledge. The report is accompanied by a second report, the *Consultation Report*, that documents a consultation exercise held with key stakeholders, including 'key informant' carers. A third report, the *Overview Report*, draws together the emerging themes and issues, and advises on what further research and development work should be funded in this area.

Methods

Data sources

Searches were made of electronic databases, including: AMED, ASSI, BNI, Cinahl, Cochrane Library, EMBASE, HMIC (King's Fund Database, HELMIS, Dhdata), Medline, SIGLE, Social Science Citation Index, Sociological Abstracts.

Internet resources used included: Caredata, Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effectiveness (DARE), Health Technology Assessment Database (HTA), the NHS Economic Evaluations Database (NHS EED).

All sources were searched for studies published between 1985 and 2001. Other search strategies included hand searching, searching websites of key organisations (for example, the Department of Health, National Schizophrenia Fellowship, Alzheimer's Society, Carers UK, The Princess Royal Trust for Carers), and contacting librarians of organisations such as the Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health and the Mental Health Foundation. Bibliographies of studies were checked to ensure referenced studies were included.

Study selection

Research reports were selected if they were empirical studies that addressed the research question: What is known from the existing literature about the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of services to support carers of people with mental health problems?

Specific inclusion criteria were:

- *intervention type:* any intervention directed towards carers of people with mental health problems, including dementia
- *care recipient group:* any care recipient group comprising individuals 18 years of age and over with any mental health problem
- *carer group:* carers of any age. Carers of people with mental health problems
- *study aims:* studies that have evaluated the effectiveness or costeffectiveness of services to support carers of people with mental health problems.

Studies that were not empirical and not in English were excluded; so, too, were book reviews, commentaries and PhD theses.

Two reviewers identified studies by screening study titles and abstracts, and then by examining the full text of selected studies to decide inclusion. The initial search generated 3867 references; 204 of these were included in the scoping review, 13 of which included an economic evaluation.

Data extraction and synthesis

If reported, the following data were extracted from each paper:

- intervention type and comparator (if any)
- study sample
- care recipient group
- aims of study
- research methods
- duration of the intervention
- outcomes
- country where the study was set.

Further data extracted only from the economic evaluations included:

- types of costs included
- whether cost data were collected retrospectively or prospectively
- currency used to report findings
- measures of benefits reported
- whether there was a synthesis of costs and benefits.

A narrative synthesis of the data was conducted which included descriptive characteristics, as well as more substantive issues such as effectiveness and cost-effectiveness. Gaps in the research were also identified.

Results

Mapping the results

Geographical distribution

The majority of studies were carried out in the USA (55 per cent). Some 22 per cent of reports derived from the UK. Canada and Australia each accounted for 7 per cent of the studies. Studies from the rest of Europe and the rest of the world accounted for the remainder.

Care recipient group

The majority of interventions were aimed at carers of people with Alzheimer's disease (AD) or other dementia (70 per cent). The rest were split evenly between carers of people with schizophrenia (15 per cent) and carers of people with other serious mental illness (15 per cent). Most of the studies focusing on carers of people with AD or dementia were carried out in the USA (44 per cent).

Type of intervention

The 204 studies included in the review were diverse and complex. The classification scheme developed consisted of 11 different groups of interventions relevant to current policy and the aims of the study:

- 1 educational interventions of different types (36 per cent)
- 2 breaks from caring (18 per cent)
- 3 family interventions (10 per cent)
- 4 mutual support and social activity groups (9 per cent)
- 5 telephone and computer-based services (8 per cent)
- 6 multidimensional approaches to caring interventions (7 per cent)
- 7 counselling (4 per cent)
- 8 domiciliary care services (2 per cent)
- 9 physical environment (1 per cent)

- 10 supporting carers through memory clinics (1 per cent)
- 11 miscellaneous (4 per cent).

UK studies

Of the 44 studies set in the UK, 18 targeted AD/dementia patients, 14 targeted people with schizophrenia, and the remaining 12 were for carers of people with other serious mental illness. No study focusing on acute or chronic depression, eating disorders, anxiety or substance abuse was identified, although some people with depression or anxiety were among the participants in a small number of studies. The majority of studies described interventions aimed at the family (13). Educational interventions and breaks from caring accounted for 11 and 8 studies respectively.

Research methods

Some 80 per cent of studies adopted quantitative methods. Of these, randomised controlled trials (RCTs) accounted for 33 per cent of studies, nonrandomised controlled trials for 20 per cent, before-and-after studies (uncontrolled) for 31 per cent, and post-intervention measures for 16 per cent. The remaining 20 per cent of studies used mainly mixed methods or qualitative methods. Most studies were experimental or quasi-experimental. Just over onequarter of studies included follow-up at three months or over; longer-term follow-up was rare.

Measures of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness

Seventy per cent of all the studies included in the review used standard outcome measures as a way to assess the effectiveness of interventions. Carer burden, stress, coping, physical health, emotional well-being, depression and knowledge levels were commonly measured. Alternative or additional ways to assess the effectiveness of interventions included programme evaluation surveys, satisfaction surveys, service utilisation rates, relapse rates and admissions to institutional care or hospital. Most of the studies with an economic component include health care costs and social services costs. Only one study valued carer time, while two assessed changes in carer earnings.

Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness

The analysis of studies of interventions for carers of people with mental health problems found the following in relation to effectiveness and cost-effectiveness.

• Overall, there was a lack of clear evidence to support any specific interventions for carers for people with mental health problems, although almost all studies were able to identify some positive outcomes of services provided.

- The analysis highlighted recurrent methodological weaknesses in the studies under review: small sample sizes, problems with attrition, problems relating to the use of control groups, and inadequate follow-up.
- Studies generally reported modest effects on carer burden and quality of life, with some evidence that the provision of publicly funded services led to a proportionate decrease in privately funded services.
- Some studies provided tentative evidence that offering carers respite breaks may actually increase the rate of patient institutionalisation. However, further research is required to verify this finding.
- There was some evidence that assertive outreach for patients with severe mental illness is at least as effective as standard inpatient care, and that this could also be cost-effective.
- Cost savings were reported for a range of interventions, resulting from decreased use of hospital-based care. However, there were methodological weaknesses in all studies with this conclusion.
- The provision of educational materials for carers improves carer knowledge, but may not reduce carer burden. Training interventions take many forms and positive effects are reported for certain types of training. Evidence regarding the effectiveness of psychoeducational approaches for carers is diverse and contradictory.
- Overall, there was a lack of clear evidence to support any specific interventions for carers for people with mental health problems, although almost all studies were able to identify some positive outcomes of services provided.

Gaps in the research

The analysis identified the following key gaps in the literature:

- studies examining the effectiveness of interventions in relation to different sub-groups of carers, including: children and young adult carers; black and ethnic minority carers; spouse carers; male carers and female carers; working and non-working carers; carers of different patient groups
- studies evaluating interventions for carers of patients with acute or chronic severe depression; severe eating, anxiety or sleep disorders; substance abuse
- research into the effectiveness of interventions promoted in current policy, in particular: carer assessment; care plans; comprehensive packages of care; breaks from caring; family support; the use of telephone help-lines and computer-based interventions
- studies to determine which, and what combination of, elements in a multidimensional package are effective and cost-effective and for whom
- research looking at the relationship between the different stages of an illness and specific interventions
- studies measuring key process outcome measures, relating to the structure, delivery and organisation of services

- research examining the effectiveness and transferability of interventions currently targeted at only one specific patient group
- · research designs that use qualitative and mixed or multiple methods
- studies assessing the effectiveness of interventions other than through the use of standard outcome measures
- studies powered to detect statistically significant differences in both effectiveness and cost-effectiveness measures
- longitudinal studies, to examine effectiveness and cost-effectiveness in the short and longer term
- innovative approaches to developing, implementing and assessing interventions which draw on carers' own particular expertise.

Recommendations for research

Future research should take into account the points just made. Recommendations for future research and development are provided in the accompanying *Overview Report*, which draws together issues arising from both the literature review and the consultation exercise.

The Report

Section 1 Introduction

1.1 Mental health and caring in the UK

Mental ill health is very common; at any one time, around one in six people of working age suffer from one or other form of mental illness, most often anxiety or depression (Department of Health (DoH), 1999a). Furthermore, one person in 250 will have a psychotic illness such as schizophrenia or bipolar affective disorder (manic depression) (DoH, 1999a). As far as older people are concerned, around 10–15 per cent of the population aged 65 and over will have depression, and approximately 600,000 people have dementia (DoH, 2001). This latter figure represents 5 per cent of the total population aged 65 and above, and increases to 20 per cent of the population aged 80 and over. Trends suggest a sharp growth in the ageing population, especially in the 'old elderly' category (those aged 75 and above). The proportion of that group who are also dependent is likewise growing (Phillips, 1994). It is estimated that by 2026 some 840,000 people in the UK will suffer from dementia, rising to 1.2 million by 2050 (DoH, 2001).

New estimates suggest there are around 6.8 million adult carers in 5 million households in Britain who care for and support disabled or sick relatives, or elderly people (Office of National Statistics (ONS), 2002). Up to 1.5 million people may be involved in caring for a relative or friend with a mental illness or some form of dementia (figures based on ONS, 2002). About half of those who have severe mental illness live with, and are supported by, family and friends (DoH, 1999a). Unless the amount of care provided by statutory services increases dramatically, there is likely to be greater pressure for support to be provided by (informal) carers in the future. However, participation in the labour market is expanding among middle- age women, the group that has traditionally been the main source of such care (DoH, 1999b). This trend has the potential to reduce the supply of carers, at the same time as demand is increasing.

1.2 Policy context

Recently, there have been a number of important policy initiatives aimed at carers. The Carers (Recognition and Services) Act (1995) and the Carers and Disabled Children Act (2000) respectively established, and then strengthened, carers' rights to an assessment of their own ability to provide care where they provide (or intend to provide) substantial care on a regular basis. Both pieces of legislation covered children and young people undertaking significant caring activities. The needs of young carers identified under the legislation can be

met under local authorities' duties under Section 17 of the Children Act (1989), where they can be treated as 'children in need' and expect support and assistance via the Children Act in the event that resources are not forthcoming under other legislation (Becker *et al.*, 1998).

The national strategy for carers, *Caring about Carers* (DoH, 1999b), is further recognition of the key role carers play in supporting individuals in the community. The national strategy comprises three strategic elements: information, support and care. The Carers Special Grant was established to support the implementation of the strategy. Ring-fenced funding of £140 million was made available to local authorities to help them develop a wider range of services to give carers a break from their caring responsibilities. Many carers face problems in terms of their own physical and mental health. The national strategy (DoH, 1999b: 58) refers to an American study that showed that 80 per cent of carers of people with dementia were themselves suffering from chronic fatigue, depression or other psychological problems. Enabling carers to have time to themselves is seen as essential in reducing the psychological and emotional stress that many face.

The government has recently introduced the National Service Framework (NSF) for Mental Health (DoH, 1999a). The NSF covers the mental health needs of working-age adults up to 65, and specifically addresses unacceptable variations in services across England. The framework sets out seven 'standards' in five main areas which local health and social care communities have to agree to. Standard 6, 'Caring about Carers', focuses on carers – including young carers – of people who are mentally ill. The NSF emphasises that the needs of those caring for people with severe mental illness or dementia are especially high, and that there is evidence to suggest that carers are not receiving the services they need to support them in their caring role. The NSF states that all individuals who provide regular and substantial care for a person on Care Programme Approach (CPA) should:

- have an assessment of their caring, physical and mental health needs, repeated on at least an annual basis
- have their own written care plan that is given to them and implemented in discussion with them.

More recently, the government has published the NSF for Older People (DoH, 2001), which covers the needs of older people with mental health problems. This NSF also places a high priority on support for carers of older people with mental health problems, stating that carers' needs should be considered an integral part of the way in which services are provided for older people. Standard 7 is specifically concerned with services for older people with dementia and depression, as well as those older people who have severe mental illness due to a psychotic illness. The service model set out in Standard 7 states that a comprehensive mental service for older people will involve five different components, one of which is 'support for carers' (DoH, 2001: 103).

Some common themes relating to carers' needs in terms of physical and mental health and practical help emerge in the national strategy for carers (DoH, 1999b) and the two NSFs (DoH, 1999a; 2001). As well as stressing the need

and requirement to undertake carer assessments, specific support services are emphasised:

- the provision of accessible and relevant information on available services, the specific disease and appropriate health care and treatments
- education and training programmes
- access to support groups
- short-term breaks
- interventions targeted at the whole family, such as family therapy and family counselling.

Local and national telephone help-lines, for example NHS Direct and the more specialist ones like SANEline, CALM and the Alzheimer's Helpline are promoted as valuable. Underlying principles and hallmarks of good services include characteristics such as comprehensive, multidisciplinary, well co-ordinated, accessible, responsive and individualised.

1.3 Background to the scoping study

The establishment of the National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) and the introduction of clinical governance highlight the importance attached by government to the implementation of research-based evidence at both national and local levels (DoH, 1997: 57). A strong knowledge base is essential to help inform decision making by policy-makers, managers, practitioners, and users of health care. To help develop the knowledge base, there is a need to identify what further research and development work should be commissioned on services aimed specifically at carers for people with mental health problems. Evidence is also required to support the

implementation of Standard 6 and Standard 7 in the NSFs for Mental Health and Older People respectively.¹ The NHS Service and Delivery Organisation (SDO) R & D Programme commissioned the Social Policy Research Unit at the University of York to undertake a scoping review on the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of services to support carers for people with mental health problems. Our remit included services to support carers for adults of working age with serious mental health problems and carers for older people with mental health problems. Given that children and young people are known to care for people with mental health problems (Young Carers Research Group (YCRG), 2001), it was also necessary to collect evidence concerning services specifically targeted at this group.

The overall aim of the scoping exercise was to advise the SDO programme as to what further research and development work should be funded in this area. Our recommendations are based on evidence collected from a review of published and unpublished studies, and a consultation exercise involving national mental health, older people's and carers' organisations, as well as local bodies engaged in delivering the two NSFs.

The present report contains the findings of the literature review. The consultation exercise is reported in full in the accompanying *Consultation Report*. A third report, the *Overview Report*, draws together the key themes and issues relating to research into the effectiveness of interventions and services for carers of people with mental health problems that have emerged in the two complementary strands of work. This material is used to inform the recommendations made for future research and development work.

The present report reviews a wide range of studies evaluating interventions and services for carers of people with mental health problems, discusses issues relating to the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of interventions, and provides insight into areas where there are gaps in knowledge. We make links from the evidence from the review, current policy in this area and recommendations for future research. The report is organised as follows. The next section, Section 2, describes the methodology for the review and the search strategy. Section 3 maps the extent, nature and distribution of the studies included in the review and leads into the more detailed analysis in Section 4. The economic aspects of the interventions to support carers are discussed in Section 5. This leads, in Section 6, to a short discussion of conceptual and commissioning issues relating to notions of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness. Section 7 discusses the findings, the gaps in research and areas where there is a need for more research.

¹ The NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination at the University of York recently published a report documenting a scoping review of the evidence on the effectiveness of mental health care services (Jepson *et al.*, 2001). They found just four systematic reviews relevant to Standard 6 of the NSF for Mental Health. One of these focused on family interventions, two on respite care and the fourth looked at a diversity of interventions. The authors found no systematic reviews had been undertaken in relation to the provision and implementation of care plans.

Note on terminology

Similar terminology has been used throughout all three reports documenting the study. The term 'carer' has been used rather than 'informal carer' or 'care-giver'. Likewise, the terms 'care recipient', 'person supported', 'person with a mental health problem', 'service user' or 'patient' have been used to refer to the person being cared for.

Section 2 Methods

2.1 Introduction

This section sets out how we scoped the literature in the area under examination. The methods used were designed to identify empirical studies that addressed the central research question: 'What is known from the existing literature about the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of services to support carers of people with mental health problems?'

There is no definitive way to undertake a scoping study, and the methods used drew on established literature review procedures. However, a major component of a scoping study is to 'map' or identify the literature that currently exists in the field of interest (Mays *et al.*, 2001), rather than address the issue of quality of individual studies. Thus the review did not seek the 'best evidence' (Slavin, 1995), but instead sought to map the whole literature and report on those studies most relevant to the above research question as a means to identify gaps.

The following discussion describes the first three stages of the review:

- · identifying relevant studies
- · developing inclusion and exclusion criteria
- the process of data extraction.

2.2 Identifying relevant studies

The literature review aimed to be comprehensive in identifying all studies relevant to the effectiveness of services to support carers of people with mental health problems. Consequently we aimed to locate a wide variety of research dealing with the issue of effectiveness in terms of study design, mental health focus, intervention site, and intervention type. To achieve this, a fivefold search strategy was adopted as follows.

- Develop search strategy for electronic databases.
- Identify key journals for hand searching.
- Undertake Internet searches of key sites.
- Identify key organisations for unpublished material.
- Drawing on expertise through the consultation exercise.

The identification of relevant literature was limited by two criteria from the outset. Only studies published between January 1985 and October 2001 were included. Studies not written in English were excluded.

All citations were downloaded or entered by hand into an Endnote² database and scanned for relevance according to pre-defined inclusion and exclusion criteria (see below).

2.2.1 Search strategy for electronic databases

Electronic databases generated the majority of studies included in the literature review (see Table 2.1 below). The search strategy was devised in order to maximise the number of relevant studies included in the scoping exercise while seeking to minimise the number of irrelevant studies.

It should be recognised that searching this topic area can be problematic due to the range of terms describing mental health problems, the limitations of electronic abstracting services, and a lack of agreed terms for carers, which can be complicated by different kinship relations as well as international differences – for example, 'carer' in the UK and 'caregiver' in North America (Charlesworth, 2001).

The search strategy developed reflected four main areas of interest:

- studies relating to carers
- studies of interventions for carers
- mental health problems
- · issues of effectiveness and/or cost-effectiveness

drawing on lists of possible synonyms for these areas of interest. An information officer in the NHS Centre for Research and Dissemination (CRD) at the University of York conducted searches on the following databases.

CD-ROMS

- AMED (1985–2001/07)
- ASSI (1980–2001)
- BNI (1994–2001/07)
- Cinahl (1982–2001/10)
- Cochrane Library: Cochrane Controlled Trials Register (Issue 4 2001)
- Cochrane Library: Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (Issue 4 2001)
- EMBASE (1984–2001/10)
- HMIC King's Fund Database, HELMIS, Dhdata (1979 current)
- Medline (1981–2001/10)

² Endnote is a reference database that stores, manages and searches for bibliographic references.

- SIGLE (2001)
- Social Science Citation Index (SSCI) (1985-2001)
- Sociological Abstracts 1986-2001/09

Internet resources

• Caredata

http://www.elsc.org.uk/uc.htm

- Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effectiveness (DARE)
 <u>http://www.york.ac.uk/inst/crd</u>
- Health Technology Assessment Database (HTA)
 <u>http://www.york.ac.uk/inst/crd</u>
- NHS Economic Evaluations Database (NHS EED)
 <u>http://www.york.ac.uk/inst/crd</u>

The search strategy used terms to denote 'carer' (caregiver, caretaker, carer) combined with a range of mental health terms and service interventions to generate references. A filter was subsequently applied to these to identify those references specifically addressing cost-effectiveness (see Appendix 2 for the full details of the terms used).

In order to seek as comprehensive a list of studies as possible, four other strategies for identifying literature were also undertaken. These are described below.

2.2.2 Hand searching

Because electronic databases may be incomplete or inaccurate, hand searching of the following journals was undertaken:

- British Journal of Psychiatry
- Journal of Mental Health
- Journal of Dementia Care
- Journal of Advanced Nursing.

The most common journal titles found in the database search were: Gerontologist, Journal of Gerontological Social Work, Ageing and Mental Health and American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease. Not all of these were available for hand searching at the University or its sister libraries. We recommend that any future work in this area includes a hand search of these journals as a matter of priority.

2.2.3 Internet searches

The Internet is a source of up-to-date and unpublished material, although current search engines tend to provide many irrelevant sites.

Given the limited time for this study, only a small number of key websites associated with carers' organisations and government departments were searched:

- National Schizophrenia Fellowship: <u>www.nsf.org.uk</u>
- Carers UK: <u>www.carersuk.demon.co.uk</u>
- Government website for carers: <u>www.carers.gov.uk</u>
- Alzheimers Society: <u>www.alzheimers.org.uk</u>
- Princess Royal Trust for Carers: <u>www.carers.org</u>
- Carersnet: <u>www.carersnet.org.uk</u>
- Carers UK Northern Ireland: <u>www.carersnorthern.demon.co.uk</u>
- Department of Health: <u>www.doh.gov.uk</u>
- King's Fund: <u>www.kingsfund.org.uk</u>
- World Fellowship for Schizophrenia: <u>www.world-schizophrenia.org</u>

2.2.4 Consultation with key organisations and informants

The following organisations working in the field were contacted with a view to hand searching libraries or identifying unpublished work:

- Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health (<u>www.scmh.org.uk</u>)
- National Schizophrenia Fellowship (<u>www.nsf.org.uk</u>)
- Carers UK (<u>www.carersuk.demon.uk</u>)
- MIND (<u>www.mind.org.uk</u>)
- Mental Health Foundation (<u>www.mentalhealth.org.uk</u>)
- King's Fund (<u>www.kingsfund.org</u>).

In the course of discussions with key informants and as part of the questionnaire survey (see *Consultation Report*) there were also opportunities for individuals to identify unpublished research, or research they had found particularly useful in their work. Only four such additional studies were identified.

2.2.5 Reference checking

References identified in all studies were checked to ensure they had been included in the scoping exercise. This process did generate new references, although a saturation point was reached where no new references were being identified. All the additional references were added to the Endnote database and included in the review. A number of studies were identified at too late a stage to be included and are listed in Appendix 3. It should be noted that the full report or article has not been seen in these cases and therefore overall relevance is difficult to determine.

The search strategy identified 3867 references in total. A number of these (112) were identified as the study progressed and these were treated in the same way as those generated in the initial search. However, it was clear that the search terms had generated a number of studies that were not relevant to

the main research questions. This underpinned the view that this topic area can be difficult to search, given the range of mental health problems and definitions of caring that might be included. There is also a difficulty in identifying through search terms the person or group for whom a particular service is provided as there may be some overlap between a service that is provided primarily for the care recipient with possible benefits for carers. It was felt to be important to include these overlapping services in any attempt to consider issues of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness and consequently it was recognised that a large number of studies could be identified that would require further investigation to determine whether they were relevant to the scoping study. To that end, discrete inclusion and exclusion criteria were applied to all the studies as they were identified.

2.3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion and exclusion criteria were developed and applied to those studies written in the English language and published between January 1985 and December 2001 that represented a 'best fit' with the central research question: 'What is known from the existing literature about the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of services to support carers of people with mental health problems?'

Inclusion criteria:

- *study type:* empirical work that evaluated the effectiveness or costeffectiveness of services to support carers of people with mental health problems
- *intervention type:* any intervention directed towards carers of people with mental health problems, including dementia
- *care recipient group:* any care recipient group comprising individuals 18 years of age and over with any mental health problem
- *carer group:* carers of any age; carers of people with mental health problems.
- Exclusion criteria:
- *study type:* non-empirical work
- *intervention type:* interventions directed towards care recipients only that report no implications for carers
- non-English-language references
- *nature of reference:* book reviews, commentaries and PhD theses.

The inclusion and exclusion criteria were applied to all 3867 references using abstracts or the full report or article where available. All research reports, regardless of the type of intervention or research methods used, were included in the scoping study in order to provide as full a picture as possible of the range and type of services for carers of people with mental health problems, as well as the type of research undertaken in this field.

Three types of studies were identified and classified according to their degree of 'fit' with the research question.

- *Type A* studies: empirical studies of effectiveness or cost-effectiveness of services for carers of people with mental health problems. These represented the best fit with the research question and formed the basis for the literature review.
- *Type B* studies: empirical studies of effectiveness or cost-effectiveness of services for carers. These were reviewed with a view to identifying particular features of 'effectiveness' or 'cost-effectiveness' that might have been missing in studies of carers of people with mental health problems. However, these studies were not helpful, since they did not reveal any new kinds of data. Consequently, they were not used in the final review.
- *Type C* studies: empirical studies of services that have implications for carers of people with mental health problems. Subsequent analysis of these studies revealed that fragments of a number of different literatures had been picked up by the search strategy, but that none of these were comprehensive enough to be included in the scoping review. The Type C studies covered issues around utilisation of services, development of organisations and interventions, the needs of carers, interventions directed towards care recipients, and policy review documents. Some of these Type C studies were useful as background material for the literature review (see Table 2.2), but the majority were not analysed.

In sum, only the Type A studies were included in the literature review. where these represented the best fit with the research question. Neither the Type B nor the Type C studies were included, first because they did not provide any significantly new material in relation to understanding the effectiveness or cost-effectiveness of services for carers, and secondly because many of the studies represented 'fragments' of larger literatures that required some analysis in their own right.

The process of applying inclusion and exclusion criteria allowed us to consider the range of possible literatures that existed in relation to carers of people with mental health problems. However, the studies finally identified for inclusion in the review were those focusing on the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of services and interventions.

2.4 Results of the literature search

The search strategies yielded a total of 3867 citations. Of these, 804 were considered to meet the inclusion criteria. Full reports were obtained for 684 (85 per cent) of these. Once full reports had been obtained, a further 311 were found not to meet the inclusion criteria. Some 109 studies were not retrieved because they were not available through library sources, or were identified too late to be included in the review (see Appendix 3). In total, 204 studies were classified as Type A studies and are reported in subsequent sections. Of these 204 references, only 13 contained economic data. An additional 9 references have been included in the overall discussion of cost-effectiveness where these

were pertinent to the relevant methodological issues. The analysis of these studies was undertaken by the health economist and the findings are reported in Section 5.

Table 2.1 shows the proportion of studies found by the different bibliographic sources used in the search strategy. The majority of references were found on the electronic and specialist bibliographic databases. The most productive of these were Medline and Embase, through which over half the references were found (see Appendix 1). Least productive were attempts to locate unpublished reports through organisations, Internet searches and personal contacts.

Table 2.1 Number of studies of services for carers of people with mental health problems found within different bibliographic sources (N = 3867)

Bibliographic source	N	%
Electronic and specialist bibliographic databases and registers	3 755	97
Hand searches	15	0.4
Reference checking	93	2.4
Internet searches	0	0
Personal contacts	4	0.2

The literature that was identified in the scoping study was of different types. The review itself was based on the Type A studies (see above). Useful background material was gathered from a range of other material as shown in Table 2.2. Table 2.2 The distribution of studies of evaluations of services for carers of people with mental health problems according to study type (N = 373)

Study type	Ν	%
Intervention studies (Type A)	204	54.8
Policy reviews and other background papers (from Type C studies)	65	17.4
Literature review	45	12.1
Evaluation methods	30	8.0
Additional studies of cost-effectiveness	29	7.7

2.5 Data extraction/ classifying relevant studies

The analysis involved extracting relevant data from all 204 studies in the review. These comprised information on:

- the intervention type, and comparator (if any)
- the study sample
- the care recipient group
- aim(s) of study
- research methods
- the duration of intervention
- outcomes
- the country where the study was set.

Further data extracted only for the economic analysis included:

- · types of costs included
- · whether cost data were collected retrospectively or prospectively
- currency used to report findings
- measures of benefits reported
- whether there was a synthesis of costs and benefits.

These data formed the basis of the analysis.

Section 3 Scoping the field: initial mapping

This section maps the extent, nature and distribution of the studies included in the review in terms of:

- geographical distribution
- condition group
- geographical distribution of condition group
- the range of interventions included in the review
- interventions implemented specifically in the UK
- research methods adopted and measures of effectiveness.

3.1 Geographical distribution of studies of evaluations of interventions for carers of people with mental health problems

Figure 3.1 shows the number and proportion of research reports that evaluated interventions for carers of people with mental problems, including dementia, according to the country in which the intervention was implemented. The majority of papers described interventions carried out in the USA (55 per cent). In comparison, a far smaller proportion of reports derived from the UK (22 per cent). Canada and Australia each accounted for 7 per cent of the studies. Studies from the rest of Europe and the rest of the world accounted for the remainder.

Figure 3.1 Distribution of studies of evaluations of interventions for carers of people with mental health problems, by country (N = 204)



- * Netherlands (4); Italy (3); Belgium (1); Sweden (1); Ireland (1); Germany (1); Spain (1)
- ** Japan (2); China (2); Malaysia (1); Hong Kong (1)

3.2 Care recipient group

Figure 3.2 shows the number and proportion of studies according to the diagnosis or condition of the person supported according to three categories: Alzheimer's disease and related dementias; schizophrenia; other serious mental illness (as well as unspecified conditions – this group includes mental illnesses such as depression and bipolar disorder). The majority of interventions (70 per cent) were designed for carers of people with Alzheimer's disease or other types of dementia.





3.3 Geographical distribution of studies of evaluations according to care recipient group

Table 3.1 shows the number and proportion of studies by country for each of the three care recipient groups. The majority of studies focused on carers of people with Alzheimer's disease or other dementia have been conducted in the USA (44 per cent). The UK has been the setting for most of the studies relating to schizophrenia (6.5 per cent). In the USA, there has been a clear emphasis on dementia rather than schizophrenia or other types of mental illness. In comparison, research in the UK has been more evenly spread: Alzheimer's disease (41 per cent); schizophrenia (32 per cent); other serious mental illness (27 per cent). Of the 12 UK studies in the category 'Other serious mental illness', no studies were identified that focused on acute or chronic depression, eating disorders, anxiety or substance abuse. However, some people with depression or anxiety were included among the participants in a small number of studies.

	Alzheimer's disease/ dementia		Schizophrenia		Other serious mental illness	
	No	%	No	%	No	%
USA	90	44	8	4	15	7
UK	18	9	14	6.5	12	6
Canada	13	6	1	0.5	1	0.5
Australia	9	4	4	2	1	0.5
Rest of Europe	* 10	5	_	-	* * 2	1
Rest of world	†2	1	††4	2	_	-
Total	142	70	31	15	31	15

Table 3.1 Geographical distribution of studies according to care recipient group (N = 204)

* Italy (3); Netherlands (2); Ireland (1); Germany (1); Spain (1); Sweden (1); Belgium (1)

** Netherlands (2)

† Hong Kong (1); Japan (1)

†† China (2); Malaysia (1); Japan (1)

3.4 Categorising the interventions and services

Many different types of interventions and services have been developed to help support carers, and the research studies included in this review reflect this heterogeneity. Altogether, the review is based on 204 research reports, just 13 of which have an economic element. Services ranged from day care or home-based or institution-based respite, which offered carers the opportunity to take a (short) break from caring, to interventions such as counselling or education. Some interventions were aimed at the individual carer (for instance, one-to-one counselling), while others were delivered in a group format (such as support groups). Some were of interventions with both the carer and person supported together (for example, educational or training programmes), while others were targeted at all family members (for instance, family therapy). Some interventions recognised the fact that two people are involved in caring, and aimed to have a beneficial impact on both the carer and the person supported (for example, a gentle hand treatment for dementia patients). Other interventions attempted to use the carer as an 'agent of change' (Charlesworth, 2001) and carers were trained in using particular care-giving skills with the person supported (for instance, cognitive stimulation).

To create some order in complex and unwieldy material, interventions were grouped together. Categorisation was difficult: there was great diversity and/or overlaps; descriptions of some interventions were insufficient; authors' definitions did not always appear justifiable and/or consistent.

Table 3.2 shows the classification scheme adopted, as well as the number of studies according to each intervention category. The most common intervention studied related to education of different kinds (36 per cent), followed by breaks from caring (18 per cent). In comparison with family

interventions (10 per cent) and mutual support and social activity groups (9 per cent), counselling was less frequent (4 per cent).

Table 3.2 Studies of evaluations of interventions for carers of people with mental health problems (N = 204)

	All studies		Studies with an economic aspect	
	N (204)	%	N (13)	%
Educational interventions	73	36	1	8
education	29	15	_	-
• training	21	10	1	8
 psychoeducational interventions 	23	11	_	-
Breaks from caring	36	18	2	15
• day care services	12	6	1	8
• in-home respite care	4	2	_	-
institutional respite	5	3	_	-
• mixed respite care services	15	7	1	8
Family interventions	20	10	3	23
Mutual support and social activity groups	18	9	_	-
Telephone and computer-based services	16	8	1	8
Multidimensional approaches to caring interventions	15	7	4	31
Counselling	9	4	_	-
Miscellaneous*	8	4	2	15
Domiciliary care services	4	2	_	-
Physical environment	3	1	-	-
Supporting carers through memory clinics	2	1	_	-

* Described in detail in Section 4.11

The typology derives from one used in a recent systematic review of interventions for carers of people with dementia (Cooke *et al.*, 2001). The 11 classification categories adopted reflect the types of interventions prioritised for mental health carers in government policy. For instance, the national strategy for carers (DoH, 1999b) and NSF for Older People (DoH, 2001) all emphasise breaks for carers, educational and training programmes, family interventions and support groups. The groupings are also helpful in terms of identifying gaps in the literature and areas for further research. There is no 'psychosocial' category, reflecting the point that authors tend to use this as a broad heading to cover a very wide range of types of interventions, and what can be described by one researcher as a psychosocial intervention is not necessarily defined by another in the same way.

Services to Support Carers of People with Mental Health Problems 3.5 Evaluation studies of interventions set in the UK

Table 3.3 shows the number and proportion of evaluation studies of interventions for carers set in the UK. The majority of papers described interventions aimed at the family as a whole (30 per cent). Educational interventions of different types and breaks from caring accounted for 25 per cent and 18 per cent respectively.

Table 3.3 UK studies evaluating interventions for carers of people with mental health problems (N = 44)

	N (44)	%
Family interventions	13	30
Educational interventions	11	25
education	8	18
• training	2	5
 psychoeducational interventions 	1	2
Breaks from caring	8	18
• day care services	1	2
• in-home respite care	1	2
institutional respite	1	2
• mixed respite care services	5	12
Multidimensional approaches to caring interventions	4	9
Domiciliary care services	3	7
Miscellaneous*	2	5
Mutual support and social activity groups	1	2
Counselling	1	2
Supporting carers through memory clinics	1	2
Telephone and computer-based services	-	-
Physical environment	-	-

* Carer-held documentation pack; assertive outreach programme

3.6 Type of research methods used to evaluate interventions for carers of people with mental health problems

As Table 3.4 shows, the majority of studies (80 per cent) used quantitative methods. Of these, randomised controlled trials (RCTs) comprised 33 per cent of studies; non-randomised controlled trials accounted for 20 per cent; before-and-after studies (uncontrolled), 31 per cent; retrospective/post-intervention measures, 16 per cent. The remaining 20 per cent of studies used mainly mixed methods, or qualitative methods. Researchers using mixed methods collected both quantitative and qualitative data using, say, standard outcome measures or a postal survey together with in-depth interviews, focus group work or

documentary analysis. Qualitative studies tended to involve in-depth interviews with relatively small numbers of participants.

Less than 20 per cent of the studies included in the review were comparative studies that compared the efficacy of one type of intervention against another (a very small number of these were RCTs). The vast majority of studies were experimental or quasi-experimental. Those that took place in 'natural' settings tended to be of existing support groups for carers or established clinical services. Just over one-quarter of studies included follow-up at three months or over. Longer-term follow-up of two years and over was rare (5 per cent).

	Ν	%
Quantitative methods	162	80
• RCTs	53	33
 before-and-after studies (uncontrolled) 	51	31
 non-randomised controlled trials 	33	20
 post-intervention measures 	25	16
Mixed or multiple methods	22	11
Qualitative methods	13	6
Other*	7	3

e.g. content analysis, secondary data analysis, inadequate description of methods

3.7 Measures of effectiveness and costeffectiveness

Seventy per cent of the studies included in the review used standard outcome measures as a way to evaluate the effectiveness of interventions for carers of people with mental health problems. Outcomes most commonly measured were carer burden, stress, coping, physical health, emotional well-being, depression, quality of life and knowledge levels. The outcome measures used were mainly 'off-the-shelf' instruments, in particular the General Health Questionnaire, the Burden Interview, the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale and the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule. If researchers felt existing measures were not fully appropriate for their particular focus of interest, they took subsets of different measures and combined them into a new pool of items. Alternatively, researchers developed their own scales, tailor-made for the purpose.

Alternative, and/or additional, ways to assess the effectiveness of interventions included programme evaluations, satisfaction surveys, service utilisation rates, relapse rates, admissions to institutional care or hospital, practitioners' observations of outcomes. Most of the studies with an economic component included health care costs and social services costs. One study valued carer time; two assessed changes in carer earnings.

Services to Support Carers of People with Mental Health Problems 3.8 Summary of characteristics of available research

Some 204 evaluation studies of interventions for carers of people with mental health problems were included in the review. The mapping exercise shows that:

- the majority of studies were set in the USA, and focused on people with Alzheimer's disease or other form of dementia
- educational interventions were most commonly studied, followed by breaks from caring and then family interventions
- UK studies focused on interventions for carers of people with schizophrenia; family intervention studies predominated
- studies were mainly of single interventions rather than multidimensional approaches
- most studies were experimental or quasi-experimental, using a repeated measures design; studies using mixed or qualitative methods were in the minority
- few studies collected follow-up data to address longer-term effects
- most studies used standard outcome measures to assess the effectiveness of interventions; outcomes relating to care burden, stress and physical and emotional health were commonly measured.

Having mapped out the research reports included in the scoping study and explained the categorisation groups, we can now present in the next chapter our review of the studies.

Section 4 Review of interventions and services for carers

This section analyses the 204 research reports included in the scoping study, categorised into the 11 intervention groups shown in Table 3.2. The 11 categories are ordered as follows:

- Breaks from caring (Section 4.1)
- Educational interventions (Section 4.2)
- Family interventions (Section 4.3)
- Mutual support and social activity groups (Section 4.4)
- Counselling (Section 4.5)
- Telephone and computer-based services (Section 4.6)
- Domiciliary care services (Section 4.7)
- Physical environment (Section 4.8)
- Supporting carers through memory clinics (Section 4.9)
- Multidimensional approaches to caring (Section 4.10)
- Miscellaneous (Section 4.11).

In the light of the large number of studies, we devised a template to help report the findings for each category. The layout of the template is as follows. First, there is a small table detailing:

- the identification number of each study (to be cross-referenced with summary Tables 1-15 in Appendix 4)
- the care recipient group, under three headings:
 - Alzheimer's disease/dementia
 - schizophrenia
 - other serious mental illness (which includes illnesses such as bipolar disorder, depression, anxiety)
- the countries in which the studies were set
- main measures of effectiveness (standard outcome measures; programme evaluations/satisfaction surveys).

The material that follows documents descriptive characteristics of studies included in the review, together with more substantive issues including effectiveness and cost-effectiveness.

The nine headings used are:

- Interventions
- Sample sizes
- Participants
- Research methods
- Outcomes
- Evidence relating to effectiveness
- Economic aspects
- UK studies
- Gaps in the research.

It is important to note that under the headings 'Evidence relating to effectiveness' and 'Economic aspects', we report the opinion of the authors of the research rather than our own views on the impact of the intervention in question. Each different intervention group has been reported so that it can stand on its own, for readers who have a special interest in particular types of interventions.

Summary tables documenting fuller information about all the studies included in each of the different intervention groups can be found in Tables 1–15 in Appendix 4. These tables include the following details:

- study identification number (these numbers are referenced in the main text of this report as, for example, ⁽¹²³⁾)
- author(s)
- study sample
- care recipient group
- research methods
- intervention type
- duration of intervention
- outcomes
- setting.
4.1 Breaks from caring (N = 36)

Day care services (N = 12)

Study identification code numbers	34, 35, 37, 78, 118, 121, 156, 181, 199, 200, 230, 248
(see Table 1 in Appendix 4)	
Care recipient group	AD and dementia (11), schizophrenia (0), other serious mental illness (1)
Setting	USA (7), Australia (2), UK (1), Belgium (1), Hong Kong (1)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcome measures (7), programme evaluation/satisfaction surveys (5)

Interventions: Studies examined adult day programmes in a number of different countries. Some studies undertaken in the USA focused on centres that adopted a social model and provided daytime social activities and supervision, and/or programmes that adopted a medical model and delivered skilled nursing services to clients. One study¹⁹⁹ was of a national, four-year programme that operated a total of 24 day centres for people with dementing illnesses, serving both urban and semi-rural sites in 13 states. One of the Australian studies³⁵ looked at day care programmes specifically for people with dementia; such programmes offered the patients activities suited to their cognitive limitations.

Sample sizes: Sample sizes ranged from just one¹⁸¹ to 324⁷⁸. They tended to fall into one of two extremes: either relatively small (below 50) or relatively large (above 200).

Participants: A number of the interventions were aimed at primary carers; very often, there were more female participants than male. Ages varied: for example in one study¹²¹, the age range of carers spanned 27–88 years. One study²³⁰ involved patient-carer dyads. The majority of studies were focused on respite care for people with dementia.

Research methods: Most studies used quantitative methods, although few used a control group. pointing out that in practice this can be difficult and/or unethical to do in studies that evaluate services. Some studies employed a repeated measures design, including follow-up in both the short term and in the longer term. There were problems with attrition. For instance, of the 261 people who completed the initial interview in one study²³⁰, 175 (65 per cent) completed the three-month follow-up interview and just 90 (34 per cent) completed the interview at the 12-month follow-up stage. One study²³⁰ compared adult day care services based on a medical model with services based on a social model. Three studies^{35, 78, 121} involved comparisons between carers who used adult day care services with carers who were non-users.

Outcomes: Studies evaluated different aspects of the use of adult day care for carers, in particular the impact on carers' stress and well-being, the perceived benefits and drawbacks of day care, and barriers to use. Some

studies also looked at the effect of day care attendance on the social and adaptive behaviours of the person cared for.

Evidence relating to effectiveness: A number of issues are raised in the studies of effectiveness of adult day care services. First there is a view expressed that both carer and patient can benefit from day care^{118, 181} and that it is the benefits to the patient that encourage carers to use these services¹²¹. The latter finding has implications for the take-up of day care which may depend on persuading carers of the benefits of respite for the person they support. Second, some of the studies suggest that the high levels of reported carer satisfaction with day care services^{37, 156} are not reflected in the results of pre- and post-test outcome measures where little or no improvement has been found^{35, 156}. These studies contradict those that have found some evidence of long-term effects on carers, including one²⁰⁰ that reported reduced levels of burden and another⁷⁸ reporting reduced levels of overload and depression at one-year follow-up. It might be surmised, therefore, that different models of day care service have potentially different kinds of benefits for carers. However, this hypothesis is not supported by a study³⁴ of different adult day care models that reported no significant differences in carer stress or wellbeing, or patient impairment across models.

Overall, the evidence regarding effectiveness of adult day care services is mixed, ranging from no evidence of effectiveness to claims for long-term benefits, although high levels of reported satisfaction with these services suggest that some carers may be benefiting from respite in ways that are not captured in existing research evidence.

Economic aspects: Only one study addressed the economic implications for this intervention²⁰⁰. Set in the UK, 179 patients with acute psychiatric illness were randomly assigned to either day hospital care or to routine inpatient care. 103 carers were assessed on two scales: carer burden was assessed using the Social Behaviour Assessment Schedule score and carer health was measured on the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ). Although no significant difference was found on the GHQ scale, carer burden was found to be significantly lower in the day patient group at the 12-month assessment. Since day care was found to cost less than inpatient care, the authors concluded that the intervention was cost-saving.

UK studies: The only UK study²⁰⁰ looked at the cost-effectiveness of day and inpatient psychiatric treatments. Details are reported in the 'Economic aspects' section above.

Gaps in the research: There is a need for more comparative work on adult day care services to identify which carers, which patients and which models of service are most effective. Given the limited evidence for effectiveness deriving from the use of standard measures, consideration should be given to the use of qualitative methods and alternative outcome measures in this area.

Furthermore, only one study was identified that considered the benefits of adult day care for people with mental health problems other than dementiarelated illnesses. The opportunities to expand the service to carers of people with other severe mental health problems need to be examined.

In-home respite care (N = 4)

Study identification code numbers	77, 117, 186, 214
(see Table 2 in Appendix 4)	
Care recipient group	AD/dementia/elderly (4), schizophrenia (0), other serious mental illness (0).
Setting	UK (1), USA (1), Canada (1), Sweden (1)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcome measures (2), programme evaluation/satisfaction surveys (4)

Interventions: The interventions varied. The UK study¹¹⁷ examined a scheme provided by Age Concern in which care attendants undertook in-home respite care with people looking after elderly, physically handicapped and sick people. In contrast, the Canadian study¹⁸⁶ evaluated a visiting/walking programme where an integral component of each visit was physical and/or psychological stimulation in the form of a walk or an outing. The Swedish research⁷⁷ examined an intervention where trained deacons in turn trained family carers of people with dementia and other volunteers. After their training, the volunteers substituted for the carers in their homes on a weekly basis.

Sample sizes: Sample sizes ranged from 24¹⁸⁶ to 80²¹⁴.

Participants: One study⁷⁷ was aimed specifically at the principal carer; the age range of carer participants, mainly female, was 39–86 years. The study sample in the UK study¹¹⁷ also consisted of more women than men. Care recipients in all four studies suffered from dementia. In the Swedish study⁷⁷, data were also collected from other key stakeholders, namely deacons and volunteers.

Research methods: All the studies collected data (through measures and/or interviews) from participants both before and after implementation of the service.

Outcomes: The studies evaluated carer stress, coping, strain and burden. Researchers also looked at participants' satisfaction with programmes.

Evidence relating to effectiveness: The small number of studies and small sample sizes of these is indicative of the relative paucity of evidence regarding the effectiveness of in-home respite services. High degrees of satisfaction with services were reported in three studies^{77,}

^{117, 186} and some improvement in perceived carer burden¹⁸⁶ and coping¹¹⁷ were also reported.

The evidence from these studies does not support claims for the effectiveness of in-home respite, but neither can they be used to suggest that such services are not effective.

Economic aspects: No economic study addressing in-home respite was identified.

UK studies: As noted above, the one UK study¹¹⁷ examined an in-home respite care scheme provided by Age Concern. Some 78 carers took part in the study, which took place over a 12-month period. Of these, 63 carers used the service; the 15 who did not provided a comparison group. Agents who referred clients to the service, primarily district nurses, social workers and GPs, also took part in the research.

Gaps in the research: The field of in-home respite remains under-researched. Experimental projects, such as the Circle Model⁷⁷ require further investigation and development. There is a paucity of evidence regarding the use of in-home respite by carers of people with mental health problems other than dementia.

Institutional respite (N = 5)

Study identification code numbers	4, 6, 50, 182, 189
(see Table 3 in Appendix 4)	
Care recipient group	AD/dementia (3), schizophrenia (0), other serious mental illness (2)
Setting	USA (3), UK (1), Canada (1)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcome measures (3), programme evaluation/satisfaction surveys (3)

Interventions: Five studies of institutional respite were included in the literature review. The respite services were offered in different settings including hospitals, medical centres and nursing homes. Inpatient stays from two days up to two weeks were available. The UK service ¹⁸² was different in that it was a night nursing service for elderly people suffering from dementia. One US intervention studied ⁴ was of a week-long annual respite 'camp' for all family members, including carers and the person supported.

Sample sizes: The sample sizes in all the studies were relatively small, ranging from 14 189 to 70 4 .

Participants: The studies collected data from carers' family members and/or care recipients. Carer participants were more often female than male, again with a varied age range. Two studies ^{4, 189} focused on people with mental illnesses; in one case patients were male veterans ¹⁸⁹. The respite camp study ⁴ also gathered information from mental health graduate students or psychiatry residents who volunteered to 'staff' the camp.

Research methods: Research methods were mainly quantitative or mixed methods. Only one study used a control group ⁶.

Outcomes: Various outcomes were measured, including carer burden and stress. Studies also examined the impact of respite programmes on the number of inpatient days and the cognitive and physical functioning of care recipients.

Evidence relating to effectiveness: The three studies of institutional respite for carers of people with dementia did not indicate any significant effectiveness beyond some decrease in perceived carer burden⁶ and an increase in positive feelings for some carers ¹⁸². It is the negative aspects of institutional respite that are perhaps of more interest; for example, one study⁶ reported worse relationships between some carers and care recipients on return and another ¹⁸² identified the possibility that institutional respite could indicate the first step towards carers seeking permanent residential care for the person supported. The degenerative nature of dementia-related illnesses makes the study of respite more complex where the dynamic relationship between carer and care recipient require further examination.

For carers of people with other serious mental illnesses, there is little evidence regarding the effectiveness of institutional respite. One of the studies found some evidence to suggest that planned residential respite could reduce overall number of rehospitalisation days¹⁸⁹, while the other reported positive evaluations from carers and staff of annual respite camps ⁴.

Overall there is little evidence regarding the effectiveness of institutional respite, particularly with regard to individuals suffering from illnesses other than dementia. Even here the evidence is mixed, suggesting that there are potentially positive and negative outcomes of institutional respite care.

Economic aspects: No economic study addressing institutional respite was identified.

UK studies: The study of the UK night nursing service evaluated the first 18 months of operation. Care recipients were collected in a 'sitting' ambulance with a nurse escort in the evening and returned home the following morning.

Gaps in the research: There is clearly a need for more research regarding the effectiveness of all institutional respite services. Within this, there is a place for more experimental work to compare different types of institutional respite along various dimensions, such as: different kinds of provision for care recipients; different lengths of time in respite; differences between 'as-needed' respite and 'pre-planned' respite. In each case, the effect of these on carers requires further investigation. Generally, there is a need for more understanding about the relationship between respite and permanent institutionalisation, enhanced coping behaviours, and enhanced medication compliance.

Mixed respite care services (N = 15)

Study identification code numbers	7, 9, 10, 39, 64, 81, 85, 86, 93, 153, 154, 157, 201, 229, 234
(see Table 4 in Appendix 4)	
Patient group	AD/dementia (13), schizophrenia (0), other serious mental illness (2).
Setting	USA (9), UK (5), Canada (1)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcome measures (7) Programme evaluation/satisfaction surveys (6)

Interventions: Six of the studies looked at large-scale respite demonstration programmes in the USA. Two articles ^{85, 154} reported on the respite programme established in the state of Maryland for carers of people with Alzheimer's disease. A further two articles ^{7, 64} reported on the Michigan Model Projects Specialised Respite Care Programme, and the remaining two papers ^{10, 229} looked at Philadelphia's respite demonstration programme. Generally speaking, these programmes offered one or more of the following forms of respite: adult day care, in-home respite care and/or short-stay institutional respite in a nursing or residential home.

The remaining studies were similarly of services that offered both day and overnight respite care. Some of the studies were not of individual or specific respite interventions, but instead consisted of carers' overall evaluations of the different types of respite support they had received.

Sample sizes: Sample sizes ranged from fairly small to very large, for instance in four studies ^{39, 93, 153, 157} there were less than 25 participants. In comparison, the studies of the large-scale US respite programmes had much larger samples. The Maryland project had a sample size of 228, comprising carers who were 'users', 'stoppers' and 'non-users' ^{85, 154}. Some 632 carers, distributed in either a treatment group or a control group, took part in the Philadelphia programme ^{10, 229}.

Participants: Carers participated in all the studies, but not all of them used the respite services under investigation. In one case ⁹ the sample consisted of only female carers (wives or daughters). In one UK study ¹⁵⁷, the age of participants spanned 14 to 85 years. There were more female carers than male carers in the majority of studies. Care recipients were predominantly (elderly) people with Alzheimer's disease or other form of dementia.

Research methods: A mixture of research methods was found: some studies were quantitative, others used individual interviews and yet others adopted a mixed-methods approach. Exceptionally, one study ³⁹ involved 12 carers taking part in a focus group. Only a small number of studies used control groups and a repeated measures design. There were some comparative studies. One study ⁹ compared in-home respite services with adult day care services. Others made comparisons between users and non-users of respite care.

Outcomes: The outcomes investigated included carers' subjective/objective burden and morale, well-being and physical health. The effect of respite on the person supported was also examined. Carers' perceptions of the benefits and drawbacks of respite care were examined. One article ¹⁵⁴, focusing on the relationships of race and culture to service use and outcomes, looked at utilisation and effects of respite by African American and white carers.

Evidence relating to effectiveness: Carers reported high satisfaction with respite services ^{9, 10, 86}; compared with adult day care, there were more positive outcomes reported by these studies. Effectiveness was reported in a number of areas, including reductions in subjective burden ^{7, 85}, increased carer morale ⁷, and reductions in carer stress ^{86, 93}. These findings suggest that respite can produce positive outcomes for carers, although few studies examined how or why this might be the case. Contradictory evidence is presented with regard to the effect of respite on permanent institutionalisation, with one study ¹⁰ reporting that respite users were more likely to maintain their relative in the community and another ⁹³ reporting that respite use had no effect on long-term institutionalisation. The studies are not comparable in terms of sample or form of respite, but do suggest that further research is needed to understand the relationship between forms of respite and institutionalisation.

Some of these studies reported findings that have a bearing on specific forms of respite care. The authors of one study ⁸¹ reported that spouses are particularly concerned about the quality of respite and prefer in-home care to adult day care. They also reported that spouses are more likely to seek respite that provides benefits to the care recipient. Other researchers ⁹ reported that users of home-care respite have lower numbers of care-giving hours compared with users of adult day care where no reduction in hours caring was found. They suggest this may be because relatives spend time preparing for adult day care in ways that are not necessary for in-home respite. This finding suggests that the subtle differences between forms of respite may have implications for overall effectiveness.

The lack of comparability among these studies makes it difficult to assess overall effectiveness. Clearly there are contradictory messages emanating from research regarding the potential benefits for carers deriving from respite care services, although carer satisfaction from these interventions remains high.

Economic aspects: One economic study ²⁰¹ assessed mixed-respite care services. The study was designed as a case series study with matched controls and aimed to evaluate a Family Support Unit (FSU) in the north-east of England. Through the provision of tailored day and residential respite care, the unit's goal was to enable patients to remain at home as long as possible. Thirty-five elderly mentally infirm patients visiting the FSU formed the intervention group; of these, 24 had carers available for interview. The costs of care and support received from public and private sectors were estimated for both groups. On average, patients in the intervention group were institutionalised almost six months later than control patients and a higher proportion of carers in the intervention group reported a sense of freedom or relaxation compared with controls. The difference in the rate of

institutionalisation between the groups meant that the FSU was cost-saving, but only when a broad cost perspective was adopted. The authors emphasised that cost savings would not accrue to the local authority that was jointly responsible for funding the unit.

UK studies: The five UK studies ^{39, 86, 157, 201, 234} used mainly qualitative methods. One piece of research ³⁹ involved a focus group comprising 12 carers who were either current or recent users of respite services in an inner London health authority. In a second study set ¹⁵⁷, in London, 23 carers were interviewed about their experiences of respite care. This study deliberately used a qualitative methodology to find out about the benefits and problems of respite care in order to complement and add to the existing work based on statistical analysis and standard measures. The remaining three studies evaluated units providing day and night care for elderly mentally infirm people in Northamptonshire ⁸⁶, north-east England ²⁰¹ and Kent ²³⁴.

Gaps in the research: There is a need for more comparative work about respite services and their effectiveness for different subgroups of carers. Existing evidence suggests that non-spouse carers who work have needs and expectations of respite that are different from those of spouse carers who are not working ⁸¹ and these findings require further exploration. The effect of respite on carer-patient relationships is also worthy of further research since mixed evidence is presented regarding the long-term implications of respite use.

A systematic review of respite by McNally *et al.* (1999) identified the need for a more 'carer-centred' approach to evaluation and provision of services, to take account of factors such as the relationship of the carer to the patient, the activities that carers undertake during periods of respite, and the effect of respite on care recipients. The studies reported in this review would suggest that little has been achieved since that report to fill these gaps in our understanding or knowledge.

4.2 Educational interventions (N = 73)

Education (N = 29)

Study identification code numbers (see Table 5 in Appendix 4)	14, 18, 19, 20, 30, 43, 49, 57, 72, 75, 76, 80, 102, 113, 120, 125, 131, 140, 145, 158, 159, 160, 162, 164, 168, 272, 285, 286, 287
Care recipient group	AD and dementia (17), schizophrenia (5), other serious mental illness (7)
Setting	USA (17), UK (8), Italy (2), Canada (1), Ireland (1)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcome measures (17), programme evaluation/satisfaction surveys (9)

Interventions: Of the 29 articles retrieved, two ^{102, 272} reported on the same (UK) intervention. Educational programmes were typically short term, varying in lengths from just 90-minute meetings to up to 12 weekly sessions of two to three hours each. Some were lead by professionals; others by carers or other

family members; and yet others by both professionals and carers. Two studies focused on the roles of community psychiatric nurses ^{159, 164} in the provision of education and information to carers and relatives, and another on the role of occupational therapists ⁷⁵.

The content of educational programmes varied, but generally speaking included standardised information about the specific disease, community resources and services available, communication skills, coping strategies, problem-solving techniques and patient-management skills. One workshop ¹⁵⁸ focused specifically on legal and financial matters. There was a pilot study ¹⁸ of the effectiveness of the 'Family-to-Family Education Program', a programme developed by the US organisation, the National Alliance for the Mentally III. This was formerly the 'Journey of Hope Education Program', which had previously been evaluated and is also included in the review ⁷². While the majority of interventions were delivered in a group situation, in some cases information was presented in the home setting to carer and patient together.

Sample sizes: The majority of studies had sample sizes of 50 carers or fewer. Exceptionally, there were two large-scale surveys of educational interventions which generated responses from 370³⁰ and 424⁷² individuals respectively.

Participants: Some educational interventions were aimed at primary carers. Study participants comprised mainly female carers rather than male. Where given, ages covered a wide range from 16 years ¹⁴ to carers in their 80s ^{140, 158,} ^{159, 160} and even 90 in one case ¹²⁵. One educational intervention ¹²⁵ was for patients in the early stages of Alzheimer's disease; another was for people with Huntington's disease ¹⁶⁸. One study ⁷⁵ collected information from four occupational therapists only.

Research methods: The majority of studies were quantitative. Some, but not all, used repeated measures. Just less than half had a control group. A very small number of studies undertook short-term follow-up at three or six months. There were some comparison studies. For instance, researchers compared three different ways to deliver information to relatives of people with schizophrenia: in a group, by post and by video ^{102, 272}. Another study ¹⁶⁰ looked at an educational support group and an Alzheimer's Association support group.

Outcomes: The outcomes examined varied, but tended to concentrate on psychological distress, coping skills, quality of life, well-being and levels of knowledge of disease. Programme evaluations were also undertaken. The role and effectiveness of specialist professionals in providing education and support were examined.

Evidence relating to effectiveness: A range of positive outcomes feature in the reports of education strategies for carers of people with both dementia-related illnesses and schizophrenia. In the main, these relate to improved knowledge about the illness and reductions in negative aspects of caring such as stress, anxiety and concern for the care recipient. These studies do provide evidence to suggest that educational interventions are successful in providing knowledge that is maintained over time ^{272, 164, 287}. However, there is less evidence to support the claim that increasing knowledge leads to reductions in stress or burden among carers. Although one study ²⁷² found decreases in

stress and increased optimism regarding family role alongside increased knowledge at post-treatment stage, only knowledge was retained at six-month follow-up. Similarly, another study ¹⁶⁸ found that only knowledge was retained at follow-up and other positive outcomes were not. This ambiguity about the nature of causality between increased knowledge and negative aspects of caring has led some to suggest that it is change in patients' behaviour, rather than knowledge *per se*, that affects levels of carer stress ^{120, 145}.

Thus, while there is evidence to support the view that providing education for carers has immediate positive outcomes, and that knowledge is retained over time, there is less evidence regarding the impact of that knowledge on other aspects of carer experience. It may be concluded that education as information is an important supplement to other interventions, but may be inadequate as a sole response to potential carer problems.

Economic aspects: No economic study addressing this category of education was identified.

UK studies: Altogether, there were eight papers ^{49, 102, 159, 162, 164, 272, 286, 287 reporting on seven different interventions. Two studies examined educational support for carers of people with dementia ^{159, 162}, while the remainder focused on services for carers of people with schizophrenia and/or mental illness. Generally, they were small-scale interventions, in the sense that their time duration was short and/or the numbers involved were generally low. One intervention, the focus of two separate articles ^{102, 272}, compared three different methods to deliver educational interventions (see above). Two unrelated studies ^{159, 164} looked at the role and impact of community psychiatric nurses in providing education and support to relatives. One study ¹⁵⁹ used a combination of both quantitative and qualitative methods. The rest all adopted a quantitative research design. As well as pre-test and post-test measures, some had follow- up at six months.}

Gaps in the research: Key questions regarding the delivery of education are not addressed in this literature, namely when education is most effective in terms of carer or mental illness trajectory, and which components of education programmes are most effective, if indeed these can easily be separated. More generally, the need to establish greater understanding regarding the causal relationship between education and carer burden and stress remains important.

Training (N = 21)

Study identification code numbers (see Table 6 in Appendix 4)	17, 59, 66, 71, 73, 88, 90, 96, 126, 129, 135, 144, 147, 151, 155, 179, 180, 184, 188, 196, 273
Care recipient group	AD and dementia (21), schizophrenia (0), other serious mental illnesses (0)
Setting	USA (12), Australia (5), Canada (2), UK (2)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcomes measures (18), programme evaluation/satisfaction surveys (4)

Interventions: There were 21 relevant articles. Of these, four papers ^{96, 144, 196, 273} related to the same study conducted in Australia. This intervention comprised a structured, residential, intensive 10-day training programme for

carers, boosted by follow-ups and telephone conferences over 12 months. All patients received a 10-day structured memory retraining and activity programme. Two other articles ^{129, 188} featured the same intervention, a training programme designed to improve carers' communication skills with the person supported. Other interventions included a stress management programme ⁵⁹, a relaxation training programme ¹⁷ and treatment to reduce sleep problems ¹²⁶. Programmes tended to be short, the longest lasting for 12 weeks ⁷³. However, some participants in one eight-hour training programme (spread over four weeks) did receive booster follow-up training at four months, eight months and 11 months after entry to the study ¹⁸⁸.

Some eight ^{71, 90, 135, 147, 151, 179, 180, 184} of the training interventions could be described as 'dual target' (Silliman *et al.*, 1990). They tended to involve the implementation of cognitive stimulation programmes in order to disrupt the trajectory of decline in patients with Alzheimer's disease or other form of dementia, and at the same time improve familial quality of life. One study ¹⁸⁰ evaluated the impact of a gentle hand treatment for dementia patients using three essential oils, from the point of view of both patients and carers.

Sample sizes: Sample sizes varied, and for the more straightforward training programmes generally comprised fewer than 40 participants. One exception was the Australian training programme ^{96; 144; 196; 273}, which involved 96 patient-carer couples allocated to one of three treatment conditions. Some of the dual-target interventions also had larger sample sizes; for example, there were four studies ^{90; 135; 151; 179} with 65 or more carer-patient dyads.

Participants: Training interventions were often aimed at main and/or spouse carers. One stress management programme ⁵⁹ was for carers who had identified moderate to high levels of stress. More often than not, carer samples consisted of women rather than men. There were a number of interventions focusing specifically on patients at particular stages in the disease trajectory, for instance, early to mid-stage Alzheimer's disease ^{129, 188} or mild to moderate dementia ^{196, 273}. Some interventions involved carer-patient dyads. Exceptionally, data were also collected from day care staff in one study ¹⁸⁰.

Research methods: The methods adopted in the majority of studies were quantitative. One action research study ¹⁸⁰ was a collaborative piece of work where carers and day care staff participated with the researchers in choosing, designing, developing and evaluating the (hand treatment) programme.

More than half the studies used control groups, and most adopted a repeated measures design. The Australian research was longitudinal and conducted an annual follow-up of up to eight years ¹⁴⁴. There were a number of comparative studies. For example, one study ⁷³ compared the effects of two different training interventions: a behaviour management programme and a social skills programme. Another ⁶⁶ looked at a skills training cognitive-behavioural group intervention, and compared this to a support group that emphasised information-giving and social exchanges between participants.

Outcomes: Studies examined the effects of the interventions by measuring a range of outcomes, including carer burden, self-esteem, depression, hassles and asking for help. The dual target interventions looked at outcomes related

to the functional status and behavioural disturbances of patients. The Australian study used survival analysis to look at the significance of carer education and training on nursing home admission and death in relation to patients with dementia

Evidence relating to effectiveness: The range of types of training offered to carers makes it difficult to assess overall effectiveness of this approach. A number of studies have reported positive benefits of behaviour training for carers, including reductions in carer stress ²⁷³, delay and reductions in institutionalisation ^{96; 144; 273}, improved quality of life ¹⁸⁴, and reduced carer depression ^{90; 151}. However, some researchers ¹⁴⁷ found that although improved carer mental health and reductions in the behavioural difficulties of patients after behaviour training occurred, it was not possible to identify in what direction these were related. Furthermore, others ⁶⁶ found no significant differences between the outcomes for carers of cognitive behaviour skills training and information giving, suggesting that the specific components of interventions require more careful evaluation.

Other forms of training, such as communication skills training ^{129; 188}, relaxation techniques ¹⁷ and stress management ⁵⁹, have also been found to have positive effects on carers, suggesting that training in specific techniques focused on particular aspects of carer experience may be beneficial.

There is clearly a body of evidence to support the development of training services for carers, and to continue evaluation of innovative and developmental techniques. The development and use of behavioural training that has the potential to be effective for both carers and patients requires further consideration.

Economic aspects: One of the four papers ¹⁹⁶ relating to the Australian intervention assessed the economic impact of training. As stated earlier, the controlled before-and-after study evaluated the impact of an intensive 10-day programme (delivered directly for one group and after a wait of six months for another group) with no carer support. Patients in the control group received a memory retraining programme. The 39-month follow up assessment found significantly lower rates of institutionalisation in both the intervention groups compared with the control and the authors concluded that the intervention was cost-saving.

UK studies: There were two studies set in the UK ^{7; 147}. One ⁷ evaluated a structured stress management programme followed by seven carers of people with dementia. The second study ¹⁴⁷ reported on an intervention designed to improve carers' ability to cope and manage behavioural disturbances in their relatives.

Gaps in the research: The types of behavioural training provided in these studies require replication and further evaluation. There is little evidence to support any particular style of intervention over another, or any evidence to help assess when training can be most effective. The time delay in training and potential benefits also needs to be considered, since it is possible that these kinds of interventions require 'practice' and that positive outcomes may not be seen for some time after the training has been given (see, for example, ¹²⁷). All

the examples of training reported here were for carers of people with dementia-related illnesses and therefore the efficacy of such programmes for other mental illnesses requires further investigation. For carers of people with degenerative illnesses such as dementia, there is also a need to understand how training needs might change over time and how skills can be updated, and what the effects of this might be on patients as well as carers.

Psychoeducational interventions (N = 23)

Study identification code numbers	2, 5, 16, 21, 22, 23, 48, 54, 55, 56, 58, 68, 69, 70, 79, 87, 104, 105, 106, 107, 141, 148, 174
(see Table 7 in Appendix 4)	
Care recipient group	AD and dementia (11), schizophrenia (8), other serious mental illness (4)
Setting	USA (14), Australia (3), Japan (2), UK (1), Germany (1), Netherlands (1), China (1)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcome measures (18), programme evaluation/satisfaction surveys (9)

Interventions: The literature search produced 24 relevant articles. There were three separate occurrences of two papers ^{16/48, 70/79, 104/106} being written about the same intervention, in other words 24 articles had been written about 21 different interventions. Generally, the psychoeducational interventions sought to: provide carers with information about the specific disease, and how the patient, the main carer, and the family as a whole might be affected; enhance carers' practical skills; strengthen feelings of confidence and belief about coping; and improve family communication and co-operation. A minority included patients as well as carers. Some interventions were short, for instance day-long workshops, whereas others took place on a weekly basis – for example, once every two weeks for nine months. One psychoeducational group ⁵⁸ was specifically for spouses (of people with serious mental illness), and another ⁵⁸ was directed at male carers (of patients with Alzheimer's disease). A third ^{70, 79} targeted spouse carers of people in the early stages of Alzheimer's disease.

Sample sizes: Sample sizes varied widely. For example, there were 22 or fewer participants in seven of the studies ^{2; 21; 22; 54; 55; 58; 70}. On the other hand, three studies ^{5; 104; 106} had over 220 participants. The completed sample in a fourth study ⁶⁹, examining a two-year project implemented in two cities in China, included 682 cases in the treatment group and 366 cases in the control group.

Participants: As well as primary carers, interventions focused on other specific groups of carers: parents ², spouses ^{54; 70; 79}, female carers ⁵⁶, and male carers ⁵⁸. Study samples often comprised more female carers than male carers; it was not unusual for carers to be in their 80s. Two interventions were for people with schizophrenia under the age of 40 ^{2, 107}, two were for people with bipolar disorder ^{21, 23} and one was for elderly people with recurrent major depression. In some cases, participants were carer-patient dyads or families. The one UK study ⁸⁷ was exceptional in that it collected data not only from carers but also from professionals (see below).

Research methods: All the studies apart from three ^{58; 87; 148} used quantitative methods. About one-third of studies used control groups; three-quarters conducted pre- and post-tests. A number had follow-ups, in one case of up to two years ⁶⁹. There were some comparison studies; for example, one study compared two models of brief psychosocial education ¹⁰⁶.

Outcomes: Outcomes measured were wide-ranging, and included carers' knowledge, psychological stress, burden, satisfaction with life, well-being, physical health and self-efficacy. Some of the studies asked participants to undertake a programme evaluation.

Evidence relating to effectiveness: Evidence regarding the effectiveness of psychoeducational approaches for carers is diverse and contradictory. On the whole, this is because of the varying components that make up the programmes so that it is difficult to identify which element might be particularly effective. In relation to interventions for carers of people with dementia, for example, one study ¹⁴⁸ found no effect on stress, burden, satisfaction with life, well-being or knowledge compared with control group, leading the researchers to conclude that interventions should be tailored to individual needs; another ⁷⁰ found an increase in preparedness for carer role, increase in competence, increased use of positive coping strategies and a reduction in perceived strain among carers which led the researchers to conclude that intervention at an early stage in disease progression could improve carer well-being and ability to cope. These two examples illustrate the importance of being able to match interventions to carer needs at specific stages of a mental illness. Overall there is some evidence to support the use of psychoeducational approaches for carers of people with dementia but the mechanisms through which positive outcomes are achieved are not well understood (48).

Evidence regarding the effectiveness of psychoeducational interventions with carers of people with schizophrenia are similarly mixed, although three of the five studies reported no significant improvements ^{105; 107; 174}. Only one study ⁶⁹ reported positive outcomes for a two-year group programme which reported lower levels of burden, improved health status and increased knowledge among participants. The mixed results suggest that different kinds of programmes will have different outcomes and that evidence is limited regarding which components are most effective (see ¹⁰⁷).

Similarly mixed findings are reported by studies that evaluated interventions for carers of people with serious mental illnesses (which might include schizophrenia and bipolar disorders), although questions are raised regarding the maintenance of improvements over time. Researchers ¹⁰⁶ suggest that education strategies can provide a shortcut to processes of maturation in coping that happen anyway and thus no long-term improvements should be expected. Others ⁵⁴, however, found that increased knowledge, improved coping strategies, reduced distress and reductions in negative attitudes to the ill person were maintained at one year which suggests that not only do components of psychoeducational strategies need to be understood but that what is meant by 'long-term' benefits requires further consideration.

Overall, the numerical significance of educational and psychoeducational interventions suggests that these have gained currency in recent years. The evidence regarding their effectiveness is sometimes contradictory, although most interventions offer at least one positive outcome measure.

Economic aspects: No economic study addressing psychoeducational interventions was identified.

UK studies: There was one study ⁸⁷ evaluating the Admiral Nurse Service in comparison with the conventional assistance provided by mental health services in the North Thames Region to people with dementia and their family carers. The researchers described the service as primarily a psychoeducational intervention, with some elements of service co-ordination.

Gaps in the research: Given the range and type of education interventions that have been evaluated there is a clear case to suggest that a full systematic review should be undertaken in this area. In particular, the use of psychoeducational approaches in relation to schizophrenia and other serious mental illnesses ought to be undertaken.

The clear difficulty with regard to research in this area relates to the multiple components that any intervention might embrace. Not only does this make evaluation difficult but it also raises questions regarding the possible transferability of interventions between settings and groups of carers.

4.3 Family interventions (N = 20)

Study identification code numbers	40, 60, 92, 99, 101, 103, 108, 109, 110, 112, 116, 137, 165, 172, 261, 263, 271, 274, 275, 289
(see Table 8 in Appendix 4)	
Care recipient group	AD and dementia (1), schizophrenia (13), other serious mental illness (6)
Setting	UK (13), USA (4), Netherlands (1), China (1), Malaysia (1)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcomes measures (16), programme evaluation/satisfaction surveys (1)

Interventions: Of the 20 articles, there were four instances of two papers ^{40/289, 101/109, 110/275, 112/137} having been written about the same family intervention service. In other words, 20 articles discussed 16 interventions. Most of the articles focused on interventions drawing on family therapy models. The interventions varied, but tended to include components focusing on family education about the specific disease, training in problem-solving and/or communication skills, and the development of coping strategies. Some intervention packages also included relatives' groups.

One of the US studies ⁶⁰ evaluated a particular family-based therapy called Structural Ecosystems Therapy (SET). The aim of the SET intervention was to improve carers' interactions within their social ecosystem (including family, community, service providers) to increase the extent to which their emotional, social and instrumental needs were met and, in turn, improve psychological adjustment. The Chinese study ¹⁰⁸ evaluated a newly developed comprehensive

intervention for families, once it became clear that approaches used in the West such as family therapy and behavioural treatments made assumptions that did not hold true in China.

Studies from the UK are discussed in more detail at the end of this section.

Sample sizes: Three studies $^{112; 116; 172}$ had study samples of 31 of fewer. At the other extreme, there was one study 60 with 224 participants.

Participants: As with other types of interventions, carer participants were mainly women. One US study ⁶⁰ of family-based therapy was aimed at white American and Cuban American primary carers. Similarly, a UK study ²⁷¹ was designed to appeal specifically to ethnic minority carers. The majority of interventions were for patients with schizophrenia or other mental illness conditions. In one study ⁹², data were also collected from professionals, namely family support workers (FSWs) and co-professionals from the FSW's multidisciplinary teams.

Research methods: The majority of studies used quantitative methods, just two ^{112; 172} were qualitative, and one ⁹² used a mixed methodology. Half had control groups. Most studies used a repeated measures design, with follow-ups between 12 months and two years. There were a small number of comparative studies. The SET study ⁶⁰, for example, assigned carers to one of three conditions: SET, SET enhanced with a computer-integrated telephone system, and a minimal-contact telephone support control group.

Outcomes: The outcomes that researchers focused on for carers and/or relatives included levels of expressed emotion, burden, coping, and distress. Care recipient relapse rates and the functioning of the whole family unit were also assessed.

Evidence relating to effectiveness: All but one study ⁶⁰ deals with the effectiveness of family therapy for relatives of people with schizophrenia or serious mental illnesses other than dementia. A key outcome measure used in these studies is how far family therapy can reduce relapse. There is evidence to suggest that family therapy can be effective in reducing relapse rates ^{101;} ^{108; 109; 261; 289}, although one study found no effect on 'expressed emotion' (EE) or relapse ⁹⁹.

Other aspects of the effectiveness of family therapy have also been identified by these studies, including: improvements in patient behaviour ^{116; 165}, improvements in family relationships ^{110; 172; 275} and reductions in family burden ^{92; 103; 108; 165}.

Only two studies have considered the differences between services or components of services in relation to potential effectiveness. One ¹⁶⁵ reports that the outcomes from Culturally Modified Family Therapy may be sustained over time compared with Behavioural Family Therapy although both were found to be effective across various dimensions. Other researchers ¹¹² have suggested that it is the non-specific aspects of family therapy such as emotional support, backup and reassurance that are more important to families than specific aspects of behaviour change and skills.

Overall, there is considerable evidence to support the effectiveness of family therapy in reducing relapse rates among people with schizophrenia compared with other interventions considered in this review, although there is less evidence that any particular component or model of family therapy is more efficacious than another.

Economic aspects: Three studies ^{261; 263; 274} included an economic evaluation of family interventions. Two studies ^{261; 274} targeted support at families of patients with schizophrenia and one ²⁶³ addressed patients with severe mental illness and concurrent mild mental retardation. All studies enrolled fewer than 75 patients. In the US study ²⁷⁴, patients with schizophrenia were randomised to either family management or to individualised supportive management, the latter representing usual care. Both groups also received pharmacotherapy and assertive case management. The UK study ²⁶¹, which was observational in design, compared a range of educational and behavioural family levels of EE. This study also targeted support at families of patients with schizophrenia. Patients with severe mental illness and concurrent mild mental retardation were the subjects of the Dutch study ²⁶³. In this trial, patients were randomly assigned to either specialised inpatient treatment or to outreach treatment at home.

Positive economic benefits were reported by all three studies. The UK study ²⁶¹ found the intervention to be cost-saving, mainly due to differences in the between-group rate of hospitalisation. The US study ²⁷⁴ reported the intervention to be cost-effective, measuring effectiveness as a composite index of patient psychiatric morbidity, patient social functioning and family functioning. The Dutch study ²⁶³ reported that the treatment costs for the outreach group were lower than those for the hospital group, but found no difference in measures of carer burden, thus concluding that the intervention was cost-effective.

UK studies: Five of the 13 UK research reports ^{101; 103; 109; 110; 275} were published in 1990 or earlier. These five were all studies of family therapy programmes. For example, two articles ^{101; 109} reported the results relating to relatives' EE and relapse rates of a follow-up at nine months, and then two years, of a study where 12 families (including patients) were assigned to family therapy and 11 to a relatives' group (excluding patients). In addition, a short (two sessions) educational programme was given to all relatives taking part in the study in their home. Another intervention that was reported ^{110; 275} involved an interactive education session at home, followed by a monthly relatives' group. This intervention aimed to reduce components of EE and to alleviate burden.

More recent work comprised two articles ^{112; 137} reporting on a service called STEP. This programme had been operating in a British district mental heath service for a number of years and implemented family intervention approaches in schizophrenia within a routine clinical service rather than as part of a specially funded research project. Two therapists visited each patient and family at home on a regular basis. After completion of an educational package, the therapists jointly completed an assessment of the family's needs. This intervention focused on improving the family's problem-solving and

communication skills; family members were encouraged to set goals to promote the patient's active rehabilitation.

Other studies have also looked at the effectiveness of family interventions in routine service settings. For instance, two articles ^{40; 289} reported on the same needs-based family intervention service where patients in both the treatment and control groups were allocated a FSW from the voluntary organisation Making Space, located in the north-west of England. Patients and carers in the treatment group were offered specific interventions determined by a systematic assessment of carer needs for psychosocial interventions. Another study ⁹² set out to specifically evaluate the impact of the FSW service developed by Making Space on the quality of life of carers of schizophrenia sufferers.

Gaps in the research: Only one study ⁶⁰ examined the use of family therapy for carers of people with dementia. Their finding that family therapy might be a way to increase social support warrants further investigation, as do questions regarding the transferability of family therapy interventions to carers of people with other types of mental illness. There is also a need for greater consideration to be given to the components of family therapy over time and also to the differences between service types, as suggested above. It may also be the case that some research should consider the way in which family therapy can be tailored to individual/family needs within the context of a complete package of care.

4.4 Mutual support and social activity groups (N = 18)

Study identification code numbers	3, 8, 11, 12, 13, 15, 42, 44, 51, 65, 82, 89, 91, 122, 123, 128, 161, 173
(see Table 9 in Appendix 4)	
Care recipient group	AD and dementia (12), schizophrenia (2), other serious mental illness (4)
Setting	USA (12), Australia (2), Canada (2), UK (1), Netherlands (1)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcomes measures (12), programme evaluation/satisfaction surveys (8)

Interventions: Studies in this category covered support groups for carers and other family members, with the exception of just one article from the USA reporting on the benefits and costs for members of a state-wide self-help group ⁸. The two Canadian papers ^{11; 12} discussed the same support group; so, too, did two US articles ^{65; 123}.

Support groups in some studies set in the USA were affiliated with specific organisations, such as the Alzheimer's Association ⁴⁴ and the National Alliance for the Mentally III ¹³. Others were linked into community health or social services organisations – for instance, day hospitals or residential homes. Some support groups were led solely by peers or carers, others by professionals and yet others by a professional-peer team. Some, but not all, of the support groups followed specially designed programmes. A number of support groups

were time-limited; in contrast, others were made available to carers for as long as they were needed.

Sample sizes: The smallest sample size was 10 161 , and the largest was 348 3 . Three-quarters had sample sizes of over 50.

Participants: Some, but not all, support groups were aimed at the main carer. Generally, the majority of carer participants were women, in one case ^{11/12} ranging from 30 to 90 years of age. Care recipients were mainly suffering from Alzheimer's disease or other form of dementia. One US study ⁸ was of people with schizophrenia and bipolar disorders. Support group leaders were included in one study ³.

Research methods: While the majority of studies used quantitative methods, few were designed as randomised controlled trials. Some were postal surveys intended to gather data to allow comparisons to be made between members and non-members of support groups. The shorter time-limited support group programmes lasted eight or ten weeks. Others were unlimited, and attendance was up to the individual carer. Very few studies conducted pre- and post-intervention tests, together with longer term follow-up. Exceptionally, one study was a retrospective analysis of the effects of carer support groups over an eight-year period ⁵¹.

Outcomes: A wide range of outcome and measurement tools was utilised. These included measures of carer psychological well-being, burden, social support, perceived benefits of taking part in a support group and 'survival' of the care-giving experience (to assess the impact of support group participation on the institutionalisation of the patient).

Evidence relating to effectiveness: Toseland and Rossiter's (1989) literature review of support groups concluded that no clear link could be established between support groups and carer experience across a range of outcome measures. In the period since then, none of the studies using standard outcome measures reported any findings to contradict this conclusion, with the exception of one study ¹³ of members of the Alliance for the Mentally III that reported lower levels of carer burden compared with non-members. In contrast, there have been a number of qualitative studies of support groups that reveal the positive aspects of group involvement, such as emotional support. importance of sharing experience. and helping carers to cope with their situation and develop a more positive outlook ^{89; 91; 123; 161}.

Some studies have addressed the question of who might benefit from support groups. Reported findings suggest that carers in most distress ⁵¹ and carers most dissatisfied with their role ⁹¹ have most to gain from support groups, while members of self-help groups in the USA were more likely to be white, highly educated and higher up the socioeconomic scale ⁸. One of the studies of support groups for carers of people with schizophrenia concluded that support groups needed to be aware of how carers' needs changed over time and how these shifts might affect support group effectiveness ¹⁷³. It might be argued that this conclusion is relevant to all forms of support groups for carers of people with mental health problems.

In sum, there does not appear to be any conclusive evidence regarding the effectiveness of support groups for carers of people with mental health problems. Although qualitative work has identified some of the positive aspects of group involvement, and reported satisfaction with such services is high, findings across a range of standard outcome measures do not indicate any significant change in carer experience.

Economic aspects: No study addressing the economic aspects of either mutual support or social activity groups was identified.

UK studies: There was just one UK study in this category ¹⁶¹. This was a questionnaire evaluation of a small support group for relatives of people with chronic mental illness living in the community.

Gaps in the research: The gap between standardised outcomes and levels of satisfaction with support groups suggests that there is need for greater understanding of the dynamics of group involvement for carers. In particular, the different content of these groups requires closer examination, with perhaps some experimental work with different subgroups of carers. Evidence is weak in terms of understanding the point at which support groups might help carers and the preventive elements of support groups have not been studied. Two areas of interest have emerged, however. First, there is some support for the view that a multi-functional support group could be devised that could embrace the 'progression' that carers and their relatives experience that might overcome the problem that highly focused support groups lose their efficacy for some carers over time. Secondly, the study ⁸⁹ that was based on alternative models of carer stress using 'affiliated-individuation' theories reported more positive outcomes for carers ⁸⁹ than those based on measuring burden, distress etc. on standard measures.

These findings suggest that research needs to adopt a more dynamic and theoretical approach to support groups and that existing outcome measures may be inadequate. More attention should be paid to the qualitative aspects of support group participation and the needs of different carers dealing with different stages of mental illness, and more experimentation with different forms of support groups needs to be undertaken.

4.5 Counselling (N = 9)

Study identification code numbers	45, 46, 47, 67, 74, 95, 115, 207, 249
(see Table 10 in Appendix 4)	
Care recipient group	AD and dementia (7), schizophrenia (1), other serious mental illness (1) $% \left(1,1,2,2,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,$
Setting	USA (6), UK (1), Australia (1), Canada (1)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcomes measures (9), programme evaluation/satisfaction surveys (1)

Interventions: Of the nine articles focusing on counselling interventions for carers, three papers ^{45; 46; 47} were about the same counselling programme implemented in the USA. This particular programme included individual and

family counselling, the continuous availability of ad hoc counselling as well as support group participation. Other programmes also had two or more major components – for instance, education, the development of coping strategies, or problem solving. Some of the programmes implemented features of particular models of stress management models or problem-solving therapy. Counselling in some studies took place in the home in the absence of the patient.

Sample sizes: Only two studies ^{115; 207} had fewer than 45 participants. The study sample in the largest inquiry ^{45; 46; 47} totalled 206 carers, divided equally between the treatment and control group.

Participants: One of the interventions ^{45/46/47} focused specifically on spouse carers; participants were mainly aged 60 and above. The majority were for people with Alzheimer's disease or other form of dementia.

Research methods: All the studies used quantitative methods, involving preand post-test measures. The majority used a control group for comparison. There were some longitudinal studies assessing the effects over time of the intervention. In one piece of research ^{45; 46; 47}, carers were followed for as long as patients were still alive, which meant up to eight years' regular follow-up in some cases. One paper ⁶⁷ documented a re-analysis of data from a previously reported intervention study comparing individual and family counselling with support groups using the method of prediction analysis.

Outcomes: A range of outcomes was investigated. These included carer stress, burden, depression, knowledge and health as well as the (long-term) effectiveness of the intervention in postponing or preventing nursing home placement.

Evidence relating to effectiveness: The range of outcome measures and lack of comparability across studies make it difficult to identify any clear messages regarding the effectiveness of counselling for carers of people with mental health problems. Two studies report that counselling had no effect on carer burden ^{95; 249} compared with control groups. The effect of counselling on psychiatric symptoms among carers is mixed. Researchers ^{95; 249} report no effect on psychiatric symptoms or psychological distress respectively. Others ⁴⁵ report reduced depression among carers using counselling services, and yet others ⁶⁷ found counselling to be successful in reducing personal role strain. The findings do suggest that some benefits might accrue to carers undertaking counselling, although whether these benefits are significantly greater than those achieved through other kinds of interventions remains unclear.

There is some evidence that counselling for carers might delay or postpone long-term institutionalisation ²⁰⁷, particularly during the early and middle stages of dementia ^{46; 47}.

Only one of the studies reported findings for carers other than those caring for someone with dementia, and this found no differences in outcome measures of negative aspects of care giving ⁷⁴.

The evidence with regard to counselling services is patchy and incomplete. Although there is no evidence to suggest counselling has negative

consequences for carers, neither is there any evidence to suggest that on its own this form of intervention can produce significant positive effects.

Economic aspects: No study addressing the economics of counselling interventions was identified.

UK studies: The one UK study ¹¹⁵ comprised a comparative study of two different methods of counselling carers of elderly people with dementia. Carers were randomly assigned to one of the three groups: short-term emotional support; information provision; no-treatment control group. The interventions were carried out in carers' own homes over a period of 18 weeks.

Gaps in the research: There are clearly gaps in evidence regarding the effectiveness of counselling services for carers. However, it remains unclear how far these gaps in knowledge should be filled by studies that focus specifically on counselling and how far this form of intervention should be studied alongside 'packages of care' of which counselling is perhaps only one strand. It is therefore possible that research should engage with the ways in which counselling can enhance or add value to other forms of intervention.

4.6 Telephone and computer-based services (N = 16)

Study identification code numbers	25, 26, 38, 62, 63, 94, 97, 98, 133, 134, 136, 152, 170, 242, 284, 288
(see Table 11 in Appendix 4)	
Care recipient group	AD and dementia (16), schizophrenia (0), other serious mental illness (0)
Setting	USA (16)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcomes measures (12), programme evaluation/satisfaction surveys (2)

Interventions: Some 16 articles evaluated two types of technology-based interventions: the computer (n = 10) and the telephone (n = 6).

Between 1991 and 1998, nine papers ^{26; 94; 97; 98; 133; 134; 152; 242; 288} had been published on the same intervention: ComputerLink, a specialised computer network designed to provide carers of people with Alzheimer's disease with information, communication and decision support. The Electronic Encyclopaedia function of ComputerLink included over 200 pages of information relevant to Alzheimer's disease, and was designed to help carers enhance self-care, understand illness-specific issues and promote home-based management. The communication area allowed for public and private communication among users. In the decision support module, English-language questions guided users in an analysis of a self-defined decision problem. This function was intended to enable users to focus on the values and trade-offs that may occur during difficult choices, and to make choices that best meet their own personal values.

The various articles reported a wide range of aspects of using ComputerLink. One paper ²⁸⁸ focused on the three principal functions of the system, and discussed the results obtained by using standard instruments to examine the

effects of ComputerLink on the confidence and skill of carers in relation to decision making, and social isolation. Issues looked at in other articles included: whether ComputerLink affected carers' use of support groups for family members ¹⁵²; whether the use of a computer network fostered collaboration among carers, and between carers and health care professionals ²⁶; and attitudes towards, and usage of, ComputerLink ⁹⁸. The first ComputerLink project was designed to reach people with AIDS, and one article ⁹⁷ compared the use patterns of people with AIDS with those of carers of people with Alzheimer's disease.

The one remaining computer-related study ¹⁷⁰ analysed the content and themes contained in over 500 messages posted on a public Internet Alzheimer Mailing List, as well as patterns of use.

The telephone-based interventions that were studied provided carers with peer network support, counselling, self-help and information. Two ^{25; 62} of the six papers discussed the same intervention: Care-Line, the Caregiver Phone Network for carers of Alzheimer's patients. Care-Line was a model self-help telephone programme with two components: peer telephone network, and telephone informational lectures on Alzheimer's disease. One article ⁶² concentrated on a comparison of the two different programme components and the impact of both components over time, while the other ²⁵ looked at the effect of Care-Line on carers' natural supports.

Sample sizes: The smallest sample size comprised four women in a study ¹³⁶ looking at the efficacy of short-term telephone counselling, and the largest was 104 ³⁸. With the exception of the comparison study, all the ComputerLink studies had a total sample of 96 carers, made up of 47 carers in the intervention group and 49 in the control group. The study ¹⁷⁰ examining the Alzheimer Mailgroup analysed the contents of 532 messages.

Participants: A minority of interventions focused on main carers. In nearly all the studies, carer participants were predominantly women. Patient groups were people with Alzheimer's disease or other form of dementia. One study ⁹⁷ of ComputerLink compared use patterns of carers of persons with Alzheimer's disease with use patterns of patients (people living with AIDS), and analysed the results separately.

Research methods: All the studies adopted quantitative methods. They varied in terms of the length of the intervention, most ranging from 12 weeks to one year. About one-quarter of the studies conducted pre- and post-intervention tests. None of the studies incorporated any longer-term follow-up.

Outcomes: A wide range of outcomes was investigated, including decisionmaking confidence and skill, carer burden, care-related strain, stress and depression. Additionally, studies looked at outcomes regarding attitudes towards the use of a computer network, the promotion of collaboration, social support, knowledge about Alzheimer's disease, and patterns and rates of usage.

Evidence relating to effectiveness: The authors report a range of potentially effective aspects of both computer- and telephone-based interventions,

although overall the evidence to support the effectiveness of these remote interventions is limited. Analysis of the use of computer-based interventions suggest that these have been most widely used as a means of communication and discussion between carers ^{26; 133; 134} as well as offering carers access to information ¹⁷⁰. Evidence regarding the effectiveness of these interventions is more limited. While one study ²⁸⁸ found that care-giver confidence in decision making increased, skill in decision making did not change. Neither was ComputerLink associated with reductions in perceived social isolation. Later analysis of ComputerLink identified reduced levels of carer strain for some carers who used ComputerLink (those with more informal support and for spouse carers). The authors conclude that ComputerLink may be most effective as a supplemental source of support but that it cannot substitute for a failed informal system ⁹⁴.

Evidence regarding the effectiveness of telephone-based interventions is similarly limited. Where interventions such as counselling or training were provided over the telephone, authors report some effectiveness such as: decrease in depressive symptoms ⁶³; reduction in stress and burden ²⁸⁴; and increases in life satisfaction and use of social support ⁶³. Telephone help-lines and networks appeared to have a positive impact in relation to information and social support ^{25; 38; 62}, although the long-term benefits of these are not clear, since peer telephone networks appeared to have greater effectiveness in the short term (three months) than in the longer term (six months) ⁶².

Economic aspects: One study ²⁴² addressed the cost implications of ComputerLink, details of which are given above. The authors found a one per cent difference in the rate of institutionalisation between the two groups over the two-year study period. As a result, the mean cost of the intervention group, which included the cost of setting up and running ComputerLink, was lower than that of the control group and the authors concluded that ComputerLink was cost-saving.

No economic analysis of telephone-based interventions was found.

UK studies: None of the studies reported had taken place in the UK.

Gaps in the research: Many authors cite the positive aspects of computer and telephone support in relation to carers living in remote geographical areas, people who are home-bound, and people who lack other forms of support locally. However, none of these groups has been the subject of research in its own right to examine the effectiveness of such services on potentially isolated carers.

Given the increasing interest in computer- and Internet-based services, there is clearly a need for research to consider the effectiveness of these kinds of services. However, this kind of research should acknowledge the different kinds of mechanisms through which computer-based interventions may be effective and examine differences between their use as a substitution for formal and informal support, as well as the ways in which they can supplement the use of existing services.

Telephone-based interventions can take a variety of forms and more comparative work to determine what kinds of interventions are most effectively provided in this way needs to be undertaken.

4.7 Domiciliary care services (N = 4)

Study identification code numbers	124, 130, 269, 283
(see Table 12 in Appendix 4)	
Care recipient group	AD and dementia (4)
Setting	UK (3), Netherlands (1)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcomes measures (1), programme evaluation/satisfaction surveys (3)

Interventions: Two ^{130; 269} of the four articles documented the same intervention, an augmented domiciliary service in north-east London. Two care assistant staff were employed to provide practical and emotional help, as well as information and advice, to the principal carer. The service was tailored to individual need, and based on a comprehensive assessment by a project manager. The keynote of the service was flexibility and continuity of care to meet the changing needs of both care recipient and carer. Another study ²⁸³ examined the Support and Stay scheme in West Glamorgan where (unqualified) nursing assistants performed a variety of tasks, including helping care recipients with personal care tasks, checking that they were taking prescribed medication, taking them to hospital for an outpatient appointment, and sitting with a patient while the carer had a short break.

The fourth study ¹²⁴, undertaken in the Netherlands, was of a support programme provided by home helps. The programme consisted of practical and emotional support, intended to strengthen the main carer's sense of competence and feeling of being able to care for the dementia patient at home.

Sample sizes: The study sample in the evaluation of the augmented domiciliary service ^{130; 269} comprised 38 patient-carer pairs; the sample size in the other UK study ²⁸³ was unclear. The Netherlands' study ¹²⁴ reported the findings of secondary analysis on the experimental group only (49 pairs). In the original study, however, 138 patient-carer pairs had been assigned to either the experimental or control group.

Participants: In all four studies, participants included carers of people with dementia. There were some instances of samples consisting of patient-carer dyads ^{130; 269; 124}.

Research methods: All the studies used quantitative methods, control groups and pre- and post-tests, with the exception of one ²⁸³ which employed a post-intervention survey only.

Outcomes: Studies examined carers' sense of competence, coping, perceptions of whether they could continue to care for their relative at home without the support of the service in question, and levels of satisfaction.

Evidence relating to effectiveness: The evidence suggests that provision of domiciliary care can postpone or reduce permanent institutionalisation. Domiciliary care may therefore be a useful additional service alongside other interventions for carers, which may help with overall coping and perceived levels of burden.

Economic aspects: No economic study addressing domiciliary care services was identified.

UK studies: See above.

Gaps in the research: Research examining the extent to which support tailored to individual needs can be built into 'packages' of care, to enhance carers' ability to cope, would be valuable.

4.8 Physical environment (N = 3)

Study identification code numbers	178, 183, 187
(see Table 13 in Appendix 4)	
Care recipient group	AD and dementia (3), schizophrenia (0), other serious mental illness (0)
Setting	USA (3)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcomes measures (2)

Interventions: Two of the articles ^{183; 187} shared the same co-authors, and related to interventions involving five 90-minute home visits by occupational therapists. The aim was to provide physical and social environmental modifications and education in order to help carers modify their living space to address specific aspects of daily care that were perceived as problematic – for example, bathing or dressing. Likewise, the third study ¹⁷⁸ assessed the needs of carers and the person supported in the home, and identified target areas for interventions that were then implemented.

Sample sizes: There were 25 patient-carer pairs in one of the studies ¹⁷⁸, compared with 171 carers in another ¹⁸³. The total number of participants was not given in the third study ¹⁸⁷, which presented the findings in the form of one detailed case study.

Participants: All three studies in this group focused on primary carers of people with Alzheimer's disease or other dementia. One study ¹⁷⁸ used carer-patient dyads.

Research methods: Two of the studies^{178; 183} adopted quantitative methods; just one ¹⁸³ used a control group. Measures were taken at baseline and at follow-up evaluations. Detailed information about study methods and outcomes for the third study ¹⁸⁷ was not given (readers were referred elsewhere).

Outcomes: Studies focused on the effectiveness of interventions in the home environment, as well as carer well-being in terms of self-efficacy and upset in managing dementia behaviours. Patient outcomes relating to behavioural problems and levels of dependency were also examined.

Evidence relating to effectiveness: There is only modest evidence regarding the effectiveness of interventions for carers based on improvements or changes to the physical environment. The provision of equipment in the home was moderately effective in terms of continuing use by carers ¹⁷⁸ although the research did not address whether such provision reduced negative aspects of caring for carers. The Occupational Therapy programme ¹⁸⁷ was successful in changing carer attitudes towards dealing with problems with patients, but again this study does not report on the long-term benefits of problem solving in terms of carer experience. The study ¹⁸³ of occupational therapy interventions based on environmental change did not identify any significant improvement on outcome measures except for a modest impact on burden and evidence of fewer declines in instrumental activities of daily living among the experimental group. However, this study was of interest because it did consider the differential impact of the intervention on different carers, leading the authors to conclude that such interventions might be effective for female, African American and spouse carers, but that it would require adapting for use with male and non-spouse carers. These findings reflect the importance of identifying differences between carers in relation to the effectiveness of interventions.

Although there is limited evidence to support the effectiveness of interventions geared towards changes in the physical environment, this is a generally underresearched area.

Economic aspects: None of the three studies reported the economic implications of changes in physical environment upon carers.

UK studies: None of the studies reported had taken place in the UK.

Gaps in the research: The effectiveness of these interventions in terms of carer experience requires further investigation. Research should also pay attention to the different needs of subgroups of carers and patients with regard to these kinds of interventions and focus more specifically on the long-term effectiveness of services and how far they can be seen to reduce permanent institutionalisation and enhance carer coping ability.

4.9 Supporting carers through memory clinics (N = 2)

Study identification code numbers	138, 190
(see Table 14 in Appendix 4)	
Care recipient group	AD and Dementia (2), schizophrenia (0), other serious mental illness (0)
Setting	UK (1), Australia (1)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcomes measures (2)

Interventions: The UK study ¹⁹⁰ looked at the effects on carer well-being and patient memory of an early intervention with people with dementia and their families in a memory clinic. The Australian study ¹³⁸ similarly investigated the

impact of a memory clinic on the psychosocial health status and burden of carers of people with cognitive impairment.

Sample sizes: The UK study ¹⁹⁰ involved 30 patient-carer pairs. There were 50 patient-carer pairs in the Australian research ¹³⁸.

Participants: Both studies gathered data from carers supporting people with dementia. The Australian study's ¹³⁸ sample comprised mainly older women. The UK research ¹⁹⁰ also involved interventions with key workers.

Research methods: Both studies had control groups, and used a repeated measures design including follow-up at 12 months in one case ¹³⁸, and 18 months in the other ¹⁹⁰. The UK study ¹⁹⁰ used different methods to collect information. As well as administering standard measures, qualitative data were obtained through case notes, a self-report questionnaire, and interviews with key workers and participant carers and families.

Outcomes: The researchers investigated outcomes in relation to carer wellbeing, depression, burden and psychosocial health-related quality of life (including social interaction, alertness behaviour, emotional behaviour, sleep and rest, and recreation and pastimes).

Evidence relating to effectiveness: The effectiveness of attendance at memory clinics for carers is of interest because it points the way to exploring more fully how interventions aimed at the patient might impact on carer wellbeing. In both cases, studies report improved carer well-being ¹⁹⁰ and psychosocial health-related quality of life ¹³⁸. However, neither of the studies reported any improvement in carer burden or knowledge of dementia after the intervention. This might be expected if the carer perceives the memory clinic as an intervention for the patient and any benefits accruing to the carer are understood to be related to assistance and services for the person they care for.

Economic aspects: No economic study addressing the economic aspects of memory clinics was identified. However, one study ¹⁹⁶ compared a ten-day intensive training programme for carers with a memory-training programme for carers. Details of this study are reported in Section 4.2 (under 'Training') above.

UK studies: See above.

Gaps in the research: Memory clinic research is more developed in relation to services for people with mental health problems. It would be of interest to consider other interventions aimed specifically at the patient to examine the outcomes for carers, and how these services can be developed in ways that maximise effectiveness for both carer and patient.

4.10 Multidimensional approaches to caring interventions (N = 15)

Study identification code numbers	29, 41, 52, 119, 127, 169, 171, 176, 203, 208, 238, 239, 260, 267, 268
(see Table 15 in Appendix 4)	
Care recipient group	AD and dementia (11); schizophrenia (2); other serious mental illness (2)
Setting	USA (6), UK (4), Canada (4), Spain (1)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcomes measures (12), programme evaluation/satisfaction surveys (1)

Interventions: Some four papers ^{171; 208; 238; 239} were written about one US service, Medicare Alzheimer's Disease Demonstration (MADD). This was a randomised three-year study that assessed the effect of providing expanded community-based services, case management and carer support services at two different levels of resource (one higher than the other). Carers were given access to education and training about Alzheimer's disease and related topics, through case managers and support groups. Case managers also assisted in determining an appropriate service package to meet clients' needs, coordinated formal assistance and monitored the quality of services provided by demonstration service providers. Another piece of research ¹²⁷ undertaken in the USA evaluated a multi-site family support demonstration project in Massachusetts that provided support services such as respite, support groups, educational groups, patient companion programmes and outreach to the families of people with serious mental illness.

The Caregiver Support Program, located in Ontario, Canada, was the subject of two separate articles ^{29; 203}. This intervention consisted of carer-focused health care, education about dementia and care giving, assistance with problem solving, regularly scheduled in-home respite, and a self-help family carer support group.

The four UK studies ^{41; 176; 260; 268} are discussed in more detail below. Three provided early intervention, in two cases ^{41; 268} for people with Alzheimer's disease or other form of dementia, and in the third case ¹⁷⁶ for young people between the ages of 16 and 25 experiencing psychosis.

Sample sizes: The study samples in three studies ^{41; 52; 176} numbered 37 or less. At the other extreme, the total demonstration sample in MADD ^{171; 208; 238; 239} included 8138 individuals, who received a baseline assessment. For technical reasons, some clients were excluded from the analyses in the various articles but even so numbers were still in the order of over 5000.

Participants: Study participants included carers, carer-patient pairs, families and relatives and, in one study ¹⁷⁶, professionals (including consultant psychiatrists and occupational therapists). Some interventions focused on primary carers. Samples often comprised female carers rather than male carers.

Two interventions were for younger people with schizophrenia: in one case, 18-30-year-olds ¹⁶⁹ and in the other 16-25-year-olds ¹⁷⁶.

Research methods: The majority of the studies used quantitative, repeated measures. Four ^{41; 127; 169; 268} used mixed methods, and just one ¹⁷⁶ adopted a qualitative approach. Over half had a control group. Follow-ups varied, from 12 months to up to 36 months.

Outcomes: Studies examined outcomes relating to carer stress, burden, depression, quality of life and support networks. Institutionalisation rates were analysed, and programme evaluations undertaken.

Evidence relating to effectiveness: The development of multidimensional approaches to carer services should provide opportunities for the positive aspects of different interventions to be combined as well as producing additional benefits. The studies included here do not support this, however. Generally, the studies report positive outcomes along one dimension or another, but there is little evidence that providing multidimensional approaches produces any 'added value'. The most comprehensive evaluation, of the MADD project in the USA, found small improvements in burden and depression in some sites, but no change when all the cases were combined ²³⁸. One UK study ²⁶⁸ found no evidence that the interventions provided were associated with improved outcomes for people with dementia or their carers. The reported findings are therefore inconclusive with regard to the effectiveness of multidimensional approaches to services for carers.

Economic aspects: Four of the studies ^{203, 208, 260; 268} of multidimensional approaches reported an economic analysis. All four studies addressed elderly patients with dementia, and one study ²⁶⁰ included elderly individuals with any type of psychiatric disorder.

All but one of the studies ²⁶⁸ included some type of break from caring in the package of care. Three studies ^{208; 260; 203} offered in-home respite. All studies except one ²⁶⁰ included some form of educational intervention, and support groups ^{203; 208} or changes to the physical environment ^{208; 260} were offered in two studies each.

Findings on cost-effectiveness were mixed. Two studies, which differed both in sample size and setting, found that the interventions were not cost-effective. The US study ²⁰⁸ reported that carers appeared to have substituted the intervention services for those already used. The other study ²⁶⁸, based in the UK, reported higher use of residential and nursing home placements in the intervention group, which resulted in higher costs. The second UK study ²⁶⁰ found that low-frequency packages of care were cost-effective relative to usual care, while the Canadian trial ²⁰³ reported a cost-per-QALY that compared favourably with other health care interventions.

UK studies: One study ¹⁷⁶ evaluated TIME, an occupational therapy initiative for young people experiencing psychosis. It offered a range of (unspecified) interventions on an individual, family or group basis. An individual programme of therapy was developed in collaboration with each client and, when appropriate, their family. Another study ⁴¹ evaluated SPECAL, a dementia care service.

Service components included the 'Friday Group' with 24-hour care for clients and carers, the use of a day unit and the provision of carer support services, supported respite care, a range of home-based care, and preparation towards the transition into institutional care.

The third study ²⁶⁸ evaluated whether early, appropriate interventions would be associated with better outcomes. Study participants received either an intervention from a project dementia care specialist or usual primary care treatment. An option appraisal of services for elderly people with psychiatric disorders was reported in the last study ²⁶⁰. This involved identifying and measuring both the costs and the benefits involved in alternative care packages for different condition groups. Consideration was also given to costs and benefits from the point of view of carers.

Gaps in the research: There is clearly a need for multidimensional service provision to be evaluated more thoroughly than has been the case so far. Multi-site, multi-perspective and multidisciplinary research is required to successfully evaluate the effectiveness of multidimensional services. In particular, attention should be given to the 'added value' provided by comprehensive service planning and delivery as well as the extent to which these services can succeed in developing a range of services that reflect and respond to the diversity of carer experience.

4.11 Miscellaneous (N = 8)

Study identification code numbers	27, 28, 163, 166, 167, 177, 232, 250
(see Table 16 in Appendix 4)	
Care recipient group	AD and dementia (6), schizophrenia (0), other serious mental illness (2)
Setting	USA (3), Canada (2), UK (2), Italy (1)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcomes measures (5), programme evaluation/satisfaction surveys (4)

Interventions: One of the US studies ¹⁶⁷ was a qualitative case study of one carer's experience of the amount, type and impact of formal community support services. In the second study ²⁷, participants were randomly assigned to one of four interventions or a waiting list control group. The interventions included a cognitive stimulation programme for the carer-patient pair, dyadic counselling with each pair, dual supportive seminar groups for the carer and patient, and an early-stage day care programme that provided respite care and education/training for the carer and a social environment or activities for the person supported. The third study ²⁵⁰ comprised a two-year demonstration project ²⁵⁰ in Minnesota, USA, providing outreach services to the patient's home and offering crisis placement services in a specialised unit.

A study ²⁸ from Canada evaluated a Network Therapy programme with spouse carers of people with dementia. A network therapist worked on a one-to-one basis with carers to establish goals aimed at increasing existing levels of informal and formal support. The other Canadian study ¹⁶⁶ compared carers who

used (prescribed) psychotropic drugs with carers who were non-users in order to identify differences in coping styles between the two groups.

One of the UK studies ¹⁶³ assessed an initiative involving specially designed documentation intended for multidisciplinary, multi-agency use, and to be kept by the carer at home. The carer, and other professionals, contributed to the document, which could be shown to the GP, hospital or day care centre if necessary. In this way, the record served as a link between carer and professionals; at the same time, the carer was better informed regarding the care of the person supported. The second study ²³², discussed in more detail below, evaluated a UK-based assertive outreach programme, the Daily Living Programme (DLP).

The study from Italy ¹⁷⁷ compared an established home hospitalisation service (HHS) for elderly patients with advanced dementia with patients in a general medical ward. The HHS enabled diagnostic and therapeutic interventions, usually performed in hospital, to be carried out at home. The researchers were interested in the impact on carer stress levels and the requirement for long-term institutional care.

Sample sizes: Two studies ^{28; 167} had very small samples, of seven or fewer. Some 103 carer-patient pairs took part in the study ²⁷ comparing four different treatment programmes. Some 194 carers participated in the largest study ¹⁶⁶, which examined psychotropic drug use research ¹⁶⁶.

Participants: One study was specifically for spouse carers ²⁸. Women carers, rather than men, were the main study participants. There was one intervention for people with advanced dementia ¹⁷⁷, and another for people in the mild to moderate stages ²⁷. Community mental health members also took part in the evaluation study of carer-held records.

Research methods: Four studies ^{27; 177; 232; 250} were quantitative, two ^{28; 163} used a mixed-methods approach, and there was one ¹⁶⁷ qualitative study. One study ¹⁶⁶ undertook secondary analysis of an earlier piece of research. About half of the studies adopted a repeated measures approach.

Outcomes: Not surprisingly given the diversity of the studies in this category, outcomes were similarly varied. The more common ones included stress appraisal, psychological well-being and social support.

Evidence relating to effectiveness: Five of these interventions reported some degree of effectiveness ranging from a reduction in depressive symptoms through cognitive stimulation ²⁷ to carer empowerment ^{163;167}. It is the innovative approach that these interventions represent that is of most interest, particularly the work ¹⁶³ on care plan documentation packs and Network Therapy ²⁸. Although the former ¹⁶³ required some redesigning in the light of users' comments, carers generally felt the packs to be a positive step in their caring role. The outcomes from the Network Therapy approach ²⁸ suggested that carers were drawing on additional assistance from extra carers and that they were using formal services more and more often.

Economic aspects: Two studies ^{232; 250} in this category addressed the costeffectiveness of assertive outreach for patients. One study ²³² evaluated a UK-

based assertive outreach programme, the Daily Living Programme (DLP). The DLP was home-based care, consisting of 24-hour, 7-days-a-week access to care (including access to a walk-in emergency clinic) provided by a multidisciplinary team; carer support was part of the package. Patients with severe mental illness were randomly assigned to either DLP, or to DLP and then standard care, or to standard hospital care; follow-up was four years in duration. Little between-group difference in clinical outcomes was found, but both patients' and relatives' satisfaction levels were significantly higher in the DLP group. The DLP was found to be more cost-effective than hospital-based care in the short term (20 months), but the advantage disappeared over the second phase (30–45 months).

The second study ²⁵⁰ that addressed cost issues was the two-year demonstration project ²⁵⁰ in Minnesota, USA. The patients in this study were primarily those with mental retardation, but over 80 per cent suffered concurrent psychiatric illness. The control group was hypothetical and constructed using expert opinion on resource use by the intervention group in the absence of the demonstration project, combined with data on a small sample of patients unable to access the services over the study period. The study concluded that the intervention was cost-saving.

UK studies: Details of the only UK study ²³² are reported in the 'Economic aspects' section above.

Gaps in the research: These studies reflect the importance of developing innovative approaches to working with carers and experimental projects that allow the effectiveness of these approaches to be developed and studied.

Section 5 Economic aspects of interventions to support carers

This section reports on the 13 studies with an economic component that were included in the review. The study selection is outlined first, as a preliminary to documenting the main part of the analysis. For the sake of consistency, we use the same format and headings that were applied to each of the intervention categories in the Section 4.

5.1 Inclusion criteria for economic evaluations

The search strategy outlined in the methods section yielded 130 hits. These were reviewed and 50 excluded as being not relevant to the study question, in line with the criteria outlined in Section 2 Methods section. Eighty references were retrieved. Multiple references to the same study (6), those without any costs (21), references that could not be retrieved within the time scale of the study (14) and studies in which no intervention was considered (4) were excluded. Literature reviews and burden of illness studies (16) were used to inform the methodology section, but were excluded from the list of studies. No systematic review or meta-analysis was found. One study included no measure of effectiveness (Kirchner *et al.*, 2000), three studies were uncontrolled (Cox and Reifler, 1994; Melzer, 1990; Reifler *et al.*, 1999) and two did not estimate the cost of the intervention (Roberts *et al.*, 1999; Weinberger *et al.*, 1993). The remaining 13 studies that could be classified as economic evaluations were reviewed and a overview table of findings is presented below. (For a more detailed summary table, see Appendix 5.)

5.2 Studies with an economic component (N = 13)

Study identification code numbers	196, 200, 201, 203, 208, 232, 242, 250, 260, 261, 263, 268, 274
(see Appendix 5)	
Condition group	AD and dementia (5), schizophrenia (2), other serious mental illnesses (6)
Setting	UK (6), USA (4), Australia (1), Canada (1), Netherlands (1)
Main measures of effectiveness	Standard outcomes measures (7)

Interventions: Types of interventions included in the economic studies included three family intervention studies ^{274; 261; 263} and breaks from caring, comprising one study of day care services ²⁰⁰ and one of mixed respite services ²⁰¹. Educational strategies ¹⁹⁶ and technological interventions ²⁴² were addressed by one study each. Four studies were of multidimensional interventions and all focused on patients with dementia, although one ²⁶⁰ had a

wider scope, examining elderly patients with any type of psychiatric disorder. A Canadian study ²⁰³ included a care-giver support programme, comprising oneto-one educational visits by a nurse, in-home respite and an invitation to join a support group. A study ²⁰⁸ set in the USA examined the impact of a case management and community care package, including education and training, support groups, day care services, home help, equipment supply, and counselling services. The two UK studies of multidimensional interventions were an option appraisal exercise that examined the impact of differing resource levels of packages of care ²⁶⁰ and a psychosocial intervention by a dementia specialist, including the provision of information and support ²⁶⁸. Two studies were classified under the 'Miscellaneous' category. Both reported on assertive outreach programmes for persons with severe mental illness ²³² or mental retardation ²⁵⁰, but one of the studies ²³² included support and education for carers.

Studies of single interventions for which no economic analysis could be found included studies addressing respite care (in-home or in an institution), educational strategies other than formal training, counselling, changes in physical environmental, and support or social groups. Although no study addressing memory clinics was found, a memory retraining programme served as a control group in one study ¹⁹⁶.

Sample sizes: Sample units employed in the studies fell into three categories. Three focused on client-carer pairs: these ranged in size from 50 to 102 pairs. Seven studies enrolled patients: the smallest contained 36 patients ²⁷⁴ and the largest study included an assessment of over 5000 patients ²⁰⁸. Where the number of carers was specified, fewer carers than patients were assessed and it was unclear if all patients in the studies actually had a carer. Two studies enrolled carers, with sample sizes ranging from 60 ²⁰³ to 73 ²⁶¹. One study was an option appraisal exercise and enrolled no actual patients or carers ²⁶⁰.

Participants: Study participants could be classified under two broad diagnostic categories. Firstly, there are studies of elderly patients with psychiatric disorders. This included Alzheimer's disease (two studies), dementia in general (two studies) or mental infirmity (EMI) (two studies). In the latter group, one study reported patients as suffering from senile or arteriosclerotic dementia (69 per cent), depression (9 per cent), and mania (3 per cent) or acute confusional state (3 per cent) ²⁰¹. Secondly, there were studies of severe mental illness. These included people with schizophrenia (2) and 'acute psychiatric illness' (1), comprising people with diagnoses of schizophrenia, depression and neurosis ²⁰⁰. One study of patients with mental retardation reported that 82 per cent had diagnosed psychiatric co-morbidity, including schizophrenia, other psychotic disorders, personality disorders, mood disorders and impulse control disorders ²⁵⁰. Two studies involved people with a range of diagnoses. One study ²³² included people with schizophrenia, mania, neurosis and depression, and the other ²⁶³ had people with 'severe mental illness' and concurrent mild mental retardation.

Details of carer characteristics were less frequently reported, with just 6 of the 13 studies providing any details. No study of young carers was identified.

Baseline carer characteristics were reported by three of the seven studies of elderly patients with psychiatric disorders and by just one of the six studies of patients with severe mental illness ²⁷⁴. Mean carer age was reported only by the three studies of elderly patients and ranged from 65 ²⁶⁸ to 68 ^{196; 203}; five studies reported the proportion of spouse carers, two reported carer social class ^{196; 274} and three reported the proportion of female carers, which ranged from 54 per cent ¹⁹⁶ to 72 per cent ²⁰³.

Research methods: Of the 13 studies, seven were RCTs. There were two non-randomised controlled studies, one observational study and one case series study ²⁰¹. The two remaining studies were an option appraisal exercise ²⁶⁰ and a controlled before and after study ¹⁹⁶.

The duration of studies (including follow up) ranged from 6 months ^{203; 263} to 4 years ²³², 10 of the 13 studies were of at least one year in duration and six studies collected data for at least 2 years.

Outcomes: Seven of the 13 economic studies included carer- or familyspecific measures. These included carer burden or stress (four studies), family burden or stress (two studies), carer health (five studies), carer satisfaction (three studies) and quality of life (one study). One study included a measure called 'service benefits' (incorporating notions of freedom or relaxation for the carer) ²⁰¹ and another study included measures of loneliness and isolation, carer coping strategies and an assessment of social network ²⁶⁸. One study that reported multiple measures presented self-reported measures of unmet carer need for support ²⁰⁸ and another measured carer perception of patient benefit ²⁶⁰. Carer utilisation rate of support services was not reported as a measure of outcome by any of these studies.

Measures of effectiveness that involved no direct assessment of the carer were also found. The institutionalisation rate of patients was reported in five studies. One study of the effect of a family intervention, measured effectiveness by only the patient relapse rate ²⁶¹. Only one study included a measure of indirect benefits (patient earnings) ²⁷⁴.

The impact of changes in process was also evaluated. Delaying the delivery of an intervention was reported by one study ¹⁹⁶ and of switching patients from intervention to control care by another ²³². Differences in the care setting were explored by three studies ^{200; 232; 263} and differences related to the type of professional delivering support by another ²⁶⁸. A family-focused intervention was compared with a patient-focused intervention by one study ²⁷⁴.

Evidence relating to effectiveness: Six studies found no between-group differences in measures of effectiveness; five studies reported some positive findings, although two of these did not report whether these were statistically significant. In two studies, the effectiveness of the intervention was unclear: one study used estimates of benefits derived from expert opinion, rather than direct measures ²⁶⁰ and the other reported no measure of benefit for the control group ²⁵⁰.

In terms of cost-effectiveness, five studies ^{201, 232, 260, 263, 274} reported the intervention to be cost-saving, five studies ^{196; 200; 242; 250; 261} found the
intervention to be cost-effective in certain circumstances and two studies ^{206;} ²⁶⁸ found the intervention was not cost-effective. The cos-utility analysis found the intervention compared favourably with other health care interventions in terms of its cost per QALY ²⁰³ (see Section 6.2.4). Further details of the findings are reported in the main section of the literature review, classified by type of intervention.

Economic aspects: Studies qualified as economic interventions if they included measures of costs (including the cost of the intervention), measures of effectiveness and a comparison group. Thirteen studies were identified using these criteria. Of these, only one study provided a summary index of cost-effectiveness and so could be termed a full economic evaluation ²⁰³. However, where equivalence of between-group effectiveness had been demonstrated for primary outcome measures, there was no need to synthesise costs and effects. Five studies of this type – known as cost minimisation analyses – were found ^{208; 232; 242; 263; 268}. One study ²⁰³ also found equivalence of effectiveness, but an incremental cost per QALY was estimated from the change in quality of life from baseline in order to allow comparisons with alternative uses for resources to be made.

The direct costs estimated included health care costs (reported by all 13 studies), social services costs (10 studies) and criminal justice system costs (two studies). Carer utilisation rate of health services was reported by two studies ^{196; 203}. Out-of-pocket expenses were included by four studies and an attempt to estimate the direct cost of carer time was made by one study ²⁶⁰. However, the resource use implications for this category of cost were explored by a further two studies ^{201; 208}. Indirect costs were measured by two studies; in one of these, changes in productivity were included on the benefit side of the analysis ²⁷⁴.

Eight studies collected cost data prospectively; seven studies reported costs and quantities separately, allowing findings to be generalised to other settings and six of these undertook a statistical analysis of costs. It was unclear if any study was originally powered to detect statistical differences in costeffectiveness.

UK studies: Six of the 13 economic evaluations were set in the UK. Half the studies were of elderly patients with psychiatric disorders or dementia, two addressed patients with severe mental illness and the remaining study was of people with schizophrenia.

Carers of elderly patients with dementia

No RCT was identified among the UK studies for this carer-patient group. One study was an option appraisal exercise, based on evidence from the literature, expert opinion and accounting costs ²⁶⁰. Another was a case series with matched controls that included a total of 50 carer-patient dyads ²⁶⁸ and the third study also used matched controls in a case series design – this study included over 100 patients, but only 53 carers ²⁰¹. This study examined the effect of a multifaceted respite service, whereas the other two studies examined a broader package of services. Findings on effectiveness were mixed (one positive, one neutral and one unclear);

evidence for cost-effectiveness was also inconclusive and authors indicated the need for more targeted and better-designed research to determine the circumstances under which cost-effectiveness might be established.

Carers of patients with schizophrenia or other serious mental illness

Two studies were RCTs ^{232; 200} and the third was an observational study with concurrent controls ²⁶¹. The study of a Daily Living Programme (fashioned on the Australian assertive outreach model) followed a group of 136 patients over a four-year period ²³². The number of carers included in the study was unclear and the only carer-related outcome measure reported was carer satisfaction; this was found to be significantly higher in the intervention group compared with the control group which received 'standard care'. The intervention was found to be cost-effective, both in the short term (20 months) and when the whole study period of 45 months was considered, although a decline in cost-effectiveness over time was observed: no evidence of cost-effectiveness was found in the final year of the study. The authors discussed this finding in the context of an attenuation of DLP care that occurred due to adverse media publicity and that resulted in the DLP team relinquishing control of inpatient admissions and discharges.

The other two studies were of shorter durations. A one-year study compared day hospital with routine inpatient care for patients with acute psychiatric illness ²⁰⁰. Impact on carers was assessed using the General Health Questionnaire – for which no between-group difference was found – and using the Social Behaviour Assessment Schedule score as a proxy for carer burden. Using the latter measure, a statistically significant advantage for the intervention group carers was reported and the authors reported the intervention to be cost-saving. This conclusion was supported by the findings of a nine-month study comparing routine treatment with an array of family interventions, targeted at carers with high or low levels of 'expressed emotion' (EE) ²⁶¹.

A significant reduction in patients' relapse rate was found in the intervention groups, and the consequent reduction in health care costs offset the costs of the intervention.

Gaps in the research: No study focusing on either acute or chronic depression, eating disorders, anxiety disorders or substance abuse was identified. Neither were any studies of the economic implications for young carers of patients with any mental illness found. Another research gap included studies measuring key process outcomes, relating to the structure, delivery and organisation of services. Studies of single interventions for which no economic evaluation could be found included studies addressing respite care (in-home or in an institution), educational strategies other than formal training, counselling, changes in physical environmental, and support or social groups. Few studies appeared to be powered to detect statistically significant differences in effectiveness outcomes; for economic evaluations, where quality of life measures may be employed, even larger sample sizes may be required to

detect statistically significant differences than is the case for measures of clinical effectiveness.

There is a need to identify which, and what combination of, elements in a multidimensional package are cost-effective and for whom. There is scope for further economic research in all patient groups and all interventions, with the possible exception of assertive outreach for patients with schizophrenia or other serious mental illness.

Section 6 Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness – issues for future research commissioning

This section explores some of the key issues and questions that have emerged during the scoping study in relation to effectiveness and cost-effectiveness issues for services for carers of people with mental health problems. The preceding analysis found that most of the 204 evaluation studies were experimental or quasi-experimental investigations of single interventions for carers of people with Alzheimer's disease or other dementia. Just over onequarter of studies included follow-up at three months or over; longer-term follow-up of two years and over was rare.

The majority of studies used quantitative methods, such as randomised and non-randomised controlled trials, and before-and-after (uncontrolled) studies. Most studies used standard outcome measures to evaluate effectiveness, rather than evaluated outcomes that had been informed from input by carers themselves. If appropriate 'off-the-shelf' measures were not available, researchers either devised a brand new measure using their own selfdeveloped item scales or alternatively selected relevant items from different existing measures and pooled them into a new configuration. Carer burden, stress, coping, physical health, emotional well-being, depression and knowledge levels were commonly assessed. As far as cost-effectiveness was concerned, most studies included health care costs and social services costs. Just one study valued carer time; two assessed changes in carer earnings.

This section considers how these findings can inform future research commissioning. The first part explores the concept of effectiveness and how this has been applied to studies of interventions for carers of people with mental health problems. The second part goes on to consider the concept of cost-effectiveness. Both discussions raise themes that embrace the main methodological and implementation limitations encountered in the literature review. It is important that these are taken into account when commissioning future research.

6.1 The concept of effectiveness

Defining effectiveness is complex and requires us to consider more than the outcomes of interventions. Of particular importance for this area may be the inclusion of measures of process in evaluation design. Other issues also need to be considered in designing and evaluating services, including time factors, needs-related factors, multiple perspectives, and methodological issues.

At a simple level, effectiveness can be defined as 'the extent to which a program meets its stated goals and objectives' (Schalock, 1995). Yet providing evidence for this can be complex:

The evaluation question sounds simple enough in the abstract. But what looks elementary in theory turns out in practice to be a demanding enterprise. Programs

are nowhere near as neat and accommodating as the evaluator expects. Nor are outside circumstances as passive and unimportant as [she] might like. Whole platoons of unexpected problems spring up.

(Weiss, 1972, quoted in Smith and Cantley, 1985: 1)

Thus it might be argued that one of the reasons why existing evidence regarding the effectiveness of interventions to support carers of people with mental health problems is ambiguous is that no intervention is simple. Rather, interventions are complex: they involve various stakeholders including carers, patients and professionals; they may have multiple components, any of which can be effective, either alone or in combination; carers may have differing needs or different circumstances that affect the extent to which they are able to respond to particular interventions. There may be different kinds of interventions capable of achieving the same objective and therefore effectiveness might refer to a comparison of possible alternatives to identify the best (for example in relation to cost-effectiveness).

Effectiveness should therefore not be viewed simply in terms of the achievement of outcomes. If we are to understand how and why interventions are successful, we need to develop more comprehensive approaches that embrace diversity of carer experience, some understanding of how interventions work and why, and a more open approach to the measurement of outcomes.

6.1.1 Evaluation model: process, structure and outcome

The Donabedian 'structure, process and outcome' model is a useful starting point for considering aspects of service delivery and evaluation that require further attention.

As far as 'structure' is concerned, this would involve measures of effectiveness that address a programme's framework and setting, such as the location for the intervention, service and staff (Wagner and Guild, 1989). In particular, issues of accessibility need to be considered in relation to carers' needs; for example, rural carers may not find it easy to access facilities provided in large towns or cities (see, for example, Herman *et al.*, 1996).

'Process' evaluations aim to give an understanding of how a service operates and how it produces what it does (Smith and Cantley, 1985; Ovretveit, 1998). It is argued that studying process can be useful for replicating services and finding out why something is effective (Walden and Baxter, 2001; Ovretveit, 1998), in other words, process evaluation can help to unpack the 'black box' (Patton, 1987) by showing how an intervention was delivered.

Where interventions are increasingly diverse, embracing education, support and other kinds of psychosocial interventions, it is worthwhile considering features of service implementation that can assist in identifying which components are effective. In addition to understanding more about which components are most effective, there is some agreement that knowing 'how much' of the intervention is required to achieve desired outcomes (Zarit and Leitsch, 2001; Bourgeois *et al.*, 1996) would also assist in developing services more effectively.

The notion of process also embraces issues of service utilisation levels and the degree to which the intervention has been delivered according to programme objectives (Wagner and Guild, 1989). However, it is important to bear in mind that just knowing that a service such as a telephone help-line is available can provide carers with reassurance, regardless of the level of use. Clearly the relationship between service use and overall effectiveness needs to be reconsidered in the light of carer needs (see below).

It has also been argued that interventions need to be:

... described, measured, and monitored to insure that caregivers are receiving [them] as prescribed and to permit replication of treatment effects with similar groups of caregivers.

(Bourgeois et al., 1996: 80)

This ongoing monitoring of the implementation of interventions has implications for evaluation research design where it is argued that measuring changes in outcomes for carers can occur without confirming that treatment goals, such as providing information or support, have actually been achieved (Zarit and Leitsch, 2001). Thus, ensuring that programme contents are adhered to can play an important role in establishing overall effectiveness as well as identifying factors that might affect outcomes. Consequently it is argued that implementation studies, while costly, can 'significantly enhance the replicability, generalizeability, and interpretation of future intervention research' (Bourgeois *et al.*, 1996).

In addition, it has been argued that the role of 'intervention agents' (facilitator, say, or therapist) should be given due attention in evaluation research design since the style of programme delivery could also be a factor that affects intervention outcomes (Bourgeois *et al.*, 1996).

How an intervention is implemented can consequently be seen as a factor in achieving effectiveness, and an issue that research designs need to address. It is also the case that ongoing monitoring of interventions can play an important role in ensuring that they are being delivered effectively.

Measuring outcomes is a common approach in evaluation studies of services for carers of people with mental health problems in order to examine the way in which a programme changes client attitude, behaviour or knowledge (see, for example, Wagner and Guild, 1989). Thus, measuring outcomes relies on being able to identify cause and effect (Wagner and Guild, 1989) and is most clearly demonstrated in studies that use control groups, pre- and post-test measures, experimental designs and standardised measures of outcome.

Standardised measures of outcome might focus on measuring changes in carer burden, health, stress or changes in rates of relapse etc. (Higginson, 1994). Their usefulness lies in their validity and reliability as standardised tests of behavioural or attitude change, yet there are also problems in assuming that such measures are always applicable to the unique experiences of all carers. Two main difficulties are identified in the literature, namely the problem of using generic versus specific measures and matching outcome measures to specific interventions.

It has been argued that while generic measures have the advantage that they can allow for comparison across different types of care, they should also embrace specific issues pertaining to carers (Higginson, 1994) and consequently some have argued that more work is needed on measures that are relevant to carer experience (Gallagher, 1985). Others have argued that even specific measures, such as carer burden, may be inappropriate in some circumstances (Martin-Cook *et al.*, 2000).

So it is not just that we have to use measures that are appropriate to carerrelated problems, they should also be appropriate to the intervention being evaluated. There is a view expressed that outcomes have tended to be conceptualised in global terms – such as a reduction in care-giver burden – with little consideration as to whether or not the specific intervention might produce these results (Bourgeois *et al.*, 1996; Knight *et al.*, 1993).

If the ultimate goal of effectiveness studies is to 'assess the outcome or impact of services' (St. Leger *et al.*, 1992) we need to understand how these outcomes can be measured and what factors might contribute to these outcomes beyond those included in the intervention.

While the 'structure, process, outcome' model is useful for providing us with a broad framework within which to locate some of the main issues facing both researchers and service developers, there are also some themes that appear to be particularly pertinent to the study of services for carers of people with mental health problems that we should also consider: the importance of time horizons for both study and design of interventions; the relevance of needs-based interventions; and the importance of multiple perspectives in study and design.

6.1.2 Time horizons

The changing needs of care-givers over time is an aspect of caring that is well documented in work that has considered the 'carer trajectory', yet it is unclear how far interventions and/or evaluation research have been able to embrace this diversity in needs. The existence of multidimensional interventions, often managed by a key worker, suggests that the need for support to be tailored to carer and patient needs is recognised by some service providers.

For some, the care-giver 'career' is related closely to the illness experienced by the care receiver. Zarit and Leitsch (2001: 85) argue that Alzheimer's disease, for example, brings particular issues because of its degenerative nature. The development of effective services for carers of people with mental health problems requires more consideration to be given to when an intervention is most appropriate both in terms of stage in carer career and illness progression. Similarly, in designing evaluations of these interventions, more care needs to be taken to explicate these issues in both research design and reporting of findings.

6.1.3 Needs-based interventions

One mechanism that might assist in ensuring that interventions are targeted at the 'right' carers at the 'right' time might involve a more needs-based approach to designing interventions and consequently experimental research designs. One of the difficulties in modelling this process may relate to the 'uniqueness' of each experience:

... without a thorough knowledge and understanding of individual caregivers and their unique personal and psychological histories and circumstances, interventions can only continue to be designed for the 'average' caregiver, with average results.

(Bourgeois et al., 1996: 79).

This draws attention to the importance of considering individualised interventions for carers, or at least to developing generalised services that are flexible enough to deal with individual needs. Perhaps, too, it emphasises the importance of having a key worker assigned to the carer-patient dyad, who can act as a mediator between the dyad and service providers to match demand with supply.

With regard to evaluating interventions, consideration should be given to the diversity of carer characteristics and the potentially widespread needs expressed through these. Due attention can, and should, be given to major characteristics such as relationship to person supported, gender, age, socioeconomic status, and ethnic minority status as a minimum in identifying potential factors affecting the suitability and consequent effectiveness of interventions.

6.1.4 Multiple perspectives: involving carers and care recipients

It is increasingly recognised that different stakeholder perspectives need to be included in both the design of an evaluation and in the design of interventions themselves (Walden and Baxter, 2001; Moriarty, 1999; Pollio *et al.*, 1998). Both 'pluralistic evaluations' (Smith and Cantley, 1985) and the 'fourth generation evaluation' (Guba and Lincoln, 1989) embrace this central principle. Recognising that an effective service should meet the needs or expectations of different stakeholders is a step forward in recognising that service users can play an important role in defining objectives as well as evaluating interventions.

It is possible for professionals to perceive an intervention as effective because they measure treatment effects and find these to have been achieved, while the care-giver does not necessarily view the treatment as effective. These differences stem from opposing views about what the treatment was designed to do (Bourgeios *et al.*, 1996). Increasingly, there is recognition that the aims of interventions should embrace care-givers' own expectations as well as those identified by professionals. However, these expectations need to be 'reasonable' (Zarit and Leitsch, 2001) and based on an acknowledgement that in some cases changes might be relatively minor.

It is not only carers and professionals who might be involved in this process of identifying effectiveness of services. Increasingly there is a view expressed

that the perspective of the patient is also crucial (Zarit and Leitsch, 2001: S84).

Thus, greater consideration should be given to the ways in which the notion of effectiveness is understood by all the stakeholders involved in an intervention. Arguably, a needs-based intervention that is appropriately targeted at carers at a particular stage in their caring career and one that involves them and the patient in decisions about 'what' the intervention should be and 'how' it should be delivered stands a relatively greater chance of success in the longer term.

6.1.5 Summary comments: effectiveness

This discussion has considered some of the main messages arising from the analysis of the studies included in the review. In particular, the complexity of identifying how 'effectiveness' might be understood by different stakeholders and the consequent difficulties of measuring this have been discussed. Furthermore, it has been suggested that a focus purely on outcomes in relation to effectiveness is inadequate to identify those elements of service delivery and implementation that contribute to the overall effectiveness of a service. Within these broad areas of concern, it has also been suggested that research, as well as interventions, should be more aware of carer diversity, both in terms of needs and stage of caring as well as diversity in illness and severity of illness.

A more realistic approach to evaluation methodology (see for example Pawson and Tilley, 1997) may help to overcome some of the weaknesses of outcomefocused research, although it is also true to say that intervention studies based on standardised measures and controlled experimental designs have strengths that should not be dismissed. This is an issue to which we return in the concluding discussion.

6.2 The concept of cost-effectiveness

Cost-effectiveness is a measure of value for money that combines the costs and outcomes associated with an intervention (Drummond *et al.*, 1997). In many ways, the term 'cost-effectiveness' is self-explanatory. It involves the identification and measurement of inputs (costs) and outputs (outcomes) and their synthesis. Cost-effectiveness may be expressed as a ratio, such as the cost per unit of outcome. For example, we may estimate the costs of providing a counselling service for carers of patients with Alzheimer's disease and measure the effectiveness of that intervention in terms of the reduction of carer burden or improvement in carer's mental health. By linking the cost with the effectiveness, we have a summary index of cost-effectiveness, such as the cost of reducing carer burden by one point on a particular scale.

In terms of Donabedian's structure-process-outcome model, costs are incurred in the structure and process stages of an intervention; outcomes may be assessed at either the process or the outcome stage. To determine costeffectiveness, however, the costs and outcomes associated with an alternative – or comparator – intervention must be made.

6.2.1 Determining cost-effectiveness

6.2.1.1 The role of the comparator

To estimate the cost-effectiveness of an intervention does not allow us to say that an intervention is cost-effective. To determine whether or not an intervention is cost-effective, a *comparison* must be made between the costs and outcomes associated with one intervention, relative to another. The incremental cost of the intervention, relative to the comparator, can then be combined with the incremental effect to give an incremental costeffectiveness ratio (ICER). The comparator intervention should be one appropriate to the study question and should reflect the intervention's 'opportunity cost' (see below). In the case of a new drug, the product would be compared with one or more drugs in current use in the relevant therapeutic area. In the case of an intervention to support carers of persons with mental health problems, the comparator would be usual care, with the intervention measured as an 'add-on' service. Alternatively, more than one intervention could be compared with usual care. Multiple interventions might be selected to enable the effects of different components in a package of care to be identified or to enable the effects of different process measures of the same type of intervention to be evaluated.

6.2.1.2 The treatment of costs

Alternative patterns of care may change the way costs are distributed across patients and carers, health and social services and other agencies, such as charities. Consequently, it is appropriate to assume a societal perspective when analysing costs of interventions for carers of patients with mental health problems. Failure to do so may lead to unintended and undesirable costshifting, with adverse effects upon patient outcomes.

'Cost' is a measure of the resources used, the 'inputs' that are employed to achieve defined goals. Resources are, self-evidently, 'scarce' or limited and this means that there are alternative uses for resources. The value of the maximum benefit that could be achieved by diverting resources into an alternative, rather than the actual, use is the 'opportunity cost' of the actual use. Ideally, monetary values should reflect the opportunity cost, although this is not always the case. The cost 'perspective' chosen for the analysis will dictate whose costs are to be included. The widest perspective is 'societal', whereby costs incurred by any and all sectors and individuals as a result of introducing an intervention are estimated. These sectors may include the health service, the social services, the criminal justice system and the voluntary sector; individuals include both patients and carers. Some analyses may focus only on costs incurred by one or two of these sectors. If the perspective is that of the health service, for example, then only costs incurred directly in primary or secondary care may be estimated and although costs incurred by other individuals or sectors may be acknowledged, these will not be included in the costing analysis. Clearly, the viewpoint chosen for an economic evaluation may determine the results of the analysis. If carer time, for example, is not evaluated, then an intervention that maintains the carer in a principal role may

look more cost-effective than one in which carer time is valued at market rate for formal carers ('replacement cost') (Drummond *et al.*, 1997). There are a number of advantages of conducting an analysis with a societal perspective. These include the facilities to disaggregate findings and present them from different perspectives and also to perform sensitivity analysis on costs pertaining to different sectors (such as exploring the impact of varying the cost assigned to informal care time). In addition, using a societal perspective at the outset may be less costly than adding on costs from other sectors retrospectively (Drummond and Jefferson, 1996).

6.2.2 Categories of cost

Within the chosen perspective, costs may be categorised as 'direct', 'indirect' and 'intangible'. Direct costs are organising and operating costs borne within the relevant sector. Costs borne out of pocket by patients or carers and the value of resources they contribute to the caring process are also types of direct costs. Indirect costs are the value of loss of productivity (time off work or lost income due to the caring role). This is a definition used by economists and differs from the vernacular use of 'indirect cost' to mean 'overheads'. Intangible costs are those associated with pain and suffering and are also referred to as 'psychic' costs. These are rarely included in a cost analysis, but may be presented for consideration alongside the results of an analysis or may be incorporated into a measure of benefit such as quality of life.

Even if a societal perspective is adopted, is neither always desirable nor necessary to perform a comprehensive estimate of costs. If certain categories of cost are common to both the intervention and control, then these may be excluded from the analysis. In addition, if the aim of the analysis is to identify potential cost savings that may be redeployed, then the inclusion of overheads, or 'fixed costs' may lead to unduly optimistic estimates. For example, an intervention that reduces inpatient admissions may appear to save the high costs associated with use of a hospital bed. However, most of the costs that are included in the estimate - the equipment cost of the bed, and the apportioned capital and running costs - are fixed costs: they will be incurred regardless of whether or not the bed is occupied. In addition, some 'variable' costs may be 'semi-fixed' under certain circumstances: nursing, paramedical and medical costs incurred by the health service are unlikely to change in response to short-term fluctuations in bed occupancy. If no patient occupies the empty bed, these resources are unavailable for redeployment and cannot therefore be deemed to be savings. For this reason, economic theory favours the use of 'marginal' costs, whereby the additional cost of expanding a service by one unit is estimated. This overcomes the problems associated with the inclusion of fixed costs in average costing methodology, but data availability can be problematic. One category of costs that is worthy of particular consideration in the context addressed here is that of the cost of informal care.

6.2.3 The cost of informal care

This cost may be particularly pertinent when considering the economic implications of support services for carers of people with mental health problems.

Informal care is clearly a valuable resource to society: if carers were unable or unwilling to take on this role, then replacement formal care would need to be found, funded by either the public or private sector or by both. The indirect costs of informal care for the mentally ill are likely to be long term rather than short term. Cultural and demographic trends may mean that the potential pool or supply of carers will diminish over time.

There are, however, considerable methodological difficulties associated with costing both lost productivity and informal care. Given the interplay of private (patient and carer), health and social service and other agency costs, it is inappropriate to take any other than a societal perspective when assessing the cost-effectiveness of alternative patterns of care.

Although the value of informal care is not assigned a monetary value by society, this does not mean it is of no value. From a societal perspective, its value may be recognised by considering the cost of its replacement. Should individuals be unwilling or unable to undertake the role of carer, society would have little choice but to fund formal care for patients in need. This would involve diverting resources away from other uses; the opportunity cost of those resources – the forgone benefit – determines the cost of informal care. If unemployment is high, then the opportunity cost may be lower than in a situation of 'full employment', when benefits to formal carers would have to be higher than those they currently receive in order to provide an incentive to change job. The value of the resources diverted is a measure of the cost of informal care and is known as 'replacement cost'.

From the perspective of the individual carer, the opportunity cost of caring may be understood in terms of the alternatives forgone as a result of taking on this role. Alternatives may include, firstly, employment opportunities; secondly, other unpaid work, such as caring for other family members; and thirdly, leisure activities, including holidays, social activities and relaxation.

With regard to employment opportunities, it is clear that these are not dichotomous in nature: it is not a question simply of the carer being employed or not, rather there are questions about the nature of the job, whether full- or part-time, pay levels, job flexibility and career opportunities. These will be determined both by the socio-demographic characteristics of the carer and the severity and nature of the patient's illness: for a young carer of a parent with schizophrenia or manic depression, the opportunity cost of caring in terms of lost employment opportunities could be immense. Economists call these 'indirect costs', but whether these should be valued is the subject of 'considerable debate and scepticism' (Koopmanschap *et al.*, 1995). The main objection to their inclusion is that economically active individuals' time will be valued more highly than the time of those who are economically inactive, and this may lead to an exacerbation of existing inequalities in the provision of care or support. On the other hand, the loss to society is real and may be better

treated explicitly than ignored. There is disagreement also regarding the methodology used to value lost productivity. The traditional Human Capital Approach estimates the value of *potentially* lost income and some argue that the real productivity losses to society may be considerably less. In practice, firms may have internal labour reserves or flexible forms of labour supply may be available that will overcome short-term absences. In the case of carers, however, the problem is likely to be long term and may be impossible to determine. An alternative way of estimating indirect costs is the friction cost approach (Koopmanschap *et al.*, 1995). Lost productivity level. This method would be useful for measuring the indirect costs for carers who have to reduce their hours, or change or give up jobs. It cannot assess costs associated with restrictions of job opportunity or career development.

Secondly, there are non-employment issues to consider and these will affect all carers. The alternative to informal care for the mentally ill patient may be other unpaid work, such as informal care of another type (such as minding grandchildren). In this case, the cost of the former may be taken either as the replacement cost for the latter, whether that is an indirect cost - lost productivity on the part of the parent - or a replacement cost, in terms of child-minding fees. In terms of leisure activities forgone, one possible approach found in the literature is to list the proportion of carers reporting certain types of opportunity cost, such as loss of enjoyment of retirement (Donaldson and Gregson, 1989). By then demonstrating that no statistically significant difference existed between intervention and control groups, the need to formally assign a monetary value to costs was thus obviated. Another approach is to measure the hours worked by carers in intervention and control groups (Fox et al., 2000) and then to perform statistical analysis to assess the between-group differences. Simply valuing all carer time at replacement cost differentiating between time spent physically caring (such as providing assistance with activities of daily living) and time spent supervising the patient - is an alternative approach (Spoor, 1988; Langa et al., 2001). It should also be recognised that some time would be spent in the patient's company even if the patient were well.

Whatever the methods used to value carer time, double-counting must be avoided. If productivity losses are measured, working time forgone and thus measured must not also be valued at replacement cost (Souetre *et al.*, 1999). Equally, the opportunity costs of social activities forgone must not be assigned a monetary value if they are also encapsulated in a measure of quality of life.

6.2.4 The treatment of outcomes

There are a number of forms of economic analysis, all differentiated by the method by which outcomes are estimated (Drummond *et al.*, 1997). A cost minimisation analysis (CMA) considers only costs; outcomes associated with alternative strategies are either assumed, or demonstrated, to be equivalent. Cost-effectiveness analysis (CEA) values outcomes in terms of a single measure of effectiveness. Measures of effectiveness may take the form of a single measure of clinical effectiveness – such as blood pressure or relapse

rate - or be a multidimensional measure, such as a measure of 'social support' or 'psychological well-being' (Bowling, 1997). In cost-benefit analysis (CBA) a monetary value is assigned to outcomes, sometimes by asking patients (or others) about their willingness to pay for the benefit. This allows the relative intensity of preference to be indicated (Mullen and Spurgeon, 2000). Economic evaluations of this design are rare, although it is not uncommon to find a CEA inaccurately described as a cost-benefit analysis. Cost-utility analysis has 'healthy years' as its measure of benefit (Drummond and Jefferson, 1996). This involves assigning 'utility' to benefits and there are different techniques for eliciting values, including time trade-off, standard gamble and conjoint analysis (Mullen and Spurgeon, 2000). The value of the effects of an intervention may be rated on a scale from 0 (death) to 1 (perfect health) by a panel of patients, clinicians or lay persons, or indeed by an individual, using a validated scale such as the EQ-5D. This allows comparisons to be made between diverse clinical areas and technologies and is the approach currently favoured by the Department of Health as a policy-making tool. Life years gained may thus be modified to take into account the quality of those added years, a measure known as the QALY (quality-adjusted life year).

Since it is the relationship between the carer and patient – the caring process – that is the target of support, a family or dyad measure appears more attractive than one that is primarily carer- or patient-orientated. The difficulty with a measure that synthesises patient and carer(s) outcomes is that it is not possible to identify whether the benefit is attributable to both or is primarily experienced by one party at the expense of the other (Wenger *et al.*, 2000). However, this may be overcome by presenting a breakdown of components.

As well as considering whose outcomes should be measured, the issue of how outcomes are measured must also be addressed. It is unclear, for example, whether generic measures of health or quality of life adequately capture carer burden (Bell *et al.*, 2001). Some argue that unless generic measures are employed, comparisons with alternative uses for scarce resources are problematic and the case for diverting resources into carer support is thereby weakened (Zarit and Leitsch, 2001). Measures of quality of life are known to be associated with relatively large variance around the mean. For this reason, larger sample sizes may be required to detect statistically significant differences between the means than would be necessary if only clinical outcomes were assessed. If economic evaluations are to be conducted alongside clinical trials, then power calculations need to reflect the needs of the economic analysis as well as those of the clinical analysis.

6.2.5 Other issues

6.2.5.1 Time horizons

The time horizon for an economic analysis should be determined by a number of considerations. Firstly, there is the nature of the intervention. Short-term interventions, such as a brief counselling programme, will require shorter follow-up duration than will ongoing educational support. Secondly, patient prognosis (and the consequent expected duration of caring) needs to be

considered. Carers of patients with severe dementia at risk of institutionalisation will need to be observed for shorter periods than will carers of newly diagnosed patients; refractory patients suffering acute psychiatric episodes will require long-term follow-up, whereas patients with acute postnatal depression may not. Thirdly, there are practical considerations, including the need to minimise sample attrition and the need to ensure that any changes in resource use (such as delayed institutionalisation) are measured. Costs incurred in the future should be discounted to present values.

6.2.5.2 Modelling

Constructing a model may be useful to explore long-term costs and outcomes. Uncertainty surrounding key variables can be investigated in a number of ways. Where variables are of known value now, but may change in the future, such as disease prevalence and carer supply, sensitivity analysis should be used. In the case of probabilistic variables (where there is a probability distribution associated with a variable) such as measures of effectiveness, other techniques such as Monte Carlo simulations may be used.

6.2.5.3 Primary research

However, the usefulness of a model depends largely on the quality of data it contains; there may be limited returns in investing resources to find data to populate models when the fundamental need is for better primary research. A general criticism of existing research is the lack of adequately powered and well-designed studies with suitable economic endpoints to inform policy-makers about the long-term consequences of alternative service configurations.

6.2.6 Summary comments: cost-effectiveness

In summary, then, cost-effectiveness is a measure of value for money that combines the costs and outcomes associated with an intervention. It is a term that is meaningless in isolation: an intervention can only be cost-effective relative to some alternative or 'comparator'. For this reason, economic evaluations must measure not only costs and effects, but must do so for at least two alternative interventions, allowing incremental cost-effectiveness to be determined. The adoption of a societal perspective for the economic evaluation - in which all costs incurred by all stakeholder are considered - is recommended, because it allows the impact of the intervention on these different stakeholders to be understood. The treatment of the costs of informal care may be the most important factor in determining cost-effectiveness of support services for carers of persons with mental illness; however, the methodology is complex and problematic. The time horizon adopted in empirical studies is also highly pertinent in determining cost-effectiveness. Finally, expected changes in social demographic and morbidity trends may be explored using modelling techniques, provided that data of adequate quality are available: well-designed primary research is of paramount importance.

6.3 Conclusion

Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness both consider outcome measures – they assess benefits. However, an intervention that is effective is not necessarily also cost-effective: this will depend on the *additional* value for money the intervention gives or does not give, compared with an alternative intervention. This discussion of conceptual and methodological issues pertaining to the idea of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness has generated a number of issues and recommendations regarding commissioning of future research in the area. These are listed below.

- Evaluations of effectiveness need to embrace 'process' factors in order to assist in the identification of how and why particular interventions work.
- Evaluations of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness need to use measures of outcomes that are both appropriate to the aims of the intervention and to carers' needs. The issue of *whose* values are used in outcome measures and *how* those different values are added up, or summarised, is critically important.
- Evaluations of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness need to ensure that the diversity of carer experience and the nature of the illness with which the carer deals are adequately considered. This may require subgroups of carers and patients to be considered separately.
- Evaluations of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness need to embrace multiple or societal perspectives in order to capture the complexity of the caring experience.
- Evaluations of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness need to place the carer and patient dyad at the centre of a needs-based research design that acknowledges the contribution these stakeholders can play in designing effective service interventions.

A key implication of this kind of approach to designing studies of effectiveness is the need for multiple methods to examine different aspects of structure, process and outcome of interventions for carers (Smith and Cantley, 1985: 12).

Thus, qualitative and survey data can provide important contextual material alongside the quantitative methods most often applied in this field. Indeed, there is increasing recognition that the randomised controlled trial, while operating as a gold standard in clinical trials, is limited in terms of accommodating the issues identified above, and that there is a need for health services research to draw on a wider range of methods (Marks and Godfrey, 2000; Gowman and Coote, 2000). Increasingly commissioners of research in this field will need to consider how the kinds of issues identified in the literature review can best be addressed. This discussion of the issues relating to effectiveness and cost-effectiveness suggests that it will be increasingly necessary to draw on multiple methods for different aspects of research questions, which in turn will require a more complex and contextual approach to studying carer interventions.

Section 7 Discussion of the review results

The preceding analysis has highlighted key issues regarding support for carers for people with mental health problems. These will be discussed under the following headings:

- Mapping the results
- · Methodological issues and ideas for improvement
- Evidence on effectiveness of interventions
- Key messages and recommendations.

7.1 Mapping the results

In terms of condition groups, most of the national and international research included in the review looked at Alzheimer's disease or other types of dementia (see Section 3, Figure 3.2). This emphasis no doubt reflects governments' growing concerns about predictions regarding the percentages of populations likely to suffer dementia, and the consequent economic implications. Studies undertaken specifically in the UK followed a similar pattern (see Section 3, Table 3.3). The majority of research looked at Alzheimer's disease, followed by schizophrenia and thirdly other serious mental illness. It is known that in the UK the most common mental health problems are depression, anxiety and eating disorders (DoH, 1999a), yet the review identified no studies focusing on these specific conditions (or substance abuse).

As far as the different types of interventions and services for carers for people with mental health problems were concerned, by far the majority of research was targeted at educational interventions (see Section 3, Table 3.2). Respite care and family interventions comprised the two next largest areas for study. The pattern differed somewhat in the UK, where most inquiries focused on family interventions (30 per cent). This emphasis is consistent with the NSF for Mental Health (DoH, 1999a) which indicates that family interventions for people with schizophrenia and other mental illnesses can be useful and/or effective in preventing relapses. It is perhaps with this in mind that the Department of Health has recently commissioned the organisation Making Space to produce a specification for a mental health carers' support service. This work was carried out at the same time as our scoping study, and the research teams delivered their report in 2002. Three research studies ^{40; 92; 289} involving family support workers from Making Space were included in the review.

One-quarter of the UK studies evaluated one form or another of educational intervention – which again is consistent with the emphasis placed upon education and training programmes, and information giving, in the two NSFs (DoH, 1999a; DoH 2001) and the national strategy for carers (DoH, 1999b). The provision of comprehensive, multidisciplinary services also features in current policy (DoH, 1999a), and the review did include four studies from this country that involved multidimensional approaches to caring interventions.

However, only one economic evaluation of an educational intervention was identified.

What is a cause for concern, however, is the relative paucity of research evaluating the interventions and services that are flagged up in recent policy documents as potentially useful in supporting carers of people with mental illness (or carers per se). Respite care is an obvious example. As stated in Section 1, the government has made ring-fenced monies available to local authorities over a three-year period in the form of the Carers Special Grant to help them provide a wider range of breaks for carers. Less than one-fifth of the UK research studies included in the review looked at respite services, and only one economic evaluation addressing this issue was found. Other examples highlighted in recent policy as beneficial for (some) carers are support groups and counselling. Again, the proportion of studies looking at these types of intervention was minimal (2 per cent for each category group) and no economic analysis was identified. Telephone help-lines, electronic technology and home-based technology are all services cited as potentially valuable. We found no UK studies focusing specifically on interventions of these types at all. Likewise, recent legislation and the NSF for Mental Health (DoH, 1999a) all focus on carer assessment and care plans. Again, this was a neglected area as far as studies included in the review were concerned.

It is well documented that carers comprise a heterogeneous group, and that different groups of carers may benefit from different types of support. There is evidence that carers from ethnic minorities have some additional needs (DoH, 1999b), but at the same time it is known that these are not being met (SSI, 1998). Given that black and minority ethnic groups face a high risk of mental illness (DoH, 1999a), it is of concern that there were no UK intervention studies focusing on this particular subgroup of carers. Indeed, this group was invisible in the majority of the studies included in the review. Similarly, children and young people who take on caring responsibilities are singled out in UK legislation and policy documents. Once again, we found no studies looking at the effectiveness or cost-effectiveness of interventions and services for this specific group of carers.

7.2 Methodological issues and ideas for improvement

The mapping exercise showed that the majority of studies (80 per cent) included in the review were randomised or non-randomised controlled trials, before-and-after studies (uncontrolled) or post-intervention data. The remaining 20 per cent of studies used mixed methods, or qualitative methods (see Section 3, Table 3.4). Most studies were experimental or quasiexperimental. Longer-term follow-up over two years was rare. Seventy per cent of the research reports addressed effectiveness using standard outcome measures, usually as part of a battery of instruments. Commonly used measures included the General Health Questionnaire, the Burden Interview, the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale and the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule. (For a comprehensive review of quality of life

measurement scales, see Bowling (1997).) If researchers felt that existing scales were not appropriate measures for their particular study, then they developed item scales specifically to suit their own purposes. Alternatively, they took subsets of different existing measures and combined them into a pool of items.

Generally speaking, the measures used tended to focus on carer burden, stress, coping, physical health, emotional well-being and depression – in other words, the negative aspects of caring. However, more recent research into carers' issues (Nolan *et al.*, 1996), has shown that carers can derive satisfaction from their care-giving activities. Standard measures of satisfaction have been developed (see, for instance, the Carers Assessment of Satisfactions Index (CASI) (Nolan *et al.*, 1998)) yet very few studies looked at caring from this point of view.

Alternative, and/or additional, ways to assess the effectiveness of interventions included programme evaluation surveys, satisfaction surveys, service utilisation rates, relapse rates, admissions to institutional care or hospital, and practitioners' observations of outcomes. Most of the studies with an economic component included health care costs and social services costs. One study valued carer time; two assessed changes in carer earnings.

Questions have been raised about the dominance and appropriateness of both quantitative methodologies and outcome measures. Bowling (1997) points out, for example, that the conceptualisation and measurement of health outcomes are controversial. Most existing indicators reflect a 'disease' model where pathological abnormalities are indicated by signs and symptoms. This fails to capture subjective indicators of health, such as pain and discomfort. The gap between satisfaction as reported by carers (in relation to, say, support groups) and lack of positive evidence from standard outcome measures suggests that these measures may require some reworking to reflect multiple perspectives of effectiveness. It is also worth exploring whether measures of burden, say, or psychological health are the best way to assess the effectiveness of an intervention.

The pre-eminence of quantitative methods is at the expense of more qualitative work that has the potential to shed light on why and how a particular intervention is perceived as effective, for whom, and in what circumstances (Pawson and Tilley, 1997). Recently, there have been calls (Marks and Godfrey, 2000; Gowman and Coote, 2000) to expand the evidence base in health services research from the traditional randomised controlled trials to encompass different methods. Qualitative research that is used together with a randomised trial, say, can help shed light on quantitative results (Fulop *et al.*, 2001).

The analysis of effectiveness, cost-effectiveness and gaps in research relating to the 11 intervention groups highlighted recurrent methodological weaknesses in the studies included in the review – for example: small sample sizes; problems with attrition; problems relating to the use of control groups; studies not having long enough follow-up to know whether the intervention in question was effective long term as well as short term, or alternatively to know whether

carers needed time to further develop newly acquired skills. These limitations were frequently acknowledged by the authors themselves.

Studies that involve randomisation of patients between comparison groups may be inappropriate or misleading for evaluating the impact of interventions on their carers. Non-participation can be a particular problem in randomised designs: it is greatly complicated where patient consent has been sought but carers have not necessarily agreed to take part in the study. Although patient-carer dyads will be randomised (resulting in both randomly allocated patients and randomly allocated carers), some of the carers may then decline to participate and the sample of carers available for analysis will be selfselected and not random. In addition, some study patients may not have a carer, which would further reduce the size of the carer sample. As a result, the study may be under-powered for evaluating the outcomes and effects of interventions for carers, and the validity of the findings and their generalisability will be undermined. The comparison groups of carers may also differ in ways other than their experience of the intervention being considered. In this case, subgroup analysis will be required with further implications for sample size calculations. There may be circumstances where there are genuine reasons for not randomising, in which case adjustment for baseline differences assumes considerable importance. Clearly, the statistical design of studies for evaluating impacts on carers raises complex methodological and practical issues. Research teams commissioned to undertake evaluation studies need to be multidisciplinary (embracing both quantitative and qualitative expertise), and should include researchers with a track record of experience in the methodology of study design and outcome evaluation.

Problems relating to attrition are likely to be minimised if the type of intervention being studied is well defined and addresses the assessed needs of carers taking part in the study. Attrition rates may also be reduced if the intervention improves the care of the patient in some way, as it is known that one of the outcomes that carers want is services that provide quality care for the person they support (Nicholas, 2001).

There could well be a case for involving carers in the development of new interventions, and indeed this was done in a handful of studies included in the review. These tended to be in the area of educational programmes, where carers were consulted regarding the content. In principle, there is no reason why carers could not be involved in the decision making about any subsequent evaluation: the form of the evaluation, and the outcomes to be investigated to help decide whether or not it 'worked'. There might then be more of a sense of 'ownership', which again should help reduce problems of attrition.

Research also needs to consider the duration and timing of an intervention alongside how it is implemented. Interventions need to be of sufficient duration and frequency so as to be meaningful, for example the occasional one-week short break for someone who has been heavily involved in caring for many years might be inadequate. The timing of interventions also needs to be thought through to ensure that they are provided at a time when carers need them and when carers are likely to be most responsive to them. It may be the

case that interventions provided at inappropriate times have less long-term impact than those that are provided when carers do need them.

7.3 Evidence on effectiveness of interventions

Existing systematic reviews of interventions for carers of people with mental health problems have tended to be cautious in suggesting that evidence supports any particular interventions. Thompson and Spilsbury's (2001) systematic review of support for carers of people with Alzheimer's-type dementia found no conclusive evidence to 'support investment in support programmes or withdrawal of the same' (p.3). Similarly, the systematic review by Pusey and Richards (2001) of psychosocial interventions for carers of people with dementia concluded that there was no strong evidence supporting the effectiveness or otherwise of technology-based interventions, group-based interventions, individual-based interventions, or particular service configurations.

The preceding analysis has likewise identified a lack of clear evidence to support any specific interventions, although it is obvious that almost all studies have been able to identify some positive outcomes of services provided. While the methodological rigour required for a full systematic review was not employed in the present scoping study, any future research commissioning needs to bear in mind the point just made that many pieces of research suffer from methodological weaknesses. This reduces the likelihood of further systematic reviews being able to offer any more conclusive evidence.

Fundamentally, it is difficult to conduct research that embraces the complex configuration of carer and care recipient needs, expectations and experience, under conditions required for controlled experimental research designs. Alongside the difficulties associated with carers and care recipients, the complexity surrounding service delivery mechanisms also needs to be considered. To this end, it might be fruitful to investigate the value of an intervention from more of a contextual point of view. This might mean examining, for example, the structure of the service: how it is organised (single or multi-agency); how financially sound it is (short-term or long-term funding); how sustainable it is. Alternatively, it could mean investigating more of the process, nature and quality of service delivery. For instance, it is known (Nicholas, 2001) that carers want services that are accessible, responsive and individually tailored to their needs; and indeed, these characteristics have been identified as hallmarks of good services in policy documents (DoH, 1999b; DoH 2001).

7.4 Key messages and recommendations

The overall aim of the scoping study is to advise the SDO Programme as to what further research and development work should be funded in the areas of services for carers of people with mental health problems. The list below sets out key messages and recommendations that have recurred throughout the

literature review, in particular in the 'Gaps in the research' sections at the end of each intervention category in Section 4.

Areas and questions for research

- Evaluation studies need to be undertaken in key policy areas intended to give practical support to carers of people with mental health problems, in particular: carer assessment; care plans; breaks from caring; family support; the use of telephone help-lines and computer-based interventions.
- Comprehensive packages of care are prioritised, which means it would be valuable to examine carers' service provision in its entirety rather than separated out into discrete components, such as a time-limited training programme or the occasional short break.
- Research is needed to determine which, and what combination of, elements in a multidimensional package are effective and cost-effective, and for whom.
- There is a need to know more about the effectiveness of interventions in relation to different subgroups of carers, including: young carers; black and ethnic minority carers; spouse carers; male carers and female carers; working and non-working carers; carers of different patient groups.
- More research needs undertaking into the relationship between the different stages of an illness and specific interventions. For example, Goldstein's (1996) review indicated that psychoeducational programmes focusing on the family unit might be effective for first- or recent-onset schizophrenic patients, while those focusing just on relatives suggested greater effectiveness during later stages of treatment; hypotheses such as this require further investigation.
- Interventions should be implemented with a broader range of patient groups to examine their effectiveness for carers when transferred from one condition group to another. For instance, the majority of studies of respite targeted carers of people with Alzheimer's disease or other dementia; so, too, did all the training programmes. Family interventions, in contrast, focused on carers of people with schizophrenia and other mental illnesses.
- There is scope for further economic research in all care recipient groups and all interventions, with the possible exception of assertive outreach for patients with severe mental illness.

Research design

- The quality of methodological rigour of studies should be improved.
- A wider range of research methods should be employed with a view to increasing the depth and breadth of data collected, and range of study participants.
- The value of, and emphasis on, standard outcome measures as the primary method of determining the effectiveness of an intervention should

be reassessed, especially as the sensitivity of some carer burden measures is unclear.

- Studies powered to detect statistically significant differences in both effectiveness and cost-effectiveness measures would be valuable.
- More longitudinal studies are required to examine effectiveness and costeffectiveness in the short and longer term.
- Innovative approaches to developing, implementing and assessing interventions for carers should be encouraged, drawing on carers' own expertise (Nolan *et al.*, 1996) in relation to the nature of the support required, how it is delivered and the way it is evaluated.

We are concluding this report with a quote taken from a literature review summarising articles from 1980 to 1990 on psychosocial interventions and respite care for carers:

The appropriate question now is not whether interventions work but rather what interventions work best with what levels of strength with which kinds of caregivers caring for relatives with specific kinds of impairments.

(Knight *et al.*, 1993: 247)

It seems to us that this judgement is as pertinent today as it was when it was first made in 1993.

Bibliography

- Abramowitz, I.A. and Coursey, R.D. 1989. Impact of an educational support group on family participants who take care of their schizophrenic relatives. *Journal of Consultant Clinical Psychology* 57: 232–6
- Acton, G.J. and Kang, J. 2001. Interventions to reduce the burden of caregiving for an adult with dementia: A meta-analysis. *Research in Nursing & Health* 24: 349–60
- Acton, G.J. and Miller, E.W. 1996. Affiliated-individuation in caregivers of adults with dementia. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing* 17: 245–60
- Adam, S., Van der Linden, M., Juillerat, A.C. and Salmon, E. 2000. The cognitive management of daily life activities in patients with mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease in a day care centre: A case report. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation* 10: 485–509
- Adkins, V.K. 1999. Treatment of depressive disorders of spousal caregivers of persons with Alzheimer's disease: A review. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 14: 289–93
- Aimonino, N., Molaschi, M., Salerno, D., Roglia, D., Rocco, M. and Fabris, F.
 2001. The home hospitalization of frail elderly patients with advanced dementia. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics 33: 19–23
- Ashworth, M. and Baker, A.H. 2000. 'Time and space': carers' views about respite care. *Health and Social Care in the Community* 8: 50–6

- Barrowclough, C., Tarrier, N., Lewis, S., Sellwood, W., Mainwaring, J., Quinn, J. and Hamlin, C. 1999. Randomised controlled effectiveness trial of a needsbased psychosocial intervention service for carers of people with schizophrenia. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 505–11
- Bass D., McClendon, M., Brennan, P. and McCarthy, C. 1998. The buffering effect of a computer support network on caregiver strain. *Journal of Aging and Health* 10: 20-43
- Becker, S., Aldridge, J. and Dearden, C. 1998. *Young Carers and their Families.* Oxford: Blackwell Science
- Bedard, M., Molloy, D.W., Pedlar, D., Lever, J.A. and Stones, M.J. 1997.
 Associations between dysfunctional behaviors, gender, and burden in spousal caregivers of cognitively impaired older adults. *International Psychogeriatrics* 9: 277–90
- Beisecker, A.E., Wright, L.J., Chrisman, S.K. and Ashworth, J. 1996. Family caregiver perceptions of benefits and barriers to the use of adult day care for individuals with Alzheimer's disease. *Research on Aging* 18: 430–50
- Bell, C.M., Araki, S.S. and Neumann, P.J. 2001. The association between caregiver burden and caregiver health-related quality of life in Alzheimer disease. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders* 15: 129–36
- Benson, P.R., Fisher, G.A., Diana, A., Simon, L., Gamache, G., Tessler, R.C. and McDermeit, M. 1996. A state network of family support services: the Massachusetts Family Support Demonstration Project. *Evaluation and Program Planning* 19: 27-39
- Bentley, K.J. 1990. An evaluation of family-based intervention with schizophrenia using single-system research. *British Journal of Social Work* 20: 101-16
- Berry, G.L., Zarit, S.H. and Rabatin, V.X. 1991. Caregiver activity on respite and nonrespite days: a comparison of two service approaches. *Gerontologist* 31: 830-5
- Birchwood, M., Smith, J. and Cochrane, R. 1992. Specific and non-specific effects of educational intervention for families living with schizophrenia. A comparison of three methods. *British Journal of Psychiatry*: 160806–14
- Bland, R. and Harrison, C. 2000. Developing and evaluating a psychoeducation program for caregivers of bipolar affective disorder patients: report of a pilot project. *Research on Social Work Practice* 10: 209–28
- Bourgeois, M.S., Schulz, R. and Burgio, L. 1996. Interventions for caregivers of patients with Alzheimer's disease: a review and analysis of content, process, and outcomes. *International Journal of Aging and Human Development* 43: 35–92
- Bouricius, J.K., Kersten, E., Nagy, M., McCartney, P.L. and Stein, R. 1994. Family support groups. *Innovations and Research* 3: 33-40
- Bowling, A. 1997. *Measuring Health: a Review of Quality of Life Measurement Scales*. Buckingham: Open University Press

- Brennan, P.F. 1992. Computer networks promote caregiving collaboration: the ComputerLink Project. *Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer Applications in Medical Care*: 156–60
- Brennan, P.F. 1993. Differential use of computer network services. *Proceedings* of the Annual Symposium on Computer Applications in Medical Care: 27–31
- Brennan, P.F., Moore, S.M. and Smyth, K.A. 1991. ComputerLink: electronic support for the home caregiver. *Advances in Nursing Science* 13: 14–27
- Brennan, P.F., Moore, S.M. and Smyth, K.A. 1995. The effects of a special computer network on caregivers of persons with Alzheimer's disease. *Nursing Research* 44: 166–72
- Brennan, P.F. and Smyth, K. 1994. Elders' attitudes and behavior regarding ComputerLink. *Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer Applications in Medical Care*: 1011
- Brodaty, H. and Gresham, M. (1989) Effect of a training programme to reduce stress in carers of patients with dementia. *British Medical Journal* 299: 1375–9
- Brodaty, H., Gresham, M. and Luscombe, G. 1997. The Prince Henry Hospital dementia caregivers' training programme. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 12: 183–92
- Brodaty, H., McGilchrist, C., Harris, L. and Peters, K.E. (1993) Time until institutionalization and death in patients with dementia. Role of caregiver training and risk factors. *Archives of Neurology* 50: 643–50
- Brodaty, H. and Peters, K.E. 1991. Cost effectiveness of a training program for dementia carers. *International Psychogeriatrics* 3: 11-22
- Brodaty, H., Roberts, K. and Peters, K. 1994. Quasi-experimental evaluation of an educational model for dementia caregivers. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 9: 195–204
- Brooker, C., Barrowclough, C. and Tarrier, N. 1992. Evaluating the impact of training community psychiatric nurses to educate relatives about schizophrenia. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 1: 19–25
- Brown, G.W., Birley, J.L.T. and Wing, J.K. 1972. Influence of family life on the course of Schizophrenia disorders: a replication. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 121: 241–58
- Buckwalter, K., Gerdner, L. and Kohout, F. 1999. A nursing intervention to decrease depression in family caregivers of persons with dementia. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing* 13: 80–8
- Budd, R.J. and Hughes, I.C.T. 1997. What do relatives of people with schizophrenia find helpful about family intervention? *Schizophrenia Bulletin* 23: 341-7
- Burdz, M. P., Eaton, W. O. and Bond, J. B. (1988) 'Effect of respite care on dementia and nondementia patients and their caregivers', *Psychology and Aging* 3: 38-42

- Burgener, S.C., Bakas, T., Murray, C., Dunahee, J. and Tossey, S. 1998. Effective caregiving approaches for patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Geriatric Nursing* 19: 121–6
- Carpentier, N., Lesage, A., Goulet, J., Lalonde, P. and Renaud, M. 1992. Burden of care of families not living with young schizophrenic relatives. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry* 43: 38–43
- Cardin, V.A., McGill, C.W. and Falloon, I.R. 1985. An economic analysis: Costs, benefits, and effectiveness. In Falloon, I.R. (ed) *Family Management of Schizophrenia.* Baltimore: The John Hopkins University Press
- Carson, C. and Manchershaw, A. 1992. 'Mental illness: support for relatives. *Nursing Standard* 6: 28–31
- Chang, B. 1999. Cognitive-behavioral intervention for homebound caregivers of persons with dementia. *Nursing Research* 48: 173-82
- Charlesworth, G. 2001. Reviewing psychosocial interventions for family carers of people with dementia. *Aging and Mental Health* 5 (2):104–6
- Chiverton, P. and Caine, E.D. 1989. Education to assist spouses in coping with Alzheimer's disease. A controlled trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 37: 593–8
- Chu, I.P.L. 1991. Family Care of the Elderly with Dementia in Hong Kong. International Social Work 34: 365–72
- Chu, P., Edwards, J., Levin, R. and Thomson, J. 2000. The use of clinical case management for early stage Alzheimer's patients and their families. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 15: 284–90
- Coen, R.F., Coakley, D. and Lawlor, B.A. 1999. Dementia carer education and patient behaviour disturbance. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 14: 302–6
- Cohen, C.A., Blumberger, C., Zucchero Sarracini, C., Letts, L. and Marshall, L. 1998. Network therapy: A unique intervention for dementia caregivers. *Aging and Mental Health* 2: 343–5
- Conlin M., Caranasos, G. and Davidson, R.A. 1992. Reduction of caregiver stress by respite care: a pilot study. *Southern Medical Journal* 85: 1096– 100
- Cook, J.A., Heller, T. and Pickett-Schenk, S.A. 1999. The effect of support group participation on caregiver burden among parents of adult offspring with severe mental illness. *Family Relations* 48: 405–10
- Cooke, D.D., McNally, L., Mulligan, K.T., Harrison, M.J.G. and Newman, S.P.
 2001. Psychosocial interventions for caregivers of people with dementia: A systematic review. *Aging and Mental Health* 5: 120-35
- Corbeil, R.R., Quayhagen, M.P. and Quayhagen, M. 1999. Intervention effects on dementia caregiving interaction: a stress-adaptation modeling approach. *Journal of Aging and Health* 11: 79–95
- Corcoran, M.A. and Gitlin, L.N. 1992. Dementia management: an occupational therapy home-based intervention for caregivers. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy* 46: 801–8

- Cotrell, V. 1996. Respite use by dementia caregivers: preferences and reasons for initial use. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work* 26: 35–55
- Cox, C. 1997. 'Findings from a statewide program of respite care: a comparison of service users, stoppers, and nonusers', *Gerontologist* 37: 511–17
- Cox, N.J. and Reifler, B.V. 1994. Dementia care and respite services program. *Alzheimer's Disease and Associated Disorders* 8: 3113–21
- Coyne, A.C. 1991. Information and referral service usage among caregivers for dementia patients. *Gerontologist* 31: 384–8
- Creed, F., Mbaya, P., Lancashire, S., Tomenson, B., Williams, B. and Holme, S. 1997. Cost effectiveness of day and inpatient psychiatric treatment: results of a randomised controlled trial. *British Medical Journal* 314: 1381-5
- Cuijpers, P., Hosman, C.M. and Munnichs, J.M. 1996. Change mechanisms of support groups for caregivers of dementia patients. *International Psychogeriatrics* 8: 575–87
- Cummings, S.M. 1996. Spousal caregivers of early stage Alzheimer's patients: a psychoeducational support group model. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work* 26: 83–98
- Cummings, S.M., Long, J.K., Peterson Hazan, S. and Harrison, J. 1998. The efficacy of a group treatment model in helping spouses meet the emotional and practical challenges of early stage caregiving. *Clinical Gerontologist* 20: 29-45
- Davis, L.L. 1998. Telephone-based interventions with family caregivers: a feasibility study. *Journal of Family Nursing* 4: 255–70
- Deeks, J., Glanville. J. and Sheldon, T. 1996. Undertaking Systematic Reviews of Research on Effectiveness: CRD Guidelines for those Carrying out or Commissioning Reviews. York: NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination, University of York
- Department of Health. 1997. *The New NHS: Modern, Dependable*, Cmd 3806. London: Department of Health
- Department of Health. 1999a. A National Service Framework for Mental Health. London: Department of Health
- Department of Health. 1999b. *Caring about Carers: A National Strategy for Carers*. London: Department of Health
- Department of Health. 2001. A National Service Framework for Older People. London: Department of Health
- Dixon, L., Stewart, B., Burland, J., Delahanty, J., Lucksted, A. and Hoffman, M. 2001. Pilot study of the effectiveness of the family-to-family education program. *Psychiatric Services* 52: 965–7
- Donaldson, C. and Gregson, B. 1989. Prolonging life at home: what is the cost? Community Medicine 11: 200-9

Drummond, M. and Jefferson, T. 1996. Guidelines for authors and peer reviewers of economic submissions to the *BMJ*. The *BMJ* Economic Evaluation Working Party. *British Medical Journal* 313: 275–83

- Drummond, M., Stoddard, G. and Torrance, G. 1997. *Methods for the economic evaluation of health care programmes*, 2nd edn. Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Drummond, M.F., Mohide, E.A., Tew, M., Streiner, D.L., Pringle, D.M. and Gilbert, J.R. 1991. Economic evaluation of a support program for caregivers of demented elderly. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care* 7: 209–19
- Dura, J.R. 1993. Educational intervention for a Huntington's disease caregiver. *Psychological Reports* 72: 1099–105
- Dziegielewski, S.F. and Ricks, J.L. 2000. Adult day programs for elderly who are mentally impaired and the measurement of caregiver satisfaction. *Activities Adaptation and Aging* 24: 51–64
- EPPI. 1999. A Review of the Effectiveness and Appropriateness of Peer-Delivered Health Promotion Interventions for Young People. London: Eppi-Centre, University of London
- Falloon I. and Pederson, J. 1985. Family management in the prevention of morbidity of schizophrenia: The adjustment of the family unit. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 147: 156–63
- Farran, C.J. and Keane Hagerty, E. 1994. Interventions for caregivers of persons with dementia: educational support groups and Alzheimer's association support groups. *Applied Nursing Research* 7: 112–17
- Fisher, A. and Savin-Baden, M. 2001. The benefits to young people experiencing psychosis, and their families, of an early intervention programme: Evaluating a service from the consumers' and the providers' perspectives. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy* 64: 58–65
- Fisher, P.A. and Laschinger, H.S. 2001. A relaxation training program to increase self-efficacy for anxiety control in Alzheimer family caregivers. *Holistic Nursing Practice* 15: 47–58
- Forde, O.T. and Pearlman, S. 1999. Breakaway: A social supplement to caregivers' support groups. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 14: 120–4
- Fox, P., Newcomer, R., Yordi, C. and Arnsberger, P. 2000. Lessons learned from the Medicare Alzheimer Disease Demonstration. *Alzheimer's Disease and Associated Disorders* 14: 87–93
- Fulop, N., Allen, P., Clarke, A. and Black, N. 2001. Issues in studying the organisation and delivery of health services. In Fulop, N., Allen, P., Clarke, A and Black, N (eds) Studying the Organisation and Delivery of Health Services: Research Methods. London: Routledge
- Gage, M.J. and Kinney, J.M. 1995. They aren't for everyone: The impact of support group participation on caregivers' well-being. *Clinical Gerontologist* 16: 21-34
- Gallagher, D.E. 1985. Intervention strategies to assist caregivers of frail elders: current research status and future research directions. *Annual Review of Gerontology and Geriatrics*: 5249–82

- Gallagher Thompson, D. and DeVries, H.M. 1994. 'Coping with frustration' classes: development and preliminary outcomes with women who care for relatives with dementia. *Gerontologist* 34: 548-52
- Geiser, R., Hoche, L. and King, J. 1988. Respite care for mentally ill patients and their families. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry* 39: 291–5
- Gendron, C., Poitras, L., Dastoor, D.P. and Perodeau, G. 1996. Cognitivebehavioral group intervention for spousal caregivers: Findings and clinical considerations. *Clinical Gerontologist* 17: 3–19
- Ghatak, R. 1994. Effects of an intervention program on dementia patients and their caregivers. *Caring* 13: 34–9
- Gibbins, R. 1986. *Oundle Community Care Unit : an Evaluation of an Initiative in Care of the Elderly Mentally Infirm.* Northampton: Joint Research Steering Group Central Policy and Research Unit, Northamptonshire County Council
- Gitlin, L.N., Corcoran, M., Winter, L., Boyce, A. and Hauck, W.W. 2001. A randomized, controlled trial of a home environmental intervention: effect on efficacy and upset in caregivers and on daily function of persons with dementia. *Gerontologist* 41: 4–14
- Goldstein, M.J. 1996. Psycho-education and family treatment related to the phase of a psychotic disorder. *International Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology* 11: 277_83
- Gonyea, J.G. 1989. Alzheimer's disease support groups: an analysis of their structure, format and perceived benefits. *Social Work and Health Care* 14: 61–72
- Goodman, C. 1990. Evaluation of a model self-help telephone program: impact on natural networks. *Social Work* 35: 556–62
- Goodman, C.C. and Pynoos, J. 1990. A model telephone information and support program for caregivers of Alzheimer's patients. *Gerontologist* 30: 399-404
- Gowman, N. and Coote, A. 2000. *Evidence and public health: Towards a common framework*. London: King's Fund Publishing
- Guba, E.G. and Lincoln, Y.S. 1989. Fourth Generation Evaluation. London: Sage
- Gwyther, L.P. 1989. Overcoming barriers. Home care for dementia patients. *Caring* 8: 12-16
- Haley, W.E. 1989. Group intervention for dementia family caregivers: a longitudinal perspective *Gerontologist* 29: 478-80
- Haley, W.E., Brown, S.L. and Levine, E.G. 1987. Experimental evaluation of the effectiveness of group intervention for dementia caregivers. *Gerontologist* 27: 376–82
- Haupt, M., Karger, A. and Janner, M. 2000. Improvement of agitation and anxiety in demented patients after psychoeducative group intervention with their caregivers. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 15: 1125–9

- Hebert, R., Girouard, D., Leclerc, G., Bravo, G. and Lefrancois, R. 1995. The impact of a support group programme for care-givers on the institutionalisation of demented patients. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics* 20: 129–34
- Hebert, R., Leclerc, G., Bravo, G., Girouard, D. and Lefrancois, R. 1994.
 Efficacy of a support group programme for care-givers of demented patients in the community: A randomized controlled trial. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics* 18: 1–14
- Hepburn, K.W., Tornatore, J., Center, B. and Ostwald, S.W. 2001. Dementia family caregiver training: affecting beliefs about caregiving and caregiver outcomes. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 49: 450–7
- Herman, S.E., Marcenko, M.O. and Hazel, K.L. 1996. Parents' perspectives on quality in family support programs. *Journal of Mental Health and Administration* 23: 156–69
- Higginson, I. 1994. Quality of care and evaluating services', *International Review of Psychiatry* 6: 5–14
- Hinchliffe, A.C., Hyman, I.L., Blizard, B. and Livingston, G. 1995. Behavioural complications of dementia Can they be treated? *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 10: 839–47
- Honig, A., Hofman, A., Rozendaal, N. and Dingemans, P. 1997. Psychoeducation in bipolar disorder: effect on expressed emotion. *Psychiatry Research* 72: 17–22
- Hosaka, T. and Sugiyama, Y. 1999. A structured intervention for family caregivers of dementia patients: a pilot study. *Tokai Journal Experimental and Clinical Medicine* 24: 35–9
- Hugen, B. 1993. The Effectiveness of a Psychoeducational Support Service to Families of Persons with a Chronic Mental Illness. *Research on Social Work Practice* 3: 137–54
- Hughes, I., Hailwood, R., Abbati-Yeoman, J. *et al.* 1996. Developing a family intervention service for serious mental illness: clinical observations and experiences. *Journal of Mental Health* 5: 145–59
- Jansson, W., Almberg, B., Grafstrom, M. and Winblad, B. 1998. The circle model – Support for relatives of people with dementia', *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 13: 674–81
- Jarrott, S.E., Zarit, S.H., Parris Stephens, M.A., Townsend, A. and Greene, R. 1999. Caregiver satisfaction with adult day service programs. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 14: 233–44
- Jepson, R., Bladi, Z.D, Wright, K. and Riet, G.T. 2001. *Scoping Review of the Effectiveness of Mental Health Services*, Report 21. York: NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination, University of York
- Johnson, M. and Maguire, M. 1989. Give me a break benefits of a caregiver support service. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing* 15: 22–6
- Kahan, J., Kemp, B., Staples, F.R. and Brummel Smith, K. 1985. Decreasing the burden in families caring for a relative with a dementing illness. A controlled study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 33: 664–70

- Karlin, N.J., Bell, P.A., Noah, J.L., Martichuski, D.K. and Knight, B.L. 1999.
 Assessing Alzheimer's support group participation: A retrospective followup. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 14: 326–33
- Kilstoff, K. and Chenoweth, L. 1998. New approaches to health and well-being for dementia day-care clients, family carers and day-care staff. *International Journal of Nursing Practice* 4: 70–83
- Kirchner, V., Elloy, M.D., Silver, L.E. and Kelly, C.A. 2000. Dementia: the cost of care for behaviourally disturbed patients living in the community. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 15. 1000–4
- Knapp, M., Marks, I., Wolstenholme, J., Beecham, J., Astin, J., Audini, B., Connolly, J. and Watts, V. 1998. Home-based versus hospital-based care for serious mental illness. Controlled cost-effectiveness study over four years. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 172: 506-12
- Knight, B.G., Lutzky, S. and Macofsky-Urban, F. 1993. A meta-analytical review of interventions for caregiver distress: recommendations for future research. *Gerontologist* 33: 240–8
- Koffman, J. and Taylor, S. 1997. The needs of caregivers. Elder Care, 9: 16-19
- Koopmanschap, M., Rutten, F., van Ineveld, B. and van Roijen, L. 1995. The friction cost method for measuring indirect costs of disease. *Journal of Health Economics* 14: 171–89
- Kosloski, K. and Montgomery, R.J.V. 1992. Perceptions of respite services as predictors of utilization. *Research on Aging* 15: 399-413
- Kosloski, K. and Montgomery, R.J.V. 1993. The effects of respite on caregivers of Alzheimer's patients: One-year evaluation of the Michigan Model Respite Programs. *Journal of Applied Gerontology* 12: 4–17
- Kuhn, D. and Mendes de Leon, C. 2001. Evaluating an educational intervention with relatives of persons in the early stages of Alzheimer's disease. *Research on Social Work Practice* 11. 531–48
- Kuipers, L., MacCarthy, B., Hurry, J. and Harper, R. 1989. Counselling the relatives of the long-term adult mentally ill. II. A low-cost supportive model. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 154775–82
- Langa, K., Chernew, M., Kabeto, M., Herzog, A., Ofstedal, M., Willis, R.,
 Wallace, R., Mucha, L., Straus, W. and Fendrick, A. 2001. National estimates of the quantity of cost of informal caregiving for the elderly with dementia. *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 16 (11): 770-8
- Larkin, J P. and Hopcroft, B.M. 1993. In-hospital respite as a moderator of caregiver stress. *Health and Social Work* 18: 132-8
- Lawton, M.P., Brody, E.M. and Saperstein, A.R. (1989) A controlled study of respite services for caregivers of Alzheimer's patients. *Gerontologist* 29: 8-16
- Leff, J., Berkowitz, R., Shavit, N. *et al.* 1989. A trial of family therapy versus a relatives group for schizophrenics. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 154: 58-66
- Leff, J., Berkowitz, R., Shavit, N., Strachan, A., Glass, I. and Vaughn, C. 1990. A trial of family therapy versus a relatives group for schizophrenia: two year follow-up. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 157: 571–7

- Leitsch, S.A., Zarit, S.H., Townsend, A. and Greene, R. 2001. Medical and social adult day service programs: A comparison of characteristics, dementia clients, and their family caregivers. *Research on Aging* 23: 473– 98
- Logiudice, D., Waltrowicz, W., Brown, K., Burrows, C., Ames, D. and Flicker, L. 1999. Do memory clinics improve the quality of life of carers? A randomized pilot trial. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 14. 626–32
- MacCarthy, B., Kuipers, L., Hurry, J., Harper, R. and LeSage, A. 1989. Counselling the relatives of the long-term adult mentally ill. I. Evaluation of the impact on relatives and patients. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 154: 768-75
- Magni, E., Zanetti, O., Bianchetti, A., Binetti, G. and Trabucchi, M. 1995.
 Evaluation of an Italian educational programme for dementia caregivers:
 Results of a small-scale pilot study. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 10: 569-73
- Mannion, E., Mueser, K. and Solomon, P. 1994. Designing psychoeducational services for spouses of persons with serious mental illness. *Community Mental Health Journal* 30: 177–90
- Markle-Reid, M. and Browne, G. 2001. Explaining the use and non-use of community-based long-term care services by caregivers of persons with dementia. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice* 7: 271–87
- Marks, L. and Godfrey, M. 2000. *Developing Research Capacity within the NHS: A Summary of the Evidence,* Nuffield Portfolio Programme, Report no. 12. Leeds: Nuffield Institute for Health
- Marley, J.A. 1992. Content and Context: Working with Mentally III People in Family Therapy. *Social Work* 37: 412–17
- Martin-Cook, K., Trimmer, C., Svetlik, D. and Weiner, M.F. 2000. Caregiver burden in Alzheimer's disease: Case studies. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 15: 47–52
- Matthew, L. 1990. A Role for the CPN in Supporting the Carer of Clients with Dementia. London: Chapman and Hall
- Mays, N., Roberts, E. and Popay, J. 2001. Synthesising research evidence. In Fulop, N., Allen, P., Clarke, A. and Black, N. (eds) *Studying the Organisation and Delivery of Health Services: Research Methods*: 188–220
- McClendon, M.J., Bass, D.M., Brennan, P.F. and McCarthy, C. 1998. A computer network for Alzheimer's caregivers and use of support group services, *Journal of Mental Health and Aging* 4: 403–20
- McCreadie, R., Phillips, K., Harvey, J. *et al.* 1991. The Nithsdale schizophrenia surveys VIII: Do families want family intervention and does it help? *British Journal of Psychiatry* 158: 110–113
- McCurry, S.M., Logsdon, R.G., Vitiello, M.V. and Teri, L. 1998. Successful behavioral treatment for reported sleep problems in elderly caregivers of dementia patients: a controlled study. *Journal of Gerontology B* 53: 122–9

- McFarland, P.L. and Sanders, S. 2000. Educational support groups for male caregivers of individuals with Alzheimer's disease. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 15: 367–73
- McNally, S., Ben-Shlomo, Y. and Newman, S. 1999. The effects of respite care on informal carers' well-being: a systematic review. *Disability and Rehabilitation* 21: 1-14
- Meltzer, D. 1990. An evaluation of a respite care unit for elderly people with dementia: framework and some results. *Health Trends* 22: 64–7
- Millan Calenti, J.C., Gandoy Crego, M., Antelo Martelo, M., Lopez Martinez, M., Riveiro Lopez, M.P. and Mayan Santos, J.M. 2000. Helping the family carers of Alzheimer's patients: From theory to practice. A preliminary study. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics 30: 131-8
- Milne, D., Pitt, I. and Sabin, N. 1993. Evaluation of a carer support scheme for elderly people – the importance of coping. *British Journal of Social Work* 23: 157–68
- Mitchell, E. 2000. Managing carer stress: An evaluation of a stress management programme for carers of people with dementia. *British Journal* of Occupational Therapy 63: 179–84
- Mitrani, V.B. and Czaja, S.J. 2000. Family-based therapy for dementia caregivers: Clinical observations. *Aging and Mental Health* 4: 200–9
- Mittelman, M. *et al.* 1996. A family intervention to delay nursing home placement of patients with Alzheimer disease. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 276: 1725–31
- Mittelman, M.S., Ferris, S.H., Shulman, E., Steinberg, G., Ambinder, A.,
 Mackell, J.A. and Cohen, J. 1995. A Comprehensive Support Program –
 Effect on Depression in Spouse-Caregivers of AD Patients. *Gerontologist* 35: 792-802
- Mittelman, M.S., Ferris, S.H., Steinberg, G., Shulman, E., Mackell, J. A., Ambinder, A. and Cohen, J. 1993. An intervention that delays institutionalization of Alzheimer's disease patients: treatment of spousecaregivers *Gerontologist* 33: 730-40
- Mohide, E.A., Pringle, D.M., Streiner, D.L., Gilbert, J.R., Muir, G. and Tew, M. 1990. A randomized trial of family caregiver support in the home management of dementia. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 38: 446-54
- Molinari, V., Nelson, N., Shekelle, S. and Crothers, M.K. 1994. Family Support Groups of the Alzheimers Association – an Analysis of Attendees and Nonattendees. *Journal of Applied Gerontology* 13: 86–98
- Moniz Cook, E., Agar, S., Gibson, G., Win, T. and Wang, M. 1998. A preliminary study of the effects of early intervention with people with dementia and their families in a memory clinic. *Aging and Mental Health* 2: 199–211
- Moniz Cook, E. and Woods, R.T 1997. The role of memory clinics and psychosocial intervention in the early stages of dementia. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 12: 1143–5

- Moriarty, J.M. 1999. Use of community and long-term care by people with dementia in the UK: A review of some issues in service provision and carer and user preferences. *Aging and Mental Health* 3: 311–19
- Mort, J.R., Gaspar, P., Pulscher, S. and Laird, L. 1993. Management of Demented Patients within the Community: Techniques Utilized and the Impact of Education. *Clinical Gerontologist* 13: 23-45
- Mullen, P. and Spurgeon, P. 2000. *Priority Setting and the Public*. Abingdon: Radcliffe Medical Press
- Mullen, R., Bebbington, P. and Kuipers, L. 1992. A workshop for relatives of people with chronic mental illness. *Psychiatric Bulletin* 16: 206–7
- Murray, J., Manela, M., Shuttleworth, A. and Livingston, G. 1997. An intervention study with husband and wife carers of older people with a psychiatric illness. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 46: 279–84
- Newcomer, R., Yordi, C., DuNah, R., Fox, P. and Wilkinson, A. 1999a. Effects of the Medicare Alzheimer's Disease Demonstration on Caregiver Burden and Depression. *Health Services Research* 34: 669–89
- Newcomer, R., Miller, R., Clay, T. and Fox, P. 1999b. Effects of the Medicare Alzheimer's Disease Demonstration on Medicare Expenditures. *Health Care Financing Review* 20: 45–65
- Nicholas, E. (2001) 'Implementing an outcomes approach in carer assessment and review' in Qureshi, H. (ed) *Outcomes in Social Care Practice*, York, SPRU: University of York.
- Nolan, M.R., Grant, G. and Keady, J. 1996. Understanding Family Care: A Multidimensional Model of Caring and Coping. Buckingham: Open University Press
- Nolan, M.R., Grant, G. and Keady, J. 1998. *Assessing the Needs of Family Carers: A Guide for Practitioners*. Brighton: Pavilion Publishing
- North, C.S., Pollio, D.E., Sachar, B., Hong, B., Isenberg, K. and Bufe, G. 1998. The family as caregiver: a group psychoeducation model for schizophrenia. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 68: 39–46
- Norton, S., Wandersman, A. and Goldman, C.R. 1993. Perceived Costs and Benefits of Membership in a Self-Help Group: Comparisons of Members and Nonmembers of the Alliance for the Mentally III. *Community Mental Health Journal* 29: 143-60
- Office of National Statistics. 2002. Carers 2000. London: The Stationery Office
- Ostwald, S., Hepburn, K. and Caron, W. 1999. Reducing caregiver burden: a randomized psychoeducational intervention for caregivers of persons with dementia. *Gerontologist* 39: 299–309
- Ovretveit, J. 1998. *Evaluating health interventions*. Milton Keynes: Open University Press
- Pakenham, K.I. and Dadds, M.R. 1987. Family care and schizophrenia: the effects of a supportive educational program on relatives' personal and social adjustment. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 21. 580-90

Patton, M. 1987. *How to Use Qualitative Methods in Evaluation*. London: Sage. Pawson, R. and Tilley, N. 1997 *Realist Evaluation*. London: Sage

- Payton, F.C., Brennan, P.F. and Silvers, J.B. 1995. Cost justification of a community health information network: the ComputerLink for AD caregivers. *Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer Applications in Medical Care*: 566–70
- Perodeau, G., Lauzon, S., Levesque, L. and Lachance, L. 2001. Mental health, stress correlates and psychotropic drug use or non-use among aged caregivers to elders with dementia. *Aging and Mental Health* 5. 225–34
- Peternelj Taylor, C.A. and Hartley, V.L. 1993. Living with mental illness: professional/family collaboration. *Journal of psychosocial Nursing* 31: 23-8
- Phillips, J. 1994. The employment consequences of caring for older people. Health and Social Care in the Community 2:143–52
- Pickett Schenk, S.A., Cook, J.A. and Laris, A. 2000. Journey of Hope program outcomes. *Community Mental Health Journal* 36: 413–24
- Pollio, D.E., North, C.S. and Foster, D.A. 1998. Content and curriculum in psychoeducation groups for families of persons with severe mental illness. *Psychiatric Services* 49: 816–22
- Porter, R. (ed.). 1996. *Cambridge Illustrated History of Medicine*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Posner, C.M., Wilson, K.G., Kral, M.J., Lander, S. and McIlwraith, R.D. 1992.
 Family psychoeducational support groups in schizophrenia. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 62: 206–18
- Pratt, C., Nay, T., Ladd, L. and Heagerty, B. 1989. A model legal-financial education workshop for families caring for neurologically impaired elders. *Gerontologist* 29: 258–62
- Pritchard, E.J. and Dewing, J. 2001. A multi-method evaluation of an independent dementia care service and its approach. *Aging and Mental Health* 5: 63–72
- Pusey, H. and Richards, D. 2001. A systematic review of the effectiveness of psychosocial interventions for carers of people with dementia. *Aging and Mental Health* 5: 107–19
- Pynoos, J. and Ohta, R.J. 1991. In-home interventions for persons with Alzheimer's disease and their caregivers. *Physical and Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics* 9: 83–92
- Quayhagen, M.P. and Quayhagen, M. 1989. Differential effects of family-based strategies on Alzheimer's disease. *Gerontologist* 29: 150-5
- Quayhagen, M.P. and Quayhagen, M. 1996. Discovering life quality in coping with dementia. *Western Journal of Nursing Research* 18: 120–35
- Quayhagen, M.P., Quayhagen, M., Corbeil, R.R., Hendrix, R.C., Jackson, J.E., Snyder, L. and Bower, D. 2000. Coping with dementia: evaluation of four nonpharmacologic interventions. *International Psychogeriatrics* 12: 249–65
- Razali, S., Hasanah, C., Khan, U. and Subramaniam, M. 2000. Psychosocial interventions for schizophrenia. *Journal of Mental Health* 9: 283–9

- Reifler, B.V., Cox, N.J., Jones, B.N., Rushing, J. and Yates, K. 1999. Service use and financial performance in a replication program on adult day centers. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 7: 98–109
- Reinhard, S.C. 1994. Living with mental illness: effects of professional support and personal control on caregiver burden. *Research in Nursing and Health* 17: 79–88
- Riordan, J.M. and Bennett, A.V. 1998. An evaluation of an augmented domiciliary service to older people with dementia and their carers. *Aging and Mental Health* 2: 137–43
- Ripich, D.N., Ziol, E., Fritsch, T. and Durand, E.J. 1999. Training Alzheimer's disease caregivers for successful communication. *Clinical Gerontologist* 21: 37–56
- Ripich, D.N., Ziol, E. and Lee, M.M. 1998. Longitudinal effects of communication training on caregivers of persons with Alzheimer's disease. *Clinical Gerontologist* 19: 37–52
- Roberts, J., Browne, G., Gafni, A., Varieur, M., Loney, P. and De Ruijter, M.
 2000. Specialized continuing care models for persons with dementia: A systematic review of the research literature', *Canadian Journal of Aging* 19: 106-26
- Roberts, J., Browne, G., Milne, C., Spooner, L., Gafni, A., Drummond Young, M., LeGris, J., Watt, S., LeClair, K. and Beaumont, L. 1999. Problem-solving counseling for caregivers of the cognitively impaired: effective for whom?' *Nurse Researcher* 48: 162–72
- Robinson, K. and Yates, K. 1994. Effects of two caregiver-training programs on burden and attitude toward help. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing 8: 312– 19
- Robinson, K.M. 1988. A social skills training program for adult caregivers. Advances in Nursing Science 10: 59–72
- Rudolph, C., Lakin, K.C., Oslund, J.M. and Larson, W. 1998. Evaluation of outcomes and cost-effectiveness of a community behavioral support and crisis response demonstration project. *Mental Retardation* 36: 187–97
- Russell, V., Proctor, L. and Moniz, E. 1989. The influence of a relative support group on carers' emotional distress. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 14: 863– 7
- Sellwood, W., Barrowclough, C., Tarrier, N., Quinn, J., Mainwaring, J. and Lewis, S. 2001 Needs-based cognitive-behavioural family intervention for carers of patients suffering from schizophrenia: 12-month follow-up. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 104: 346-55
- Seltzer, M.M., Litchfield, L.C., Kapust, L.R. and Mayer, J.B. 1992. Professional and family collaboration in case management: a hospital-based replication of a community-based study. *Social Work and Health Care* 17: 1–22
- Schalock, R. 1995. Outcome based evaluation. New York: Plenum Press
- Sherrill, J.T., Frank, E., Geary, M., Stack, J.A. and Reynolds, C.F. 1997.
 Psychoeducational workshops for elderly patients with recurrent major depression and their families. *Psychiatric Services* 48: 76–81
- Shimodera, S., Inoue, S., Mino, Y., Tanaka, S., Kii, M. and Motoki, Y. 2000. Expressed emotion and psychoeducational intervention for relatives of patients with schizophrenia: a randomized controlled study in Japan. *Psychiatry Research* 96: 141–8
- Sidley, G.L., Smith, J. and Howells, K. 1991. Is it ever too late to learn? Information provision to relatives of long-term schizophrenia sufferers. *Behavioural Psychotherapy* 19: 305–20
- Silliman, R.A., McGarvey, S.T., Raymond, P.M. and Fretwell, M.D. 1990. The Senior Care Study. Does inpatient interdisciplinary geriatric assessment help the family caregivers of acutely ill older patients? *Journal of the American Geriatric Society* 38: 461–6
- Simpson, R.G. 1997. Carers as equal partners in care planning. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing* 4: 345–54.
- Skipwith, D. 1994. Telephone counseling interventions with caregivers of elders. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing* 32: 7–12
- Slavin, R. 1995. Best evidence synthesis: An intelligent alternative to metaanalysis. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 48: 9–18
- Smith, J. and Birchwood, M. 1987. Specific and nonspecific effects of educational interventions with families of schizophrenic patients. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 150: 645–52
- Smith, G. and Cantley, C. 1985. *Assessing health care*. Milton Keynes: Open University Press
- Social Services Inspectorate 1998. A matter of chance for carers? Inspection of local authority support for carers. London: Department of Health
- Solomon, P. and Draine, J. 1995. Subjective burden among family members of mentally ill adults: relation to stress, coping, and adaptation. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 65: 419–27
- Solomon, P., Draine, J., Mannion, E. and Meisel, M. 1997. Effectiveness of two models of brief family education: retention of gains by family members of adults with serious mental illness. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 67: 177-86
- Souetre, E., Thwaites, R. and Yeardley, H. 1999. Economic impact of Alzheimer's disease in the United Kingdom. Cost of care and disease severity for non-institutionalised patients with Alzheimer's disease. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 174: 51–5
- Spoor, C. 1988. Care of the Elderly with Psychiatric Disorders, HERU series of option appraisal papers, SOAP no. 11. Aberdeen: Health Economics Research Unit, University of Aberdeen
- Steffen, A.M., Tebb, S. and McGillick, J. 1999. How to cope: Documenting the changing information needs of Alzheimer's caregivers. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 14: 262–9
- Strawn, B.D., Hester, S. and Brown, W.S. 1998. Telecare: A social support intervention for family caregivers of dementia victims. *Clinical Gerontologist* 18: 66–9

- St. Leger, A., Schnieden, J. and Walsworth-Bell, J. 1992. *Evaluating health service effectiveness*. Milton Keynes: Open University Press
- Szmukler, G., Kuipers, E., Joyce, J., Harris, T., Leese, M., Maphosa, W. and Staples, E. (forthcoming). An exploratory randomized controlled trial of a supported programme for carers of patients with a psychosis (personal communication)
- Szmukler, G.I., Herrman, H., Colusa, S., Benson, A. and Bloch, S. 1996. A controlled trial of a counselling intervention for caregivers of relatives with schizophrenia. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology* 31: 149–55
- Tarrier, N. 1991. Some aspects of family interventions in schizophrenia. II: Financial considerations. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 159: 481–4
- Teri, L., Logsdon, R. G., Uomoto, J. and McCurry, S.M. 1997. Behavioral treatment of depression in dementia patients: a controlled clinical trial. *Journal of Gerontology B* 52: 159–66
- Thompson, C. and Spilsbury, K. 2001. Support for carers of people with Alzheimer's type dementia (Cochrane Review). In: *The Cochrane Library*, Issue 3, 2001. Oxford: Update Software.
- Toseland, R.W. and Rossiter, C.M. 1989. Group interventions to support family caregivers: a review and analysis. *Gerontologist* 29: 438–48
- Toth Cohen, S. 2000. Role perceptions of occupational therapists providing support and education for caregivers of persons with dementia. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy* 54: 509–15
- Van Minnen A., Hoogduin, C. and Broekman, T. 1997. Hospital vs. outreach treatment of patients with mental retardation and psychiatric disorders: a controlled study. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 95: 515–22
- Vernooij Dassen, M., Lamers, C., Bor, J., Felling, A. and Grol, R. 2000. Prognostic factors of effectiveness of a support program for caregivers of dementia patients. *International Journal of Aging and Human Development* 51: 259–74
- Wagner, E.H. and Guild, P.A. 1989. Choosing an evaluation strategy. *American* Journal of Health Promotion 4: 134–39
- Walden, V. and Baxter, D. 2001. The comprehensive approach: An evaluation model to assess HIV/AIDS-related behaviour change in developing countries. *Evaluation* 7: 439–52
- Watkins, M. and Redfern, S.J. 1997 Evaluation of a new night nursing service for elderly people suffering from dementia. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 6: 85–94
- Weinberg, A., Huxley, P. 2000. An evaluation of the impact of voluntary sector family support workers on the quality of life of carers of schizophrenia sufferers. *Journal of Mental Health* 9: 495–503
- Weinberger, M., Gold, D.T., Divine, G.W., Cowper, P.A., Hodgson, L. G., Schreiner, P.J. and George, L.K. 1993. Social service interventions for caregivers of patients with dementia: impact on health care utilization and expenditures. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 41: 153-6

- Wells, Y.D., Jorm, A.F., Jordan, F. and Lefroy, R. 1990. Effects on care-givers of special day care programmes for dementia sufferers. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 24: 82–90
- Wenger, G., Woods, R., Keady, J. and Scott, A. 2000. *Dementia Action Research and Education (DARE)*, Final Report to the Department of Health. Bangor: Institute of Medical and Social Care, University of Wales.
- Whitby, P. and Joomratty, J. 1990. Support and stay : an innovative community service for the elderly confused. *Psychiatric Bulletin* 14: 708-10
- White, M.H. and Dorman, S.M. 2000. Online support for caregivers Analysis of an Internet Alzheimer mailgroup. *Computers in Nursing* 18: 168–76
- Whitlatch, C.J., Zarit, S.H. and von Eye, A. 1991. Efficacy of interventions with caregivers: a reanalysis. *Gerontologist* 31: 9–14
- Winefield, H., Barlow, J. and Harvey, E. 1998. Responses to support groups for family caregivers in schizophrenia: who benefits from what?. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Mental Health Nursing* 7: 103–10
- Winefield, H.R. and Harvey, E.J. 1995. Tertiary prevention in mental health care: effects of group meetings for family caregivers. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 29: 139–45
- Winogrond, I.R. 1987. The relationship of caregiver burden and morale to Alzheimer's disease patient function in a therapeutic setting. *Gerontologist* 27: 336-9
- Winslow, B.W. 1998. Family caregiving and the use of formal community support services: a qualitative case study. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing* 19: 11–27
- Winter, J. 2000. Cost-effective quality service : dementia care support. *Clinical Governance Bulletin* 1: 9–10
- Wishart, L., Macerollo, J., Loney, P., King, A., Beaumont, L., Browne, G. and Roberts, J. 2000. 'Special Steps': an effective visiting/walking program for persons with cognitive impairment. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research* 31: 57-71
- Woods, B., Wills, W. and Higginson, I. 1998. An Evaluation of the Admiral Nurse Service: An Innovative Service for the Carers Of People with Dementia, Final report to NHS Executive North Thames R & D Directorate.
- Wright, L.K., Litaker, M., Laraia, M.T. and DeAndrade, S. 2001. Continuum of care for Alzheimer's disease: a nurse education and counseling program. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing* 22: 231–52
- Young Carers Research Group 2001. Children caring for family members with severe and enduring mental health problems. *YRCG Bulletin*. Loughborough: Young Carers Research Group, Loughborough University
- Xiong, W., Phillips, M. R., Hu, X., Wang, R., Dai, Q., Kleinman, J. and Kleinman,
 A. 1994. Family-based intervention for schizophrenic patients in China. A randomised controlled trial. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 165: 239-47

- Yordi, C., DuNah, R., Bostrom, A., Fox, P., Wilkinson, A. and Newcomer, R.
 1997. Caregiver supports: outcomes from the Medicare Alzheimer's disease demonstration. *Health Care Finance Review* 19: 97-117
- Zanetti, O., Metitieri, T., Bianchetti, A. and Trabucchi, M. 1998. Effectiveness of an educational program for demented person's relatives. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics* 27: 531–8
- Zarit, S.H., Anthony, C.R. and Boutselis, M. 1987. Interventions with care givers of dementia patients: comparison of two approaches. *Psychology and Aging* 2, 225–32
- Zarit, S.H., Stephens, M.A., Townsend, A. and Greene, R. 1998. Stress reduction for family caregivers: effects of adult day care use. *Journal of Gerontology B* 53: 267–77
- Zarit, S.H. and Leitsch, S.A. 2001. Developing and evaluating community based intervention programs for Alzheimer's patients and their caregivers. *Aging and Mental Health* 5: 84–S98
- Zhang, M., He, Y., Gittelman, M., Wong, Z. and Yan, H. 1998. Group psychoeducation of relatives of schizophrenic patients: two-year experiences. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience* 52: 344–7

Appendix 1

Distribution of references by electronic bibliographic source

Database	Host	Dates covered	Date searched	Hits	Filename
AMED	Silverplatter/ARC	1985 - 2001/07	28/11/01	512	Amedcare.txt
ASSI	York Datanet		10/12/01	0	
BNI	Silverplatter/ARC	1994 - 2001/07	28/11/01	317	BNIcare.txt
Caredata	Internet	All	28/11/01	41	
CCTR	cd-rom	2001: issue 4	29/11/01	337	
CDSR	cd-rom	2001: issue 4	29/11/01	1	
Cinahl	Silverplatter/ARC	1982 - 2001/10	28/11/01	839	Cinmed.txt
DARE	Internet	Current	29/11/01	2	
Embase	Silverplatter/ARC	1984 - 2001/10	28/11/01	1589	Embcare.txt
HMIC – King's Fund Database	Silverplatter/ARC	1979 - current	28/11/01	506	Kingcare.txt
HELMIS					
Dhdata					
HTA	Internet	29/11/01	29/11/01	0	
Medline	Silverplatter/ARC	1981 - 2001/10	28/11/01	1565	Medcare.txt
NHS EED	Internet	29/11/01	29/11/01	25	
SIGLE	CD-ROM		10/12/01	64	
SSCI	Web of Science	1985-2001	10/12/01	268	savedrecs
Sociological Abstracts	Silverplatter/ARC	1986 - 2001/09	28/11/01	247	Socabcare.txt

Endnote library: 3755 after deduplication

An economics filter was applied to all the databases and records within the Endnote library were subsequently tagged as economics papers.

Appendix 2

Search strategy for literature review

Su Golder, Information Officer CRD*

The following search strategy was used on the Medline database and then converted for each subsequent database.

- 1 "Caregivers"/ all subheadings
- 2 caregiv* in ti ab
- 3 care-giv* in ti ab
- 4 carer* in ti ab
- 5 informal care in ti ab
- 6 befriending in ti ab
- 7 home care in ti
- 8 home based care in ti ab
- 9 caretaker* in ti ab
- 10 care taker* in ti ab
- 11 ((family or families or neighbour* or relatives) near2 (care or caring)) in ti ab
- 12 ((family or families or neighbour* or relatives) near2 (support)) in ti
- 13 #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7 or #8 or #9 or #10 or #11 or #12
- 14 explode "Mental-Disorders"/ all subheadings
- 15 "Mental-Health"/ all subheadings
- 16 mental disorder* in ti ab
- 17 mental health problem* in ti ab
- 18 mental illness in ti ab
- 19 psychiatric disorder* in ti ab
- 20 mentally ill in ti ab
- 21 dementia in ti ab
- 22 schizophrenia in ti ab
- 23 alzheimers in ti ab
- 24 psychiatric problem* in ti ab
- 25 mental health disorder* in ti ab
- 26 mental disease* in ti ab
- 27 psychiatric illness* in ti ab
- 28 mental impairment in ti ab

- 29 eating disorder* in ti ab
- 30 cognitive disorder* in ti ab
- 31 mood disorder* in ti ab
- 32 anxiety disorder* in ti ab
- 33 personality disorder* in ti ab
- 34 anorexia in ti ab
- 35 bulimia in ti ab
- 36 explode "Substance- Related- Disorders"/ all subheadings
- 37 hysteria in ti ab
- 38 neuroses in ti ab
- 39 psychoses in ti ab
- 40 manic depression in ti ab
- 41 #14 or #15 or #16 or #17 or #18 or #19 or #20 or #21 or #22 or #23 or #24 or #25 or #26 or #27 or #28 or #29 or #30 or #31 or #32 or #33 or #34 or #35 or #36 or #37 or #38 or #39 or #40
- 42 #13 and #41
- 43 (service* or programme* or program or programs or project* or scheme*) in ti ab
- 44 (support near2 care*) in ti ab
- 45 (initiative* or incentive* or intervention*) in ti ab
- 46 #43 or #44 or #45
- 47 #42 and #46
- 48 #47 and (PY >= "1985")
- 49 #48 and (LA = "ENGLISH")

Appendix 3

References not retrieved

- Adler, G., Ott, L., Jelinski, M., Mortimer, J. and Christensen, R. 1993.
 Institutional respite care: benefits and risks for dementia patients and caregivers. *International Psychogeriatrics* 5: 67–77
- Akkerman, R. and Ostwald, S. 2001. Managing anxiety in caregivers of persons diagnosed with Alzheimer's Disease: A group cognitive-behavioral intervention, *Gerontologist* 41: 102–3
- Arguelles, S. and von Simson, A. 1999. Innovative family and technological interventions for encouraging leisure activities in caregivers of persons with Alzheimer's disease. *Activities Adaptation and Aging* 24: 83–97
- Atienza, A.A., Collins, R. and King, A.C. 2001. The mediating effects of situational control on social support and mood following a stressor: a prospective study of dementia caregivers in their natural environments. *Journal of Gerontology* 56: S129–39
- Barusch, A.S. and Spaid, W.M. 1991. Reducing caregiver burden through short term training: Evaluation findings from a caregiver support project. *Journal* of Gerontological Social Work. 17: 7–33
- Beck, C. 1996. Evaluation of interventions in Alzheimer's disease, *International Psychogeriatrics.* 8: 117–20
- Belmin, J., Hee, C. and Ollivet, C. 1999. A health education program lessens the burden of family caregivers of demented patients, *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 47, 1388–9
- Bentley, K.J. 1988. Family-Based Intervention with Schizophrenia: A Clinical Outcome Study. *Dissertation Abstracts International, A: The Humanities and Social Sciences* 48: 2727-A
- Brodaty, H. 1994. Can Interventions with Family Caregivers Make a Difference to Them and to People with Dementia. *Neurobiology of Aging* 15: S3-S3
- Brodaty, H. 1996. Caregivers and behavioral disturbances: effects and interventions. *International Psychogeriatrics* 8: 3455–8
- Canive, J.M., Sanz Fuentenebro, J., Vazquez, C., Qualls, C., Fuentenebro, F., Perez, I.G. and Tuason, V.B. 1996. Family psychoeducational support groups in Spain: parents' distress and burden at none-month follow-up. *Annual of Clinical Psychiatry* 8: 71-9
- Chambers, M. and McCammon, C. 1998. Using technology to enhance psychological well-being. *Journal of Psychiatric & Mental Health Nursing* 5, 423–4

- Christenson, D. and Moore, I. 1994. Intensive case management in Alzheimer's disease home care: an interim report on the Cincinnati (Ohio) Medicare Alzheimer's Project. *Journal of Long Term Home Health Care* 13, 43–52
- Collins, C. 1990. Effects on Caregivers of Special Day-Care Programs for Dementia Sufferers. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 24. 298–8
- Conlin, M.M., Caranasos, G.J. and Davidson, R.A. 1987. Provision of Day-Care to Persons with Alzheimers-Disease and Related Disorders – Effects on Caregivers, *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 35: 904
- Davies, H., Priddy, J. and Tinklen, J.R. 1986. Support groups for male caregivers of Alzheimer's patients, *Clinical Gerontologist* 5: 385–95
- Deimling, G.T. 1991. Respite use and caregiver well-being in families caring for stable and declining AD patients. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work* 18: 177–34
- Dellasega, C. 1990. Coping with caregiving; stress management for caregivers of the elderly. *Journal of psychosocial Nursing* 28: 15–22
- Dudley, M. 1994. Psychosocial intervention with a lone carer. *Mental Health Nursing* 14: 20–3
- Ellishermansen, S. and Gunter, L.M. 1986. Social Support and Caregiver Well-Being – Home Care of Senile Dementia Clients. *Gerontologist* 26: A199
- Farran, C.J. and Keanehagerty, E. 1994. Interventions for Caregivers of Persons with Dementia – Educational Support Groups and Alzheimers Association Support Groups. *Applied Nursing Research* 7: 112–17
- Gallagher Thompson, D. *et al.* 2000. Impact of psychoeducational interventions on distressed family caregivers. *Journal of Clinical Geropsychology* 6: 91– 110
- Gallo, J.J. 1990. The Effect of Social Support on Depression in Caregivers of the Elderly. *Journal of Family Practice* 30: 430–36
- Gendron, C., Poitras, L., Engels, M. *et al.* 1986. Skills training with supporters of the demented. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 34: 875–80
- Goodhart, C. and Graffy, J. 2000. Long term benefits need to be taken into account when evaluating family support projects. *British Medical Journal* 320: 1600
- Gormley, N. 2000. The role of dementia training programmes in reducing caregiver burden. *Psychiatric Bulletin* 24: 41–2
- Gouveia, J.S. 1997. Respiro: The New Mexico Behavioral Respite Care Project.
 Part I. Design, Implementation, and Evaluation. Part II. Respiro Manual.
 Dissertation Abstracts International, A: The Humanities and Social
 Sciences 57: 4543-A
- Graham, R. 1989. Adult day care how families of the dementia patient respond. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing* 15: 27-31
- Greene, V.L. and Monahan, D.J. 1987. The effect of a professionally guided caregiver support and education group on institutionalisation of care receivers. *Gerontologist* 27: 716–21

- Greene, V.L. and Monahan, D.J. 1989. The effect of a support and education program on stress and burden among family caregivers of frail elderly persons. *Gerontologist* 29: 472–7
- Gunstone, S. 1999. Expert practice: the interventions used by a community mental health nurse with carers of dementia sufferers. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing* 6: 21–7
- Hagen, B., Gallagher, E. and Simpson, S. 1997. Family caregiver education and support programs: using humanistic approaches to evaluate program effects. *Educational Gerontology* 23: 129–42
- Hannappel, M., Calsyn, R.J. and Allen, G. 1993. Does Social Support Alleviate the Depression of Caregivers of Dementia Patients. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work* 20: 35–51
- Hanson, E., Tetley, J. and Clarke, A. 1999. A multimedia intervention to support family caregivers. *Gerontologist* 39: 736–41
- Hanson, E., Tetley, J. and Clarke, A. 1999. Respite care for frail older people and their family carers: concept analysis and user focus group findings of a pan-European nursing research project. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 30: 1396–407
- Hanson, E., Tetley, J. and Shewan, J. 2000. Supporting family carers using interactive multimedia. *British Journal of Nursing* 9. 713–9
- Hay, J.W. and Ernst, R.L. 1987. The economic costs of Alzheimer's disease. *American Journal of Public Health* 77, 1169–75
- Hogarty, G., Anderson, C. and Reiss, D. 1991. Family psycho-education, social skills training and mainteneance chemotherapy in the aftercare treatment of schizophrenia II: two year effects of a controlled study on relapse and adjustment. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 48: 340-7
- Holicky, R. 1996. Caring for the caregivers: the hidden victims of illness and disability. *Rehabilitation Nursing* 21. 247–52
- Hooyman, N., Gonyea, J.G. and Montgomery, R.J. 1985. The impact of in-home services termination on family caregivers. *Gerontologist* 25, 141–5
- Huckle, P. 1994. Psychological interventions to help support carers. *Care-Elderly* 6, 10–13
- Hughes, S.L., Cummings, J., Weaver, F., Manheim, L.M., Conrad, K. J. and Nash, K. 1990. A randomized trial of veterans administration home care for severely disabled veterans. *Medical Care* 28, 135–44
- Hunt, G.G. 1998. Technologies to support carers. *Studies in Health Technology and Information*: 48158–64
- Keady, J. and Nolan, M. 1995. A stitch in time: facilitating proactive interventions with dementia caregiver: the role of community practitioners. *Journal of Psychiatric & Mental Health Nursing* 2: 33–40
- Keller, D.M., Cairl, R.E. and Kosberg, J. 1985. Impact of a Dementia-Specific Day-Care Center on Alzheimer Patients and Caregivers - a Quasi-Experimental Study. *Gerontologist* 25: 40

- Keller, M.J. and Hughes, S. 1991. The role of leisure education with family caregivers of persons with Alzheimer's Disease and related disorders. *Annual in Therapeutic Recreation* 2: 1–7
- Kosberg, J.I., Keller, D. and Cairl, R. 1986. Correlates of Change in Burden for Caregivers of Dementia Patients in Day-Care-Centers. *Gerontologist* 26: A254
- Larkin, J.P., Rheume, Y., Seltzer, B., Brown, J.B., Lyon, P. *et al.* 1988. An in hospital respite program for Alzheimer's. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Care and Related Disorders*: 26–30
- Light, E., Niederehe, G. and Lebowitz, B.D. 1994. *Stress Effects on Family Caregivers of Alzheimer's Patients: Research and Interventions.* New York. Springer Publications
- Lovett, S.B. and Rose, J.M. 1994. Psychoeducational interventions for caregivers. *Seminal Speech and Language* 15: 271–9
- Lund, D.A., Hill, R., Caserta, M.S. and Wright, S. 1995. Video respite: an innovative resource for family, professional caregivers and persons with dementia. *Gerontologist* 35: 638–87
- Lundervold, D. and Lewin, L. 1987. Effects of in-home respite care on caregivers of family members with Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of clinical experimental gerontology* 9: 201–14
- Macdonald, A. 1999. RCT of telephone dementia carer support. *Current Controlled Trials*
- Magni, E., Zanetti, O., Bianchetti, A., Binetti, G. and Trabucchi, M. 1995.
 Evaluation of an Italian Educational-Program for Dementia Caregivers –
 Results of a Small-Scale Pilot-Study. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry 10: 569-73
- Mari, J. and Streiner, D.L. 1996. *Schizophrenia module, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews.* London, Cochrane Library
- Marshall, R.Y. 1995. A Comparative Study of Support Services Provided to Caregivers of Persons with Dementia in the United States and Scotland. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 43: SA51
- Martindale-Adams, J., Nichols, L.O., Burns, R. and Lummus, A. 2001. Evaluation of telephone support groups for Alzheimer's disease caregivers. *Gerontologist* 41: 207–8
- McCallion, P., Diehl, M. and Toseland, R.W. 1994. Support group interventions for family caregivers of dementia patients. *Seminal Speech and Language* 15: 257–70
- McCallion, P. and Toseland, R.W. 1995. Supportive group interventions with caregivers of frail older adults. *Social Work with Groups* 18: 11-25
- McFarlane, W., Lukens, E. and Link, B. *et al.* 1995. Multiple family groups and psychoeducation in the treatment of schizophrenia. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 52: 679–87
- McLoughlin, D. and Ng, A. 1999. Support and information in a stress-free environment. *Journal of Dementia Care* 7: 14–5

- Meltzer, D., Bedford, S., Denning, T., Lawton, C., Todd, C., Badger, G. and Bryne, C. 1996. Carers and the monitoring of psychogeriatric community teams. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 11: 1057–61
- Miller, D., Gulle, N. and McCue, F. 1986. The realities of respite for families, clients and sponsors. *Gerontologist* 26: 467–70
- Mingyuan, Z., Heqin, Y. and Chengde, Y. 1993. Effectiveness of psychoeducation of relatives of schizophrenic patients: a prospective cohort study in five cities of China. *International Mental Health* 22: 47–59
- Montgomery, R.J. 1988. Respite care: lessons from a controlled design study. *Health Care Finance Review,* Annual Supplement: 133-8
- Moore, P.J. 1990. An Educational Group Program Emphasizing Community Resources: A Model for Training Caregivers of the Chronically Mentally III. Dissertation Abstracts International, A: The Humanities and Social Sciences 50: 3739-A
- Morris, R.G., Woods, R.T., Davies, K.S. and Berry, J.W. 1992. The use of a coping strategy focused support group for carers of dementia sufferers. *Counselling Psychology Quarterly* 5: 337–48
- Moseley, P., Davies, H. and Priddy, J. 1988. Support groups for male caregivers of Alzheimer's patients: a follow up. *Clinical Gerontologist* 7: 127–36
- Nathan, P. 1986. Helping wives of Alzheimer's patients through group therapy. Social Work with Groups 9: 73-81
- Newman, S., Struyk, R., Wright, P. and Rice, M. 1990. Overwhelming odds: caregiving and the risk of institutionalization. *Journal of gerontology* 45: s173-s183
- Pakenham, K.I. and Dadds, M.R. 1987. Family Care and Schizophrenia the Effects of a Supportive Educational-Program on Relatives Personal and Social-Adjustment. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 21: 580–90
- Palo Bengtsson, L. and Ekman, S. 2000. Dance events as a caregiver intervention for persons with dementia. *Nursing Inquiry* 7: 156–65
- Perkins, E. and MacFarlane, J. 2001. Family support by lay workers: a health visiting initiative. *British Journal of Community Nursing* 6: 26–32
- Pusey, H. 2000. Dementia care: interventions with people with dementia and their informal carers. *Mental Health and Learning Disabilities Care.* 3: 204– 7
- Randolph, E., Eth, S. and Glynn, S. 1994. Behavioural family management in schizophrenia: outcome of a clinic-based intervention. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 164: 501–6
- Rivera, P.A. 2000. A psychoeducational intervention with Mexican American caregivers of persons with dementia. *Rehabilitation Psychology* 45 320-1
- Rivera Patricia, A. 2000. Effectiveness of a psychoeducational intervention for the reduction of distress in Mexican-American caregivers of dementia patients. *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering* 60: 4248

- Roberto, K.A., Amburg, S. and Orleans, M. 1994. The caregiver empowerment project: Developing programs within rural communities. *Activities Adaptation and Aging* 18: 1–12
- Rosenheimer, L. and Francis, E. 1992. Feasible without subsidy? Overnight respite for Alzheimer's. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing* 18: 21–9
- Schmidt, G., Bonjean, M., Widem, A., Schefft, B. and Steele, D. 1988. Brief psychotherapy for caregivers of demented relatives: comparison of two therapeutic strategies. *Clinical Gerontologist* 7: 109–25
- Schmidt, G. and Keyes, B. 1985. Group psychotherapy with family caregivers of demented patients. *Gerontologist* 25: 347-9
- Scott, J.P., Roberto, K.A. and Hutton, J.T. 1986. Families of Alzheimers Victims

 Family Support to the Caregivers. *Journal of the American Geriatrics* Society 34: 348–54
- Shankar, R. and Sarada, M.M. 1993. Development of a framework of interventions with families in the management of schizophrenia, *Psychosocial Rehabilitation Journal* 16: 75–91
- Shibbal-Champagne, S. and Lipinska-Stachow, D. 1985/1986. Alzheimer's educational/support group: considerations for success – awareness of family tasks, pre-planning and active professional facilitation. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work* 9: 41–8
- Shivley, S. 1993. Lessons in caring: a 'care by caregiver' program. *Geriatric Nursing* 14: 304-6
- Simank, M., Strickland, K. 1986. Assisting families in coping with Alzheimer's disease and other related dementias with the establishment of a mutual support group. *Psychology and Aging* 2: 49–58
- Smith, M. and Birchwood, J. 1987. Education for families with schizophrenic relatives. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 150: 645–52
- Steuer, J. 1985. Support Groups for Caregivers of Dementia Patients Do They Work? *Gerontologist* 25: 254–4
- Strawn, B.D., Hester, S. and Brown, W.S. 1998. Clinical comments. Telecare: a social support intervention for family caregivers of dementia victims. *Clinical Gerontologist* 18: 66–9
- Szmukler, G. 1996. Helping carers of patients with severe mental illness. Proceedings of 8th Congress of the Association of European Psychiatrists, London, UK, 7–12 July 1996
- Teri, L. and Gallagher Thompson, D. 1991. Cognitive-behavioural interventions for treatment of depression in Alzheimer's patients. *Gerontologist* 31: 413– 16
- Theis, S., Moss, J. and Pearson, M. 1994. Respite for caregivers: an evaluation study. *Journal of Community Health Nursing* 11: 31-44
- Toner, H.L. 1987. Effectiveness of a written guide for carers of dementia sufferers. *British Journal of Clinical and Social Psychology* 5: 24–6
- Tredget, J. 1999. Family intervention in the treatment of schizophrenia. *Mental Health Nursing* 19: 25–7

- Vaughn, K., Doyle, M. and McConaghy, N. et. al. 1992. The Sydney Intervention Trial: a controlled trial of relatives counselling to reduce schizophrenic relapse. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology 27: 16-21
- Walder, S. 1995. Day care: do carers gain? Journal of Dementia Care 3: 28-9
- Weissbourd, B. and Kagan, S.L. 1989. Family support programs: catalysts for change. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 59: 20-31
- Whelton, C., Pawlick, J. and Cardamone, J. 1997. Involving families in psychosocial rehabilitation. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal* 20, 57–60
- Whitlatch, C.J., Zarit, S.H., Goodwin, P.E. and von Eye, A. 1995. Influence of the success of psychoeducational interventions on the course of family care. *Clinical Gerontologist* 16, 17–30
- Wilkins, S.S., Castle, S., Heck, E., Tanzy, K. and Fahey, J. 1999. Immune function, mood, and perceived burden among caregivers participating in a psychoeducational intervention. *Psychiatric Services* 50, 747–9
- Wright, L., Bennett, G., Gramling, L. and Daley, L.L. 1999. Family caregiver evaluation of telehealth interventions. *Gerontologist* 39: 67
- Wykle, M.L. 1996. Interventions for family management of patients with Alzheimer's disease. *International Psychogeriatrics* 8: 1109–11
- Zastowny, T., Lehman, A. and Cole, R. 1992. Family management of schizophrenia: a comparison of behavioural and supportive family treatment. *Psychiatric Quarterly* 63: 159–86

Appendix 4

Summary table of studies included in the review

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
34	Jarrott <i>et al.</i> (1999)	Carers (261)	Dementia	Quantitative. No control group. Pre-test. Follow- up (3 and 12 months)	Adult Day Service Programme	Not given	Standard outcome measures: benefits and drawbacks of programme; satisfaction	USA
35	Wells <i>et al.</i> (1990)	Carers (219): study group (155); wait list/control (64)	Dementia	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests	Special Dementia Day Care Programme	Varied	Standard outcome measures: problem checklist; psychological problems; anxiety; depression; quality of life; guilt; grief	Australia
37	Dziegielewski and Ricks (2000)	Carers (26)	Dementia	Quantitative. Postal survey	Adult Day Programme (social model)	Varied	Programme evaluation and satisfaction survey	USA
78	Zarit <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Carers (324). Short-term (3 months) study group = 121; control group = 203. Long-term study group (12 months) = 73; control group = 120	Dementia	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow up (12 months)	Adult Day Care	Minimum 2 days/week	Standard outcome measures: stress appraisals and well-being	USA

Table 1 Day care services (N = 12)

Table 1 Day care services (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
118	Chu (1991)	Patients (9); carers (9)	Dementia	Not clear	Day Care Centre	Not clear	Impact of day care programme on patient and carer	Hong Kong
121	Beisecker <i>et al.</i> (1996)	Carers (104). Study group = 52. Control group (non-users) = 52.	Alzheimer's disease	Mixed. Control group. Post-test	Adult Day Care	Varied	Semi-structured interview schedule: benefits and barriers to use of programmes	US
156	Johnson and Maguire (1989)	Carers (46)	Alzheimer's disease and related dementia; schizophrenia; depression	Quantitative. No control. Pre- /post-tests. Follow-up (4 months)	Day Away Centre	From 8 to 24 hours per week	Standard outcome measures: stress; patient behaviour	Australia
181	Adam <i>et al.</i> (2000)	Patient (1)	Alzheimer's disease (mild to moderate)	Mixed case study. Initial evaluation; follow-up (3 months)	Day Care Centre	13 weeks	Standard outcome measures: carer burden	Belgium
199	Cox and Reifler (1994)	Not stated	Dementia	Quantitative. No control. Pre-tests.	Dementia Care and Resite Services Programme (national demonstration project)	Varied	Standard outcome measures: multiple including problem behaviours	USA

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
200	Creed <i>et al.</i> (1997)	89 inpatients (52 carers); 90 day patients (51 carers)	Acute psychiatric illness	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-tests; regular follow-up (up to 12 months)	Day hospital vs. routine inpatient care for persons with acute psychiatric illness	Varied	Standard outcome measures: carer distress. Cost- effectiveness	UK
230	Leitsch <i>et al.</i> (2001)	Client-carer pairs (261)	Dementia	Quantitative. No control. Pre- tests; follow-up (3 months). Longer-term follow-up (to discharge)	Adult day service programmes (medical model vs. social model)	Varied	Standard outcome measures: stress. Satisfaction with programme	USA
248	Reifler <i>et al.</i> (1999)	50 sites providing adult day care centres	Selected from those applying to foundation for grants or technical assistance	Case series	Partners in Caregiving (PIC): the Dementia Services Programme (grants vs. technical assistance)	4-year period (1992-1996)	Service use and financial performance	USA

Table 1 Day care services (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
77	Jansson <i>et al</i> (1998)	Total (67). Carers (25); volunteers (27); deacons (15)	Dementia	Qualitative. No control group. Pre- /post-interviews	'Circle Model': in- home respite and training	4 months	Service evaluation	Sweden
117	Milne <i>et al.</i> (1993)	Carers (78). Study group (63); control (15). Referring agents (numbers not given)	Elderly people (dementia and stroke were the two most common conditions)	Quantitative. Control group. Pre/3-month assessment	Age Concern Carer Support Scheme	Varied	Standard outcome measures: stress, strain, coping. Carer satisfaction questionnaire. Referrer satisfaction form	UK
186	Wishart <i>et al.</i> (2000)	Carers (24). Study (13); control (11)	Cognitive impairment	Mixed. Randomised treatment/controlle d trial. Pre-/post- tests	Special Steps: visiting/walking programme	Weekly, for 6 weeks	Standard outcome measures: carer burden, social support; health and social service utilisation . Satisfaction with programme	Canada
214	Gwyther (1989)	Patient-carer pairs (40)	Dementia	Quantitative. No control. Pre-/post tests	In-home respite care	Varied	Satisfaction with service. Other outcomes measures (not described in detail)	USA

Table 2 In-home respite care (N = 4)

Table 3 Institutional respite (N = 5)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
4	Goldman <i>et al.</i> (1993)	Parents (c. 32 over 3 years); campers (c.31); graduate students/psychiatr y residents (c.7)	Serious mental illness	Quantitative. No control group. No pre-test	Annual 'respite camp' for all family members	One week	Ratings forms: programme/cam p evaluation	USA
6	Burdz and Eaton (1988)	Carers (55). Study (35) (15 dementia; 20 non- dementia). Wait list control (20) (12 dementia; 8 non-dementia)	Dementia patients and non- dementia patients	Quantitative. Control. Pre- /post-tests	Respite care programme	2-week respite stay in nursing home	Standard outcome measures: carer burden; assistance; problem behaviours	Canada
50	Larkin and Hopcroft (1993)	Carers (22); patients (21)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. No control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow up (14 days after discharge)	Hospital respite programme	2-week inpatient stay on 3 monthly basis	Standard outcome measures: carer stress. Carer satisfaction with service; receptivity to long-term inpatient placement.	USA

Table 3 Institutional respite (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
182	Watkins and Redfern (1997)	Patients (34); carers (27)	Dementia	Mixed. Case study approach. No control. Measures within one week of first attendance; then 6 weeks, 12 weeks, 6 months	CREST night nursing service	Varied	Standard outcome measures: coping; anxiety. Service evaluation	UK
189	Geiser <i>et al.</i> (1988)	Patients (14)	Mental illness	Mixed. No control. No pre- / post-tests	Respite care	2–7 day inpatient hospitalisation at 6–8-week intervals	Chart review; subject data from families: impact of respite programme on number of in- patient days; benefits of programme to carer	USA

Churcher	Author(a)	Commis		Deeeewah	Intervention	Duration of	0	Catting
Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
7	Kosloski and Montgomery (1993)	Carers (72). Study (47); wait list control(25)	Alzheimer's disease.	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests	Michigan Model Projects Specialised Respite Care Programme	Varied	Standard outcome measures: carer burden; morale	USA
9	Berry <i>et al.</i> (1991)	Female carers (40): Home care (20); day care (20)	Dementia	Quantitative. No control. Tests at baseline, and 5 subsequent occasions	Home care respite services. Comparator: day care respite services	About 19 hours/week	Standard outcome measures: burden; quality of caring relationship; daily activities; use of time. Satisfaction with programme	USA
10	Lawton <i>et al.</i> (1989)	Carers (632): experimental group (317); control group (315)	Alzheimer's disease and related conditions	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post tests	Respite Demonstration Programme (Philadelphia)	12 months	Standard outcome measures: burden/satisfaction s; physical health; mental health	USA
39	Koffman and Taylor (1997/8)	Carers (12)	Dementia	Qualitative	Respite care	Varied	Discussion about carers' views on services	UK
64	Kosloski and Montgomery (1992)	Carers (114). Respite users (87); non-users (27)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Control group. Post-tests	Michigan Model Projects Specialized Respite Care Programme	Varied	Structured questionnaire to evaluate the influence of attitudes on respite use	USA
81	Cotrell (1996)	Carers (100)	Dementia	Qualitative. No control. No pre- /post-tests	Respite services	Not given	Use of respite; preferences for methods of service delivery; perceptions of services	USA

Table 4 Mixed-respite care services (N = 15)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
85	Cox (1997)	Carers (228). Users (123); stoppers (55);non-users (50)	Alzheimer's disease or related disorder	Quantitative. Control. Pre- interviews. Follow-up (6 months)	Respite care	Varied	Standard outcome measures: quality of family relationships; use of services; carer need; problem behaviours; burden; well-being; coping ability; competency	USA
86	Gibbins (1986)	Patients (68); carers (73)	Elderly people with dementia, depression or anxiety	Mixed. No control. Pre- tests. Follow up repeats.	Oundle Community Care Unit (day and night centre).	Varied.	Standard outcome measures: strain; stress; problem behaviours	UK
93	Conlin <i>et al.</i> (1992)	Carers (15); respite users (7); control/non-users (8)	Alzheimer's disease or related dementia	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests.	Respite care	Respite of 6-8 hourrs/day, 2 days/week, for 10 weeks	Standard outcome measures: stress and mood disturbances	USA
153	Strang and Haughey (1998)	Carers (10)	Dementia	Qualitative	Respite services	Varied	Carers' experiences of respite, including acceptability/benefit s of services	Canada
154	Cox (1998)	Carers (228); users (123); stoppers (55); non-users (50)	Alzheimer's disease or related disorder	Quantitative. Control. Pre- interviews. Follow-up (6 months)	Respite care	Varied	Standard outcome measures: quality of family relationships; use of services; carer need; problem behaviours; burden; well-being; coping ability; competency	USA
157	Ashworth (2000)	Carers (23)	Not stated, but included Alzheimer's disease	Qualitative. No control. Post- tests only	Respite care	Varied	Semi-structured individual interviews: benefits and problems of respite care	UK

Table 4 Mixed-respite care services (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
201	Donaldson and Gregson (1989)	EMI patients (105); 35 intervention (24 carers); 70 controls (29 carers)	Elderly mentally infirm (EMI)	Quantitative. Case series with matched controls. Pre- /post-tests	Family support unit (co- ordinated and flexible community care)	Varied	Costs, benefits and effects of providing care for carers	UK
229	Lawton <i>et al.</i> (1989)	Patient-carer pairs (632). Study group (315): control group (317)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post tests	Respite Demonstration Programme (Philadelphia)	12 months	Standard outcome measures: burden/satisfactions ; physical health; mental health	USA

Table 4 Mixed-respite care services (continued)

Table 5	Education	(N = 29)
---------	-----------	----------

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
14	Kahan <i>et al.</i> (1985)	Carers (40): study group (22); wait list/control group (18)	Alzheimer's disease and related disorders	Quantitative. Control group. Pre- and post- tests	Specifically designed group support programme	8 weekly 2-hour sessions	Standard outcome measures: family burden; depression; knowledge of dementia. Programme evaluation	USA
18	Dixon <i>et al.</i> (2001)`	Family members (37)	Mental illness	Quantitative. No control. Prospective longitudinal evaluation (follow-up at 6 months). Pre/post-tests	Family-to-Family Education Programme	12 weekly 2–3- hour sessions	Standard outcome measures: burden; empowerment; self-esteem; sense of mastery; social network; depression; physical health	USA
19	Chiverton and Caine (1989)	Carers (40): study group (20); control group (20)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests	Educational programme	3 sessions of 2 hours	Standard outcome measure: family coping	USA

Table 5 Education (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
20	Abramowitz and Coursey (1989)	Carers (48); study group (24); wait list control group (24)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. Matched controls. Pre-/post-tests	Educational support group	6 weekly 2-hour sessions	Standard outcome measures: trait anxiety; personal distress; negative feelings toward patient; life upset; use of community resources; generalised sell- efficacy. Intervention evaluation	USA
30	Peternelj-Taylor and Hartley (1993)	Family/friends (370)	Mentally ill	Quantitative. Self-adminstered evaluation	'Living with mental illness' workshop for families and friends	One day (8 hours)	Workshop evaluation	USA
43	Mort <i>et al.</i> (1993)	Carers (23)	Dementia	Quantitative. No control group. Pre-/post tests (at 6 months)	Eductional programme	Not clear; possibly one session	Structured interview guide focusing on problem behaviours and psychotropic medications	USA
49	Murray <i>et al.</i> (1997)	Carer/patient pairs (44). Study = 26 pairs; control = 18 pairs	Mental illness	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (24-28 weeks)	Individual multidisciplinary packages	Not clear; possibly 12–14 weeks	Standard outcome measures: carer mental health; service usage; social problems	UK

Table 5 Education (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
72	Pickett-Schenk <i>et al.</i> (2000)	Families (424)	Mental illness	Quantitative. National survey	Journey of Hope Educational Programme	12 weeks	Evaluation of programme outcomes Satisfaction with programme	USA
75	Toth-Cohen (2000)	Occupational therapists (4)	Dementia	Qualitative	Occupational therapists' support and education for carers in the community	Varied	Therapists' self- perceptions as educators/supporte rs of carers	USA
76	Steffen <i>et al.</i> (1999)	Carers (51). Telephone survey (35). Focus groups (16) (8 carers; 8 professionals)	Alzheimer's disease and related diseases	Mixed survey and focus groups	How to Cope educational programme	4 weekly 2-hour sessions	Evaluation of programme. Participant satisfation	USA
80	Zanetti <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Carers (23). Study group (12); control group = 9	Dementia	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (3 months)	Educational programme	6 sessions of one hour	Standard outcome measures: depression; stress; quality of life; knowledge of disease	Italy
102	Birchwood <i>et al.</i> (1992)	Relatives (94). Group (47); post (30); video (17)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. No control group. Pre-/post tests. Follow-up (6 months)	Three methods of delivering educational interventions: information given given in a group; by post; by video	Weekly for 4 weeks	Standard outcome measures: knowledge; beliefs and expectations; stress; burden; patient disturbance; social functioning	UK

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
113	Reinhard (1994)	Carers (94)	Severe mentally illness	Quantitative. No control group. Post-tests	Provision of information from professionals	Varied	Standard outcome measures: sense of control; depression; carer burden; well- being; professional support; disruptive behaviours	USA
120	Burgener <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Patient-carer pairs. Total intervention = 11 pairs; educational programme = 12 pairs; behavioural intervention programme = 12 pairs; control group = 12 pairs	Alzheimer's disease or related dementia	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests (6 months)	Education programme. Comparator: behaviour intervention programme	One session of approx 90 minutes	Standard outcome measures: knowledge of dementia; stress	USA
125	Kuhn and Mendes de Leon (2001)	Carers (58)	Alzheimer's disease (early stages)	Quantitative. No control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (9 months)	Alzheimer's disease Knowledge Building Programme	5 x 2-hour weekly sessions	Standard outcome measures: knowledge, depression, management of problem behaviours. Programme evalution	USA

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
131	Bedard <i>et al.</i> (1997)	Patient-carer pairs (111)	Cognitive impairment	Quantitative. No control. Pre-and post-tests	Standard medical intervention, including education of carers	Short	Standard outcome measures: carer burden; health; time demands from caring; informal social support	Canada
140	Coen <i>et al.</i> (1999)	Carers (32)	Dementia	Quantitative. No control. Pre-/post tests (6 months)	Carer Education Programme	8 weekly 2-hour sessions	Standard outcome measures: quality of life; burden; well-being; patient problem behaviours; informal social support; knowledge of dementia	Ireland
145	Magni <i>et al.</i> (1995)	Carers (22)	Dementia	Quantitative. No control. Pre- /post-tests	Educational programme	8 weekly 2-hour sessions	Standard outcome measures: stress, depression, knowledge	Italy
158	Pratt <i>et al.</i> (1989)	Families (68)	Neurologically impaired elders	Quantitative. Postal survey. No control. Post-test	Legal-Financial Education Workshop	3-hour workshop	Workshop evaluation	USA
159	Matthew (1990)	Carers (32)	Dementia	Mixed (questionnaire and follow-up interviews). No control. Post-test	Community psychiatric nurses as communicators and information providers	Not clear	Evaluation of CPNs' effectiveness in communicating information to carers	UK

Table 5 Education (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
160	Farran and Keane-Hagerty (1994)	Carers (139). ESG (62); AASG (19); control group (58)	Dementia	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests	Educational Support Group (ESG) Comparator: Alzheimer's Association support group (AASG)	ESG: 8 weekly 2- hour sessions. AASG: 90-minute monthly meetings	Standard outcome measures: carer concerns	USA
162	Russell <i>et al.</i> (1989)	Carers (5)	Dementia	Quantitative. No control. Pre- /post-tests	Relatives Support Group	6 weeks	Standard outcome measures: disturbing behaviours; emotional distress; strain; depression	UK
164	Brooker <i>et al.</i> (1992)	Families (30). Study group (17); control (13)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. Pre- /post-tests. Follow-up (6 months)	Education about the nature of schizophrenia by community psychiatric nurses.		Standard outcome measures: functional knowledge about schizophrenia	UK
168	Dura (1993)	Carer (1)	Huntington's disease	Quantitative. Pre- /post-tests. Follow up (one month)	Educational intervention	4 2-hour sessions	Standard outcome measures: depression; affective states; confidence in ability to assist; behaviour problems; knowledge. Programme evaluation	USA

Table 5 Education (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
272	Smith and Birchwood (1987)	Family members (40). Group condition 20. Postal condition 20	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. No control. Pre- /post-tests. Follow-up (6 months)	Educational intervention delivered in two different formats (by professional in a group; in booklet form through post)	4-weekly sessions	Standard outcome measures: knowledge acquisition; beliefs about schizophrenia and its treatment; worry and fear; behavioural disturbance; stress; family distress	UK
285	Ghatak (1994)	Patients and carers (40 families). Study group (20); control group (16)	Alzheimer's disease and related dementia	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests	Educational/ training intervention	10 weekly 1-hour sessions	Standard outcome measures: stress; coping with problem behaviours	USA
286	Mullen <i>et al.</i> (1992)	Relatives (13)	Chronic mental illness	Quantitative. No control. Post-test	Workshop	One 90-minute meeting	Questionnaire on impact of workshop on understanding of: service operation; patient problems; caring role	UK
287	Sidley <i>et al.</i> (1991)	Relatives (18). Modified educational package (9); original educational package (9)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. Pre- /post-tests. No control	'Modified' education package. Comparator: 'original' education package	2 90-minute group sessions	Standard outcome measures: functional value of knowledge of schizophrenia; factual knowledge; stress symptoms; family distress; patient disturbance	UK

Table	6	Training	(N :	= 21)
-------	---	----------	------	-------

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
17	Fisher and Laschinger (2001)	Carers (36)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. No control group. Pre-/post-tests	Relaxation training programme	6 weeks	Standard outcome measures: behavioural problems. Self- efficacy for controlling anxiety	Canada
59	Mitchell (2000)	Carers (7)	Dementia; confused	Quantitative. No control group. Pre-/post-tests	Stress Management Programme	Weekly, for 4 weeks	Standard outcome measures: burden	UK
66	Gendron <i>et al.</i> (1996)	Carers (35). C-B group (18); support group (17)	Dementia	Quantitative. No control. Pre-/post tests. Follow-up (3 and 6 months)	Cognitive- behavioural group intervention C-B). Comparator: support group	8 weekly sessions of 90 minutes	Standard outcome measures: psychological distress; depression; coping; marital adjustment; burden. Programme evaluation questionnaire	Canada

Table 6 Training (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
71	Quayhagen and Quayhagen (1989)	Carer-patient dyads (16 pairs). Study group (10 pairs); control group (6 prs)	Alzheimer's disease	Mixed. Control group. Pre-/post- tests	Cognitive stimulation programme implemented by the family in the home setting	One hour per day for 8 months	Standard outcome measures: well- being; burden; anxiety; depression; health	USA
73	Robinson and Yates (1994)	Carers (33). BMSDP (11); SSDP (10); Control group (12)	Alzheimer's disease and related disorders	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post tests	Behavioural management development skills Programme (BMSDP). Comparator: social skills development programme (SSDP)	6 90-minute sessions over 12 weeks	Standard outcome measures: carer burden; attitudes towards, and satisfaction with, help and social support; problem behaviours	USA
88	Wright <i>et al.</i> (2001)	Carers (93). Study group (68); control group (25)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Randomised treatment/control trial. Pre-/post- tests	One year continuum of care education and counselling programme	One year	Standard outcome measures: carer stress; depression; physical health	USA

Study Author(s) Sample Care recipient Research Intervention Duration of Outcomes number group methods intervention 90 Teri *et al.* Patient-carer Dementia Quantitative. Two Behaviour 9 weekly 1-hour Standard pairs (72). BT-PE (1997)study groups; two Therapy sessions outcome (23); BT-PS (19). controls. Pre-Programme measures: carer Controls: typical /post-tests. emphasising depression; care (10); Follow-up (six patient-pleasant burden; positive waiting list (20) months) events (BT-PE). aspects of caring Comparator: Behaviour Therapy Programme to train carers in effective problem solving (BT-PS). 96 Patient-carer Dementia 10-day residential Standard Brodaty et al. Quantitative. 10 davs care-giver training (1993)pairs (96 pairs). Control group. outcome İmmediate carer Pre-/post-tests. programme; 10measures: carer training (33). 6-Follow-up (to 5 day memory stress; month delayed years) retraining neuroticism; carer training programme for satisfaction. (32). Patient patients Impact of training memorv on nursing home retraining/no admission and/or training for survival to death carers (31) 126 McCurry et al. Carers (36). Dementia Quantitative. Behavioural Between 4 and 6 Standard Group treatment (1998)Control group. treatment to weeks outcome (7); individual Pre-/post-tests. reduce sleep measures: carer Follow-up (3 treatment (14); problems sleep: waiting months) depression; list/control (15) patient

Table 6 Training (continued)

Setting

Australia

USA

behaviours; burden USA

Table 6 Training (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
129	Ripich <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Carers (37). Study group (19); control group (18)	Alzheimer's diesease (early– midstage	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up at (6/12 months)	Focused communication training	8 hours over 4 weeks	Standard outcome measures: well- being; depression; health; general hassles; communication hassles; knowledge	USA
135	Corbeil <i>et al.</i> (1999)	Carer-patient pairs (87 pairs). Active cognitive stimulation (28); passive stimulation (28); wait list control (31)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Control. Pre-/post test at 3 months. Follow-up (9 months)	Active cognitive stimulation. Comparator: passive stimulation	One hour daily for 6 days for 12 weeks, followed by 2 booster contacts in next 6 months	Standard outcome measures: memory and behaviour problems; stress coping; emotional support	USA
144	Brodaty <i>et al.</i> (1997)	Patient-carer pairs (96 pairs). Immediate carer training (33). 6- month delayed carer training (32). Patient memory retraining/no training for carers (31)	Dementia (mild to moderate)	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (to 8 years)	10-day residential care-giver training programme; 10- day memory retraining programme for patients	10 days	Standard outcome measures: carer stress; neuroticism; satisfaction Impact of training on nursing home admission and/or survival to death	Australia

Table 6 Training (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
147	Hinchliffe <i>et al.</i> (1995)	Patient-carer pairs (40). Study group = 22 pairs; waiting list/ control = 18	Dementia	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-tests. Re- assessment at 16 and 32 weeks	Individualised packages of care	16 weeks	Standard outcome measures: carer well-being; behavioural disturbances; social support	UK
151	Chang (1999)	Patient-carer pairs (65). Study group (31); attention-only telephone calls (34)	Dementia	Quantitative. Two-group randomised trial. No control. Pre- /post-tests. Follow up (12 weeks)	Cognitive- behavioural intervention Comparator: 'attention-only' telephone calls	8 weeks	Standard outcome measures: coping; burden/satisfation ; emotional and physical health	USA
155	Robinson (1988)	Carers (20). Study group (11); control group (9)	Alzheimer's disease or related disorder	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests	Social skills training programme	4 2-hour sessions	Standard outcome measures: Carer burden, self- esteem, social skills,social support. Programme evaluation	USA
Table 6 Training (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
179	Seltzer <i>et al.</i> (1992)	Patients and family members (143 pairs). Dementia (58 pairs); haemodialysis (85 pairs)	Elderly patients with dementia (55+ years). Elderly patients needing dialysis (60+ years)	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests	Case management training (Family Centred Community Care for the Elderly)	6 months	Standard outcome measures: burden; contact between carer and patient. Counts of: case management tasks performed by family member and social worker; tasks sucessfully completed; types of tasks performed	USA
180	Kilstoff and Chenoweth (1998)	Total sample (39). Clients (16); carers (16); day care staff (7)	Dementia	Qualitative; action research. In-depth interviews pre- /post treatment	Gentle hand treatment for dementia day care clients using three essential oils	15-minute treatments	In-depth interviews; focus group discussions; client observations logbooks. Evaluation of hand treatment programme	Australia
184	Quayhagen and Quayhagen (1996)	Patient-carer pairs (10 pairs)	Dementia	Qualitative. No control. Pre-/post tests. Follow-up (8 months)	Cognitive remediation intervention	8 fortnightly sessions for 4 months	Efficacy of intervention: interviews; observation, care-giver log recordings; semi- structured evaluation forms	USA

Table 6 Training (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
188	Ripich <i>et al.</i> (1999)	Carers (54). FOCUSED study group (22); FOCUSED- Booster study group (10); control group (22)	Alzheimer's disease: early- midstage	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (6/12 months)	FOCUSED communication training. FOCUSED- Booster training	FOCUSED: 8 hours over 4 weeks. FOCUSED- Booster Follow- up: reinforcers at 4 months, 8 months, and 11 months after entry	Communication task (planning a menu); observation of communication	USA
196	Brodaty <i>et al.</i> (1991)	Patient-carer pairs (96 pairs). Immediate carer training (33). 6- month delayed carer training (32). Patient memory retraining/no training for carers = 31	Dementia (mild to moderate)	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (to 3 years)	10-day residential care-giver training Programme; 10- day memory retraining programme for patients	10 days	Standard outcome measures: carer stress; neuroticism; satisfaction Impact of training on nursing home admission and/or survival to death	Australia
273	Brodaty and Gresham (1989)	Patient-carer pairs (96 pairs). Immediate carer training (33). 6- month delayed carer training (32). Patient memory retraining/no training for carers (31)	Dementia: mild to moderate	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (to 3 years)	10-day residential care-giver training programme; 10- day memory retraining programme for patients	10 days	Standard outcome measures: carer stress; neuroticism; satisfaction. Impact of training on nursing home admission and/or survival to death	Australia

Table 7	Psychoeducational interventions	(N = 23)
---------	---------------------------------	----------

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
2	Pakenham and Dadds (1987)	Parents (7)	Schizophrenia (18–40 years)	Quantitative. No control group. Pre- /post-tests	Supportive/ educational programme	9 weekly sessions of 2 hours	Standard outcome measures: knowledge; behavioural disturbances; psychological health; coping. Consumer needs questionnaire	Australia
5	Buckwalter <i>et al.</i> (1999)	Carers (240). Study (132); comparison (108)	Alzheimer's disease and related dementias	Quantitative. Pre- /post-tests (at 3-6 months). Follow- up (12 months)	Community-based psycho-educational- nursing intervention. Comparator: routine support	6 months	Standard outcome measures: carer affect, depression	USA
16	Hepburn <i>et al.</i> (2001)	Families (117). Study group (72); wait list control (45)	Dementia (mild-severe)	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (5 months)	Care-giver role training (Minnesota Family Workshop)	2-hour sessions for 7 weeks	Standard outcome measures: depression, burden, problem behaviours	USA
21	Bland and Harrison (2000)	Carers (15)	Bipolar disorder	Quantitative. No control. Pre-/post tests. Follow-up (3 months)	Psycho-educational programme	Not clear	Standard outcome measures: knowledge; distress; social support; coping; atribution of cause of symptoms. Programme evaluation	Australia

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
22	Hugen (1993)	Family members (22)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. No control group. Pre- /post-tests	Educational workshop	One day	Standard outcome measures: knowledge; attitudinal change.	USA
							Relapse rates.	
							Satisfaction with workshop	
23	Honig (1997)	Patient-carer pains: 52. Study group (29) pairs; wait list/control group (23) pairs	Bipolar disorder	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests	Multi-family psycho- educational intervention	6 2-hour sessions	Standard outcome measures: EE levels. Programme evaluation questionnaire	Netherland s
48	Ostwald <i>et al.</i> (1999)	Families (117); study group (72); wait list control (45)	Dementia (mild to severe)	Quantitative. Control group Pre- /post-tests. Follow up (5 months)	Psycho- educational family group intervention (Minnesota Family Workshop)	2 hours sessions for 7 weeks	Standard outcome measures: depression, burden, problem behaviours	USA
54	Mannion <i>et al.</i> (1994)	Carers (19)	Serious mental illness	Quantitative. No control. Pre-/post- tests. Follow-up (12 months)	Group psychoeducational approach for spouses.	2-hour meetings over 10 weeks	Standard outcome measures: knowledge; personal distress; attitudes; coping	USA

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
55	Hosaka and Sugiyama (1999)	Carers (20).	Dementia	Quantitative. No control. Pre-/post- tests	Structured intervention group	5 weekly sessions of 90 minutes	Standard outcome measures: psychological and physical health. Blood samples	Japan
56	Gallagher- Thompson and DeVries (1994)	Carers (48)	Alxheimer's disease or related dementia	Quantitative. Part of a larger study. Pre-/post-tests; follow-up (18 months)	Anger management class (one component of psychoeducational programme)	2 hours for 8 weeks + 2 booster sessions	Standard outcome measures: carer stress, burden, negative effect	USA
58	McFarland and Sanders (2000)	Carers (11)	Alzheimer's disease	Qualitative. No control	Eductional support groups for male carers.	One weekday evening for 4 weeks	Evaluation of group process and format in relation to accomplishmen t of group objectives	USA
68	Sherrill <i>et al.</i> (1997)	Family members (182); patients (132)	Elderly patients with recurrent major depression	Quantitative. No control. Pre-/post- measures (for patients only)	Family psychoeducational workshop	One day	Evaluation of content and quality of workshop	USA
69	Zhang <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Carers (1048). Study group (682); control group (366)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (2 years)	Group psychoeducational programme	10 sessions in year 1; 4 in year 2	Standard outcome measures: burden, mental and physical health status, knowledge of caring	China

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
70	Cummings <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Carers (13)	Early stage Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. No control group. Pre-/post- measures	Psychoeducational support group	8 weekly sessions of 90 minutes	Standard outcome measures: stress, adaptive functioning; competency and self-confidence; beliefs about caring role; coping behaviours	USA
79	Cummings (1996)	Carer case examples (4)	Early stage Alzheimer's disease	Not given (but see study no 70 above)	Psychoeducational support group	Eight weekly sessions of 90 minutes	Not given (but see study no 70 above)	USA
87	Woods <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Carers (104) ANS (55); CPN/CMHT (49); Admiral Nurses and CPNs; Team leaders	Dementia	Mixed. No control. Pre- /post-tests (at 8 months)	Admiral Nurse Service (ANS). Comparator: CPN/Community Teams for Mental Health for Older People	8 months	Standard outcome measures: quality of relationship; strain and distress; behavioural problems; need. Service questionnaire: frequency and satisfaction	UK
104	Solomon and Draine (1995)	Family members (225). Individual consultation (66); group family workshop (67); waiting list control group (92)	Schizophrenia or major affective disorder	Quantitative. Random assignment to study conditions or control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (6 months)	Individual Family Consultation. Comparator: Group Family Workshop	3 months	Standard outcome measures: burden; patient's level of functioning; social support, self-efficacy; satisfaction with coping	USA

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
105	North <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Relatives/patient s (80). Family workshops (56); multiple family groups (24)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. No control. Pre- /post-tests	Multifamily Psychoeducational Programme	Family workshops: 4 one-day events, over 2 years. Family groups: 90- minute meetings twice monthly in first year; once every 3 months in second year	Standard outcome measures: ability to manage; knowledge; disruptions to family life. Hospital admissions/days. Number of days lost from work. Satisfaction questionnaire	USA
106	Solomon <i>et al.</i> (1997)	Family members (225). Individual consultation (66); group family workshop (67); wait list control (92)	Schizophrenia or major affective disorder	Quantitative. Random assignment to study conditions or control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (6 months)	Individual Family Consultation. Comparator: Group Family Workshop	3 months	Standard outcome measures: burden; patient's level of functioning; social support, self-efficacy; satisfaction with coping	USA
107	Posner <i>et al.</i> (1992)	Family members (55). Study group (28); wait list/control (27)	Schizophrenia (patients 40 years of age or younger)	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (6 months)	Family psychoeducational support group	8 weekly sessions of 90 minutes	Standard outcome measures: knowledge of schizophrenia; family satisfaction; negative feelings for patient; coping behaviours; psychological distress. Consumer satisfaction with health care services	USA

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
141	Haupt <i>et al.</i> (2000)	Patient–carer pairs (14).	Dementia	Quantitative. No control. Pre- /post-tests	Psychoeducational group intervention	12 weekly meetings of 90 minutes	Standard outcome measures: problem behaviours; carer burden	Germany
148	Brodaty <i>et al.</i> (1994)	Carers (81). Completers group (33); Non- /partial completers (22); control group (26). Co- ordinators = 21	Dementia	Mixed. Control. Pre-/post-tests	Group education programme	18 hours over 4 months	Standard outcome measures: carer burden; psychological stress; satisfaction with life; well-being; knowledge	Australia
174	Shimodera <i>et al.</i> (2000)	Pts (87); high-EE (38); low-EE (49). Close family members (111). SES + SFT group (13) pts/families. SES group (17 pts/families)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. High-EE families randomly allocated to SES or SES+SFT. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (9 months	Short education sessions (SES) in high-EE households. Comparator: short education sessions + single-family treatment in high-EE households	Once every 2 weeks for 9 months	Standard outcome measures: EE. Risk of relapse	Japan

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
40	Barrowclough <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (1999)	Patient-carer pairs (77 pairs). Study group (38); control group (39)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. Randomised controlled pragmatic trial. Pre-/post-tests	Needs-based cognitive– behavioural family intervention	24 weeks	Standard outcome measures: cardinal needs; psychological distress; depression; social behaviour	UK
60	Mitrani and Czaja (2000)	Carers (224), assigned to one of two study conditions or control group	Dementia	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial	Family-based therapy (SET). Comparator: SET + computer integrated telepone system	12 months	Family interactional patterns	USA
92	Weinberg and Huxley (2000)	Carers (62). FSWs (15); co- professionals (15)	Schizophrenia	Mixed. No control. Post-test only	FSWs	Varied	Standard outcome measures: quality of life; burden. Diary study of activities undertaken by FSWs. Co- professionals' evaluation of/satisfaction with FSWs	UK
99	McCreadie <i>et al.</i> (1991)	Carers (31)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. No control. Pre-/post tests. Follow-up (18 months)	Treatment package (educational seminars; relatives' groups; family meetings)	Varied	Standard outcome measures: EE. Relapse rates	UK
101	Leff <i>et al.</i> (1990)	Relatives (23 families). Family therapy + education (12). Relatives group + education (11)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. No control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (2 years)	Family therapy in the home + education. Comparator: relatives group + education	Family therapy: fortnightly, for 9 months	Standard outcome measures: EE; knowledge. Time budgets. Relapse rates	UK

Table 8 Family interventions (N = 20)

Table 8 Family interventions (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
103	Falloon and Pederson (1985)	Patients (36); parents (56). Family management group (18). Individual management group=18	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. No control group. Testing at baseline and pre- determined intervals over 2 years	Family management of schizophrenia. Comparator: individual management	24 months	Standard outcome measures: psychopathology, social adjustment, family distress and burden; family coping functions	UK
108	Xiong <i>et al.</i> (1994)	Families (63). Study group (34); control group (29)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (18 months)	Family-based intervention	1–2 years	Standard outcome measures: family burden. Number and duration of hospitalisations	China
109	Leff <i>et al.</i> (1989)	Relatives (23 families). Family therapy + education (12). Relatives group + education (11)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. No control group. Pre-/post-tests	Family therapy in the home+ education. Comparator: relatives group + education	Family therapy: fortnightly, for 9 months	Standard outcome measures: EE; knowledge. Time budgets. Relapse rates	UK
110	MacCarthy <i>et al.</i> (1989)	Patients/relatives (26 families). Study group (9); control group (17)	Severe mental illness	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests	Interactive education sessions at home, followed by monthly relatives group	One year	Standard outcome measures: EE, burden, coping, knowledge	UK
112	Budd and Hughes (1997)	Relatives (20)	Schizophrenia	Qualitative. No control. Post-test only	Clinically based family intervention programme	Average 12 months	Semi-structured interviews: programme evaluation to identify helpful and unhelpful aspects	UK

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
116	Bentley (1990)	Patients (4); carers (4)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. No control. Pre-/post tests. Follow-up (6 weeks)	In-home educational and skills training Programme	Twice weekly sessions for 5 weeks	Standard outcome measures: attitudes, family stress	USA
137	Hughes <i>et al.</i> (1996)	Presents 3 case studies	Serious mental illness	Not given	STEP family intervention	Average 12 months	Subjective ratings by therapists; case notes	UK
165	Razali <i>et al.</i> (2000)	Patients and carers (143). Study (CMFT) group (74); control group (BFT) (69)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests at 6 months. Follow- up (12 months)	Culturally Modified Family Therapy (CMFT). Comparator: Behavioural Family Therapy (BFT)	12 months	Standard outcome measures: family burden; psychosocial functioning; behavioural difficulties. Number of rehospitalisations	Malaysia
172	Marley (1992)	Patients/ families (2)	Mentally ill	Qualitative	Family therapy intervention	Not stated	Effectiveness of intervention	USA
261	Tarrier <i>et al.</i> (1991)	Carers (73); high EE study group (25); high EE control group (29); low EE control group (19)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests	9-month family intervention. Comparator: short educational programme or routine care	9 months	Relapse rate in patients	UK
263	Van Minnen (1997)	Patients (50). Outreach treatment (25); hospital care/control (25)	Serious mental illness	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post tests.	Outreach treatment. Comparator: hospital care	28 weeks	Standard outcome measures: family burden. Hospital admissions	Netherland s

Table 8 Family interventions (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
271	Szmukler <i>et al.</i> (forthcoming)	Carers (77). Study results based on sub- group (61). Study group (30); control group (31)	Psychotic disorder	Quantitative. Exploratory randomised controlled trial. Baseline tests; follow-up (16 months)	Family sessions, followed by relatives' groups	9 months	Standard outcome measures: psychological morbidity; appraisal of caring; coping; social support	UK
274	Cardin <i>et al.</i> (1985)	Patients (36). Family management (18); individual management (18)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests	Family management. Comparator: individual supportive management	24 months	Standard outcome measures: family burden; carer satisfaction	USA
275	Kuipers <i>et al.</i> (1989)	Presents three case studies (but see study no. 110 above)	Severe mental illness	See study no. 110 above	Interactive education sessions at home, followed by a monthly relatives group	One year	Standard outcome measures: EE, burden, coping, knowledge	UK
289	Sellwood <i>et al.</i> (2001)	Patient-carer pairs (77 pairs). Study group (38); control group (39)	Schizophrenia	Quantitative. Follow-up of randomised controlled pragmatic trial (see study no. 40 above). Pre- /post-tests. Follow-up (12 months)	Needs-based cognitive- behavioural family intervention	24 weeks	Standard outcome measures: EE; burden . Longer- term effectiveness of intervention	UK

Table 8 Family interventions (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
3	Gonyea (1989)	Support group leaders (47). Support group members (301)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. No control group. Post-test	Alzheimer's disease support groups	Varied	Questionnaire survey: strengths and weaknesses of support groups	USA
8	Norton <i>et al.</i> (1993)	Carers (99). Study group (40); control/non-AMI members (59)	Schizophrenic and bi-polar disorders	Quantitative. Control (non- members) group. Post-test	AMI self- help/advocacy group	Varied	Standard outcome measures: costs and benefits of AMI membership	USA
11	Hebert <i>et al.</i> (1994)	Carers (41); study group (23); control group (18)	Dementia	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (8 months)	Specially designed support group programme	8 weekly 3-hour sessions	Standard outcome measures: burden; knowledge; problem behaviours; health care utilisation. Satisfaction with programme	Canada
12	Hebert <i>et al.</i> (1995)	Carers (45); study group (24); control group (21)	Dementia	Follow-up of earlier study (see study no 11 above). Survival analysis	Specially designed support group programme	8 wekly 3-hour sessions	Impact of support group of institutionalisation of patient	Canada
13	Cook <i>et al.</i> (1999)	Carers (120); study (86); control (34)	Mental illness	Quantitative. Control group. Post-test	NAMI - affiliated support groups	Varied	Standard outcome measures: parental burden; depression; social support; service utilisation	USA
15	Gage and Kinney (1995)	Carers (79): attendees group (27); non- attendees group (52)	Dementia	Quantitative. Control (non- attendees) group. Post-test	Carer support groups	Varied	Standard outcome measures: hassles appraisals, coping efforts, well-being	USA

 Table 9 Mutual support and social activity groups (N = 18)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
42	Winefield and Harvey (1995)	Carers (36) divided into 3 groups (pilot, treatment and waiting list control)	Chronic schizophrenia	Quantitiative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (8 weeks)	Discussion group	8 weekly meetings	Standard outcome measures: social support; psychologial state; attitudes to the patient. Group evaluation	Australia
44	Molinari <i>et al.</i> (1994)	Carers (136). Support group attendees (96); non-attendees (40)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Control group. Post-test only	Alzheimer's Association open- ended family support groups	Varied	Questionnaire: perceptions of support groups	USA
51	Karlin <i>et al.</i> (1999)	Carers (51) 'nevers' (13); 'formers' (21); 'currents' (17)	Alzheimer's disease	Eight year follow-up of carers participating in earlier (quantitative) study	Alzheimer's disease support group.	Not given	Standard outcome measures: burden; emotional support	USA
65	Haley <i>et al.</i> (1987)	Carers (40). Support group (14). Support/skills group (17); wait list control (9)	Elderly demented patients	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests	Support Group. Comparator: support/skills group	10 sessions of 90 minutes	Standard outcome measures: depression, life satisfaction, social activity. Group evaluation	USA
82	Bouricius <i>et al.</i> (1994)	Carers (114)	Mental illness	Quantitative. No control group. Post-test	AMI family support groups	Varied	Survey: perceptions of collaboration between members and professionals	USA
89	Acton and Miller (1996)	Carers (26)	Dementia	Mixed. No control group. Pre-/post-tests	Theory-based support group	One hour, bi- weekly, for 12 months	Standard outcome measures: basic needs	USA
91	Cuijpers <i>et al.</i> (1996)	Carers (110)	Dementia	Mixed. No control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow=up (6 months)	Support groups	Not given	Standard outcome measures: burden; mental health; social support	Netherland s

Table 9 Mutual support and social activity groups (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
122	Forde and Pearlman (1999)	Not given	Alzheimer's disease or related dementia	Observation and informal evaluation	Breakaway programme	Varied	Impact of programme. Programme satisfaction	USA
123	Haley (1989)	Carers (48)	Elderly demented patients	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (average 29 months)	Support Group. Comparator: support/skills group	10 sessions of 90 minutes	Standard outcome measures: depression, life satisfaction, social activity. Additional questions about death/institutionalisation	USA
161	Carson and Manchershaw (1992)	Carers (10)	Chronic mental illness	Quantitative. No control. Post- test	Relatives Support Group	Monthly sessions of 2 hours	One page questionnaire: usefulness of group	UK
173	Winefield <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Carers (36) divided into 3 groups (pilot, treatment and waiting list control)	Chronic schizophrenia	Quantitiative. Control group. Pre-/post tests. Follow-up (8 weeks)	Discussion group	8 sessions	Standard outcome measures: social support; psychological state; attitudes to the patient. Group evaluation	Australia

 Table 9 Mutual support and social activity groups (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
45	Mittleman <i>et al.</i> (1995)	Carers (206). Study (103); control (103)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Randomised treatment/control trial. Pre-/post- tests. Long-term follow-up (to 8 years)	Comprehensive support programme	6 sessions of counselling, followed by a weekly, continuous support group. Ongoing counselling available.	Standard outcome measures: carer depression; health; social support	USA
46	Mittleman <i>et al.</i> (1993)	Carers (206). Study (103); control (103)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Randomised treatment/control trial. Pre-/post- tests. Long-term follow-up (to 8 years)	Comprehensive support programme	6 sessions of counselling, followed by a weekly, continuous support group. On-going counselling available	Standard outcome measures: carer burden; health; social support. Prevention of nursing home placement	USA
47	Mittleman <i>et al.</i> (1996)	Carers (206). Study (103); control (103)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Randomised treatment/control trial. Pre-/post- tests. Long-term follow-up (to 8 years)	Comprehensive support programme	6 sessions of counselling, followed by a weekly, continuous support group. Ongoing counselling available	Standard outcome measures: carer depression; health; social support. Prevention of nursing home placement	USA
67	Whitlach <i>et al</i> (1991)	Carers (113)	Dementia	Reanalysis of data from earlier study (see study no. 95) using prediction analysis	Individual and family counselling. Comparator: support group	8 sessions	Standard outcome measures: carer stress; burden; managing problem behaviour	USA

Table 10 Counselling (N = 9)

Table 10 Counselling (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
74	Szmukler <i>et al.</i> (1996)	Carers (63). Study group (32); control group (31)	Schizophrenia/ schizoaffective psychosis	Quantitative. Randomised treatment/control trial. Pre-/post- tests. Follow-up (6 months)	Individual family counselling programme	6 weekly one- hour sessions	Standard outcome measures: carer physical and mental health; appraisal of caring; coping	Australia
95	Zarit <i>et al.</i> (1987)	Carers (119). Counselling (36). Support group (44). Waiting list/control (39)	Dementia	Quantitative. Randomised treatment/ control trial. Pre-/post- tests. Follow-up (one year)	Individual and family counselling. Comparator: support groups	8 sessions	Standard outcome measures: carer stress; burden; managing problem behaviour. Evaluation of	USA
115	Sutcliffe and Larner (1988)	Carers (15). Information group (4). Emotional support (6). Control group (5)	Elderly people with dementia	Quantitative. Pre- /post-tests. Follow- up (12 weeks)	Information group. Comparator: Emotional support. (in- home)	6 weekly 45- minutes home visits	intervention Standard outcome measures: carer mood, stress, health; burden, knowledge	UK
207	Ferris <i>et al.</i> (1987)	Carers (41)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. No control. Pre-/post- tests	Enhanced counselling programme	6 months	Standard outcome measures: carer health. Programme evaluation	USA
249	Roberts (1999)	Carers (77); study (38); control (39)	Cognitively impaired	Quantitative. Randomised treatment/control trial pre-/post-test. Follow-up (6 and 12 months)	Individualised problem-solving counselling by nurses	10 sessions	Standard outcome measures: psychosocial adjustment to illness; carer burden; social support; coping; use of health and social services	Canada

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
25	Goodman (1990)	Carers (40). Network-lecture sequence (22); lecture-network sequence (18)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Random assignment. No control group. Pre-/post-tests	Care-Line: model self-help telephone	12 weeks	Standard outcome measures: problem behaviours; burden; mental health; knowledge; satisfaction with supports for caring; social support; family and friend support	USA
26	Brennan (1993)	Carers (96). Study group (47); control group (49)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests	ComputerLink (specialised computer network)	12 months	Standard outcome measures: social isolation, depression, caregiving strain, health status, social well-being, social roles. Service utilisation	USA
38	Coyne (1991)	Carer respondents (104)	Alzheimer's disease and other dementias	Quantitative. No control. Post-tests	Statewide toll- free telephone help-line specialising in AD and related dementias	Varied	Specially developed questionnaire: usage patterns; relationship with patient; health status; access to information about services	USA

Table 11 Telephone and computer-based services (N = 16)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
62	Goodman and Pynoos (1990)	Carers (66). Network component (31); lecture component (35)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Random assignment. No control group. Pre-/post-tests	Care-Line: model self-help telephone	12 weeks	Standard outcome measures: problem behaviours; burden; mental health; knowledge; satisfaction with supports for caring; social support; family and friend support	USA
63	Davis (1998)	Carers (17)	Dementia (mild to severe)	Quantitative. No control. Pre- /post-tests	Telephone-based support and skill training	12 weeks	Standard outcome measures: behavioural problems; problem-solving; social support; depression; life satisfaction	USA
94	Bass <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Carers (96); study group (47); control group (49)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests	ComputerLink (specialised computer network)	12 months	Standard outcome measures: carer strain (physical, emotional, relationship, activity restriction). ComputerLine usage	USA

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
97	Brennan (1993)	Persons living with AIDS (51); study group (25); control group (26). Alzheimer's disease (96); study group (47); control group = 49	AIDS; Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre/post-tests	ComputerLink (specialised computer network)	PwA: 6 months. Alzheimer's disease carers: 12 months	Use patterns	USA
98	Brennan and Smyth (1994)	Carers (47)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests	ComputerLink (specialised computer network)	12 months	Specially developed instrument on attitudes toward ComputerLink. Rates of usage	USA
133	Brennan <i>et al.</i> (1991)	Carers (22). Control group (numbers not stated)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests	ComputerLink (specialised computer network)	Varied	Indicators of use over 7-day period. Content analysis of messages	USA
134	Brennan <i>et al.</i> (1992)	Carers (96). Study group (47); control group (49)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests	ComputerLink (specialised computer network)	Varied	Standard outcome measures: decision-making confidence and skill; isolation. Usage data	USA
136	Skipwith (1994)	Carers (4)	Elderly (diagnosis included cognitive impairment)	Not clear. No control group	Telephone counselling	Tri-weekly, 15- minute phone sessions.	Self-reports: efficacy of short- term telephone counselling	USA

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
152	McClendon <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Carers (96). Study group = 47; control group = 49	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests	ComputerLink (specialised computer network)	12 months	Standard outcome measures: social isolation, depression, caregiving strain,health stuatus, social well-being, social roles. ComputerLink use. Support group use. Attitudes towards Computerlink. Service usage. Monitoring of access to Computerlink	USA
170	White and Dorman (2000)	Messages to mailgroup (532)	Alzheimer's diesease	Content analysis.	Internet Alzheimer Mailgroup	20 days	Content and themes of messages posted on a mailgroup	USA
242	Payton <i>et al.</i> (1995)	Carers (96). Study group (47); control group (49)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests	ComputerLink (specialised computer network)	12 months	Institutionalisatio n rate	USA
284	Strawn and Hester (1998)	Carers (14)	Dementia	Quantitative. No control. Pre- /post-tests. Follow-up (2 weeks)	Telecare (telephone intervention	12 week	Standard outcome measures: burden. Utility of a telephone intervention. Carer satisfaction.	USA

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
288	Brennan <i>et al.</i> (1995)	Carers (96). Study group (47); control group (49)	Alzheimer's Disease	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests	ComputerLink (specialised computer network)	12 months	Standard outcome measures: decision-making confidence and skill; social support; burden; depression; carer contact with services	USA

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
124	Vernooij-Dassen <i>et al.</i> (2000)	Patient–carer pairs (49)	Alzheimer's disease or related dementia	Secondary data analysis of earlier randomised control trial	Support Programme provided by home helps	4 hours/week for 10 months	Standard outcome measures: sense of competence; neuroticism; social support. Number of patient admissions to institutional care	Netherlands
130	Riordan and Bennett (1998)	Patient-carer pairs (38 pairs). Study group=19; control group=19	Dementia	Quantitative. Matched pairs. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (18 months)	Augmented Dementia Support Service	12 months	Standard outcome measures: psychological distress; coping; problems. Quality and satisfaction questionnaire	UK
269	Winter (2000)	Not clear	Dementia	Quantitative. Case study with matched controls	Personal support worker. Comparator: traditional domiciliary services		Carer satisfaction	UK
283	Whitby <i>et al.</i> (199)	Not given	Elderly confused	Quantitative. No control. Post-test only	Support and Stay (SaS) community service	Not clear	Survey: carers' perceptions of ability of continue to care without the SaS service	UK

Table 12 Domiciliary care services (N = 4)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
178	Pynoos and Ohta (1991)	Patient –carer pairs (25 pairs)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. No control. Baseline test. Follow-up (7 months)	In-home interventions	Not given	Standard outcome measures: problems and barriers; home environment	USA
183	Gitlin <i>et al.</i> (2001)	Carers (171). Study (93); control (78)	Dementia	Quantitative. Randomised control led trial. Baseline; Follow- up (3 months)	Home environmental intervention	5 90-minute home visits over 3 months	Standard outcome measures: carer well-being (self- efficacy and upset in managing dementia behaviours)	USA
187	Corcoran and Gitlin (1992)	Case example of one carer	Dementia	Case vignette of one carer	Home-based occupational therapy/environment al intervention	5 90-minute home visits over 3 months	Developing and implementing effective environmental strategies	USA

Table 13 Physical Environment (N = 3)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
138	Logiudice <i>et al.</i> (1999)	Patient-carer pairs (50). Memory clinic (25 pairs); control (25 pairs)	Cognitive impairment: mild to moderate	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-tests. Follow- up (6 and 12 months)	Memory clinic	2 sessions at memory clinic	Standard outcome measures: burden; psychological distress; psychosocial health-related quality of life; problem behaviours; knowledge. Service utilisation; use of carer groups	Australia
190	Moniz-Cook <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Patient-carer pairs (30 pairs); Study (15); control (15). Key workers	Dementia	Mixed. Control. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (18 months)	Early intervention in a memory clinic	6–12 hours, over 4–14 weeks	Standard outcome measures: well- being; psychological distress; depression; anxiety. Service usage	υк

Table 14 Supporting Carers through Memory Clinics (N = 2)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
29	Mohide <i>et al.</i> (1990)	Carer-patient dyads (60 pairs). Study group (30 pairs); control group (30 pairs)	Dementia: moderate-severe	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (12-18 months)	Carergiver Support Programme	6 months	Standard outcome measures: burden; depression; anxiety; quality of life; health; impact of caring	Canada
41	Pritchard and Dewing (2001)	Interviews: clients (5); carers (5); others(23). Questionnaires: numbers not given	Alzheimer's disease	Mixed. No control group. Post-test	SPECAL (Specialized Early Care of Alzheimer's)	Not given	Development of project/services; quality of services/approac h; factors for future development	UK
52	Millan-Calenti <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2000)	Carers (14)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. No control. Pre- /post-tests. Follow-up (12 months)	Support Programme	Not given	Standard outcome measures: physical and mental health; social life; support; burden; anxiety	Spain
119	Chu <i>et al.</i> (2000)	Client-carer pairs (75 pairs). Study group (37 pairs); control group (38 pairs)	Early-stage Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests	Early Home Care Programme	18 months	Standard outcome measures: burden; disturbing behaviours; depression. Records of service use	Canada

Table 15 Multidimensional approaches to caring interventions (N = 15)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
127	Benson <i>et al.</i> (1996)	Families (579); support staff	Mental illness	Mixed. No control. Pre- /follow-up tests (at 6 months)	Massachusetts Family Support Demonstration Project	Varied	Standard outcome measures: service utilisation; satisfaction; family stress; family burden; attitudes toward professionals	USA
169	Carpentier <i>et al.</i> (1992)	Patients and families(37). Study group (15); control group (22)	Schizophrenia (18–30 years)	Mixed. Control group. Post-tests	Programme providing comprehensive support services	One year minimum	Standard outcome measures: burden; psychological distress; behavioural problems; types of professionals seen; number of services received; need for services	Canada
171	Yordi <i>et al.</i> (1997)	Carers (5,254). Study/Model B (MADD expanded services/high resources) (2707). Control/Model A (MADD low resources) (2547)	Dementia	Quantitative. Randomised control trial. Baseline and five further assessments	MADD (Medicare Alzheimer Disease Demonstration). Two case management models: one high resource, and one low resource	36 months	Standard outcome measures: functional status; behavioural problems; hours per week caring; activities undertaken; informal help; formal help; unmet needs	USA

Table 15 Multidimensional approaches to caring interventions (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
176	Fisher and Savin- Baden (2001)	Patients (5); carers/relatives (1); professionals (7)	Schizophrenia or related disorder (16–25 years)	Qualitative. No control. No pre- participation measures. Interviews with all key stakeholder groups	TIME (occupational therapy programme)	6 months	Evaluation of the TIME programme	UK
203	Drummond <i>et al.</i> (1991)	Carers (60). Study group (30); control group (30)	Dementia (moderate- severe)	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests	Caregiver Support Programme (CSP)	6 months	Standard outcome measures: depression; anxiety; quality of life	Canada
208	Fox <i>et al.</i> (2000)	Clients (8095). Study group (4151); control group (usual care) (3944)	Dementia	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Baseline and five further assessments	MADD (Medicare Alzheimer Disease Demonstration). Two case management models: one high resource, and one low resource	36 months	Standard outcome measures: carer burden; depression	USA
238	Newcomer <i>et al.</i> (1999a)	Clients (5307). Study group (2731); control group (usual care) (2576)	Dementia	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Baseline and five further assessments	MADD (Medicare Alzheimer Disease Demonstration). Two case management models: one high resource, and one low resource	36 months	Standard outcome measures: carer burden; depression	USA

Table 15 Multidimensional approaches to caring interventions (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
239	Newbronner <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (1999b)	Clients (8,095). Study group (4151); control group (usual care) (3944)	Dementia	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Baseline and five further assessments	MADD (Medicare Alzheimer Disease Demonstration). Two case management models: one high resource, and one low resource	36 months	Standard outcome measures: carer burden; depression. Medicare claims records	USA
260	Spoor (1988)	Carers of EMI (size N/A)	Elderly mentally ill (EMI)	Option appraisal exercise	Current care. Comparator: low/medium/high frequency service provision	12 months		UK
267	Weinberger <i>et al.</i> (1993b)	Carers (264). Study group (193); control group (71)	Progressive memory disorders	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests	Individualised service plans (designed to enhace compliance)	6 months	Standard outcome measures: health services utilisation and expenditures	USA
268	Wenger <i>et al.</i> (2000)	Patients and carers (50 pairs). Study group (27 pairs); control group (23 pairs)	Dementia	Mixed. Matched controls. Pre- /post-tests	Early intervention, including specialist input by 'Dementia Care Specialist'	15 months	Standard outcome measures: support network; loneliness and isolation; difficulties; satisfactions; managing/coping; psychological distress; anxiety; depression	UK

Table 15 Multidimensional approaches to caring interventions (continued)

Table 16 Miscellaneous (N = 8)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
27	Quayhagen <i>et al.</i> (2000)	Carer-patient dyads (103). Cognitive stimulation group (21); dyadic counselling group (29); dual seminar group (22); early day care group (16); control group (15)	Dementia: mild- moderate	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post-tests	One of four treatment programmes: cognitive stimulation; dyadic counseling; dual supportive seminar; early- stage day care	8 weeks	Standard outcome measures: marital interaction, emotional status, physical health, stress, coping and social support. Programme evaluation questionnaire	USA
28	Cohen <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Carers (7)	Dementia	Mixed. No control group. Pre-/post- tests	Network therapy	Not clear	Standard outcome measures: social support; burden	Canada
163	Simpson (1997)	Carers (20); Community Mental Health Team professionals	Dementia	Mixed. No control. Post-tests	Carer-held record documentation	6 months	Evaluation interviews (questionnaire; verbatim comments): assess carers' satisfaction with system, evaluate use of document by carers and multidisciplinary team members. Assess carers' roles as partners with professionals	UK

Table 16 Miscellaneous (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
166	Perodeau <i>et al.</i> (2001)	Carers (194). Drug users (61). Non-users (133)	Dementia	Secondary data analysis of earlier study. Quantitative. Control group. Post-test only	Psychotropic drug use	Varied	Standard outcome measures: psychotropic drug-use; psychological distress; dysfunctional behaviours; conflicts in interpersonal realtionships; coping strategies; social support; health status	Canada
167	Winslow (1998)	Carer (1); service providers (2)	Alzheimer's disease	Qualitative. Case study approach. Post-test only	Formal community support services	18 months	In-depth interviews; observations: carer's experiences of services	USA
177	Aimonino <i>et al.</i> (2001)	Patients (82). HHS (41). GMW (41). Carers (numbers not given)	Dementia: advanced	Quantitative. No control. Tests at admission and discharge	Home Hospitalisation Service (HHS). Comparator: patients in a general medical ward (GMW)	Varied	Standard outcome measures: stress	Italy
232	Knapp <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Patients (189) DLP (92); control (97)	Severe mental illness	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests. Follow-up (4 years)	Daily Living Programme (DLP) for 45 months. Comparators: DLP (20 months) plus standard care (25 months); standard care (45 months)	Varied	Standard outcome measures: social. Patients' and relatives' satisfaction	UK

Table 16 Miscellaneous (continued)

Study number	Author(s)	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting
250	Rudolph <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Patients (76); carers (32)	Mental retardation	Quantitative. Longitudinal study with hypothetical controls	Behavioural support and crisis response	Varied	Care-provider and case manager satisfaction levels	USA

Appendix 5

Interventions to support carers of patients with mental health problems: summary of findings from the economic literature

Summary of findings from the economic literature

Study number	Author(s)	l ntervention category group	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting (currency)
196	Brodaty (1991)	Education – training	Patient-carer pairs (96 pairs). Immediate carer training (33). 6-month delayed carer training (32). Patient memory retraining/no training for carers (31)	Dementia (mild to moderate	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post- tests. Follow- up (to 3 years)	10-day residential care-giver training programme; 10-day memory retraining programme for patients	10 days	Standard outcome measures: carer stress; neuroticism; satisfaction impact of training on nursing home admission and/or survival to death	Australia hospital PU (\$A, US\$)
200	Creed (1997)	Breaks from caring – ADC	89 inpatients (52 carers); 90 day patients (51 carers)	Acute psychiatric illness	Quantitative. Randomised control trial. Pre-tests; regular follow- up (up to 12 months)	Day hospital vs. routine inpatient care for persons with acute psychiatric illness	Varied	Standard outcome measures: carer distress. Cost - effectiveness	UK hospital (£)
201	Donaldson (1989)	Breaks from caring – mixed respite	EMI patients (105); 35 intervention (24 carers); 70 controls (29 carers)	Elderly mentally infirm (EMI)	Quantitative. Case series with matched controls. Pre- /post-tests	Family support unit (co-ordinated and flexible community care)	Varied	Costs, benefits and effects of providing care for carers	UK (Scotland) community (£)
203	Drummond (1991)	Multidimensiona I	Carers (60). Study group (30); control group (30)	Dementia (moderate – severe)	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre-/post-tests	Caregiver Support Programme (CSP)	6 months	Standard outcome measures: depression; anxiety; quality of life	Canada community (CAN\$)

Summary of findings from the economic literature (continued)
--

Study number	Author(s)	Intervention category group	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting (currency)
208	Fox (2000)	Multidimension al	Clients (8095) Study group (4151); control group (usual care) (3944)	Dementia	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Baseline and five further assessments	MADD (Medicare Alzheimer Disease Demonstration). Two case management models: one high resource, and one low resource	36 months	Standard outcome measures; carer burden; depression	US community (US\$)
208	Fox (2000)	Multidimension al	Clients (8095) Study group (4151); control group (usual care) (3944)	Dementia	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Baseline and five further assessments	MADD (Medicare Alzheimer Disease Demonstration). Two case management models: one high resource, and one low resource	36 months	Standard outcome measures; carer burden; depression	US community (US\$)
232	Knapp (1998)	Miscellaneous	Patients (189). DLP (92); control (97)	Sever mental illness	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre- /post-tests. Follow-up (4 years)	Daily Living Programme (DLP) for 45 months. Comparators: DLP (20 months) plus standard care (25 months); standard care (45 months)	Varied	Standard outcome measures: social. Patients' and relatives' satisfaction	UK community (£)
242	Payton (1995)	Technology	Carers (96). Study group (47); control group (49)	Alzheimer's disease	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre- /post-tests	ComputerLink (specialised computer network)	12 months	Institutionalisatio n rate	US community (US\$)

Summary of findings from the economic literature (continued)
--

Study number	Author(s)	Intervention category group	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting (currency)
250	Rudolph (1998)	Miscellaneous	Patients (76). Carers (32)	Mental retardation	Quantitative. Longitudinal study with hypothetical controls	Behavioural support and crisis response	Varied	Care provider and case manager satisfaction levels	US community (US\$)
260	Spoor (1988)	Multidimension al	Carers of EMI (size N/A)	Elderly mentally ill (EMI)	Option appraisal exercise	Current care. Comparator: low/medium/high frequency service provision	12 months		UK domiciliary (£)
261	Tarrier (1991)	Family	Carers (73); High EE study group (25); High EE control group (29); Low EE control group (19)	Schizophreni a	Quantitative. Control group. Pre-/post- tests	Nine month family intervention. Comparator: short educational programme or routine care	9 months	Relapse rate in patients	UK community (£)
263	Van Minnen (1997)	Family	Patients (50); Outreach treatment (25); Hospital care/control (25)	Serious mental illness	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre- /post-tests	Outreach treatment. Comparator: hospital care	28 weeks	Standard outcome measures: family burden. Hospital admissions	Netherlands mixed (US\$)

Study number	Author(s)	Intervention category group	Sample	Care recipient group	Research methods	Intervention	Duration of intervention	Outcomes	Setting (currency)
268	Wenger (2000)	Multidimensiona I	Patients and carers (50 pairs). Study group (27 pairs); control group (23 pairs)	Dementia	Mixed. Matched controls. Pre- /post-tests	Early intervention, including specialist input by 'Dementia Care Specialist'	15 months	Standard outcome measures: support network; loneliness and isolation; difficulties; satisfactions; managing/copin g; psychological distress; anxiety; depression	UK community (£)
274	Cardin (1985)	Family	Patients (36). Family management (18).Individual management (18)	Schizophreni a	Quantitative. Randomised controlled trial. Pre- /post-tests	Family management. Comparator: individual supportive management	24 months	Standard outcome measures: family burden; carer satisfaction	US community (US\$)

This document was published by the National Coordinating Centre for the Service Delivery and Organisation (NCCSDO) research programme, managed by the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine.

The management of the Service Delivery and Organisation (SDO) programme has now transferred to the National Institute for Health Research Evaluations, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre (NETSCC) based at the University of Southampton. Prior to April 2009, NETSCC had no involvement in the commissioning or production of this document and therefore we may not be able to comment on the background or technical detail of this document. Should you have any queries please contact sdo@southampton.ac.uk.